Automatic Understanding of Unwritten Languages

A thesis presented by

Oliver Adams

to School of Computing and Information Systems in total fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> The University of Melbourne Melbourne, Australia December 2017

Declaration

This is to certify that:

- (i) the thesis comprises only my original work towards the PhD except where indicated in the Citations to Previously Published Work;
- (ii) due acknowledgement has been made in the text to all other material used;
- (iii) the thesis is fewer than 100,000 words in length, exclusive of tables, maps, bibliographies and appendices.

Signed:

Date: _____

O2017 - Oliver Adams

All rights reserved.

Thesis advisor(s) Steven Bird Trevor Cohn Graham Neubig

Automatic Understanding of Unwritten Languages

Abstract

Many of the world's languages are falling out of use without a written record and minimal linguistic documentation. Language documentation is a slow process and there are an insufficient number of linguists working to ensure the world's languages are documented before they die out. This thesis addresses automatic understanding of unwritten languages in order to perform tasks such as phonemic transcription and bilingual lexicon induction. The automation of such tasks promises to improve the leverage of field linguists and ultimately speed up the language documentation process.

Modelling endangered languages is challenging due to the nature of the available data, which is typically not written text but limited quantities of recorded speech. Manually annotated information in the form of lexicons and grammars is typically also limited. Since the languages are spoken, the most efficient way of sourcing data is to collect speech in the language. Most speakers of endangered languages are bilingual or multilingual, so acquiring spoken translations works to the strength of the speakers. Key approaches described in this thesis make use of bilingual data, in particular translated speech, which consists of segments of endangered language speech paired with translations in a larger language. Such data is important for relating the source language speech with a larger language. Additionally, the application of monolingual phoneme transcription is also explored, since it has direct applicability in more traditional phonemic transcription workflows. The overarching question is this: what can be automatically learnt about the languages with the data we have available, and how can this help automate language documentation?

We first consider translation modelling of accurate phoneme transcriptions. This assumption allows us to investigate the feasibility of phoneme-word translation and the effectiveness of inferring bilingual lexical items from such data in isolation from confounding acoustic factors. A second investigation explores how bilingual lexicons can be used to improve language models, which are crucial components of speech recognition and machine translation systems. In a third set of experiments we remove the assumption of accurate transcriptions and investigate operating in the face of acoustic uncertainty. Experiments in this space demonstrate that translated speech can improve automatic phoneme transcription even without a prior translation model. Finally, we make a step towards further generalisability, exploring acoustic modelling in resource-scarce environments without a lexicon or language model. In particular, we assess the use of automatic phoneme and tone transcription on Yongning Na, a threatened tonal language spoken in south-west China. Beyond quantitative investigation, we report on the use of this method in linguistic documentation of Na. Its effectiveness has led to its incorporation into the language documentation workflow for Na.

Citations to Previously Published Work

The work in this thesis is entirely original except where explicitly stated otherwise. Large portions of Chapter 3 have appeared in the following paper:

Oliver Adams, Graham Neubig, Trevor Cohn, Steven Bird (2015) Inducing bilingual lexicons from small quantities of sentence-aligned phonemic transcriptions, in *Proceedings of the 12th International Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies (IWSLT)*, Da Nang, Vietnam. pp. 248–255.

Large portions of Chapter 4 have appeared in the following paper:

Oliver Adams, Adam Makarucha, Graham Neubig, Steven Bird, Trevor Cohn (2017) Cross-lingual word embeddings for low-resource language modeling, in *Proceedings of the 15th Conference of the European Chap*ter of the Association for Computational Linguistics (EACL), Valencia, Spain.

Large portions of Chapter 5 have appeared in the following papers:

Oliver Adams, Graham Neubig, Trevor Cohn, Steven Bird (2016) Learning a translation model from word lattices, in 17th Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (INTERSPEECH 2016), San Francisco, California, USA.

Oliver Adams, Graham Neubig, Trevor Cohn, Steven Bird, Quoc Do Truong, Satoshi Nakamura (2016) Learning a lexicon and translation model from phoneme lattices, in *Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, Austin, Texas, USA. pp. 2377–2382.

Large portions of Chapter 6 have appeared in the following papers:

Oliver Adams, Trevor Cohn, Graham Neubig, Alexis Michaud (2017) Phonemic transcription of low-resource tonal languages, in *Proceedings of* the Australasian Language Technology Association Workshop 2017 (ALTA), Brisbane, Australia. pp. 53–60.

Oliver Adams, Trevor Cohn, Graham Neubig, Hilaria Cruz, Steven Bird, Alexis Michaud (2018) Evaluating phonemic transcription of low-resource tonal languages for language documentation in *Proceedings of LREC* 2018: 11th edition of the Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, Miyazaki, Japan. (To appear).

Contents

	Title	e Page		i					
	Abs	tractiii							
	Cita	tions to	ons to Previously Published Work						
	Tabl	le of Co	ontents	vii					
	List	of Figu	Ires	х					
	List	of Tab		xii					
	Ack	nowledg	gements	ciii					
1	Intr	oducti	ion	1					
	ation	2							
		1.1.1	Language Extinction and Documentation	2					
		1.1.2	The Changing Nature of Language Documentation	3					
		1.1.3	A Different Kind of Data	5					
		1.1.4	Why Pursue Automatic Understanding of Unwritten Languages?	8					
	1.2	Aim a	nd Scope	10					
		1.2.1	Research Questions	11					
	1.3	Overv	iew of the Contributions	12					
2	Bac	kgrou	ad	15					
	2.1	Data .	Acquisition	16					
	2.2	Model	lling Translation	17					
		2.2.1	Traditional Word Alignment	18					
		2.2.2	What is the Right Granularity for Translation Units?	19					
		2.2.3	Data Sparsity in Machine Translation	23					
		2.2.4	Unsupervised Word Segmentation	25					
		2.2.5	Bilingual Lexicon Induction	26					
		2.2.6	Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings	28					
		2.2.7	Language Modelling	30					
	2.3	Auton	natic Speech Recognition	33					
		2.3.1	Traditional Speech Recognition	33					
		2.3.2	End-to-End Speech Recognition	35					
		2.3.3	Unsupervised Speech Modelling	36					

		2.3.4 Low-Resource and Multilingual Speech Recognition	37
		2.3.5 Tonal Speech Recognition	40
	2.4	Machine Translation Meets Speech Recognition	41
		2.4.1 Speech-to-Speech Translation	41
		2.4.2 Computer-Aided Translation	42
		2.4.3 Translation Modelling of Speech	43
3	Tra	nslation Modelling of Phonemes	46
	3.1	Introduction	46
	3.2	Phoneme-Based Machine Translation	47
		3.2.1 Alignment Approaches	49
		3.2.2 Experimental Setup	52
		3.2.3 Results and Discussion	53
	3.3	Phoneme-Based Bilingual Lexicon Induction	55
		3.3.1 Translation Models	57
		3.3.2 Experimental Setup	59
		3.3.3 Quantitative Evaluation	62
		3.3.4 Qualitative Evaluation	67
	3.4	Discussion	69
		3.4.1 Evaluation Issues	70
		3.4.2 Reconsidering the Value of Bilingual Lexicon Induction	71
1	Cro	ss Lingual Low Resource Language Modelling	73
4	Cro	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling	73
4	Cro 4.1	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling	73 73 76
4	Cro 4.1 4.2	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction	73 73 76 77
4	Cro 4.1 4.2	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Introduction Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results	73 73 76 77
4	Cro 4.1 4.2	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Introduction Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Results Introduction	73 73 76 77 78
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Introduction Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Pre-training Language Models Introduction	73 73 76 77 78 79
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Introduction Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Pre-training Language Models Introduction 4.3.1 Experimental Setup	73 73 76 77 78 79 80
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Introduction Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Pre-training Language Models Introduction 4.3.1 Experimental Setup 4.3.2 English Results	73 73 76 77 78 79 80 81
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Introduction Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Pre-training Language Models Introduction 4.3.1 Experimental Setup 4.3.2 English Results 4.3.3 Other Target Languages	73 73 76 77 78 79 80 81 83
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Pre-training Language Models 4.3.1 Experimental Setup 4.3.2 English Results 4.3.3 Other Target Languages First Steps in an Under-Resourced Language	73 73 76 77 78 79 80 81 83 84
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Pre-training Language Models 4.3.1 Experimental Setup 4.3.2 English Results 4.3.3 Other Target Languages First Steps in an Under-Resourced Language 4.4.1 Experimental Setup	73 73 76 77 78 79 80 81 83 84 85
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Introduction Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Pre-training Language Models Introduction 4.3.1 Experimental Setup 4.3.2 English Results 4.3.3 Other Target Languages First Steps in an Under-Resourced Language Introduction 4.4.1 Experimental Setup	73 73 76 77 78 79 80 81 83 84 85 87
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Pre-training Language Models 4.3.1 Experimental Setup 4.3.2 English Results 4.3.3 Other Target Languages First Steps in an Under-Resourced Language 4.4.1 Experimental Setup 4.4.2 Results and Discussion	73 73 76 77 78 79 80 81 83 84 83 84 85 87 90
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings 4.2.1 Experimental Setup 4.2.2 Results Pre-training Language Models 4.3.1 Experimental Setup 4.3.2 English Results 4.3.3 Other Target Languages First Steps in an Under-Resourced Language Introduction 4.4.1 Experimental Setup 4.4.2 Results and Discussion 4.5.1 Future Work on Na Language Modelling	73 73 76 77 78 79 80 81 83 84 85 87 90 91
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language ModellingIntroductionResilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings4.2.1Experimental Setup4.2.2ResultsPre-training Language Models4.3.1Experimental Setup4.3.2English Results4.3.3Other Target LanguagesFirst Steps in an Under-Resourced Language4.4.1Experimental Setup4.4.2Results and Discussion4.5.1Future Work on Na Language Modelling4.5.2Beyond Na	73 73 76 77 80 81 83 84 85 87 90 91 92
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Har	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.2.2 Results Introduction 4.3.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.3.2 English Results Introduction 4.3.3 Other Target Languages Introduction 4.4.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.4.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.4.2 Results and Discussion Introduction 4.5.1 Future Work on Na Language Modelling Introduction 4.5.2 Beyond Na Introduction Introduction A.5.2 Beyond Na Introduction Introduction A.5.2 Beyond Na Introduction Introduction	73 73 76 77 78 79 80 81 83 84 85 87 90 91 92 94
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Har 5.1	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.2.2 Results Introduction 4.2.3 Results Introduction 4.3.4 English Results Introduction 4.3.5 Other Target Languages Introduction 4.4.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.4.2 Results and Discussion Introduction 4.5.1 Future Work on Na Language Modelling Introduction 4.5.2 Beyond Na Introduction	73 73 76 77 80 81 83 84 85 87 90 91 92 94 94
4	Cro 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Har 5.1 5.2	ss-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling Introduction Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings Introduction 4.2.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.2.2 Results Introduction 4.3.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.3.2 English Results Introduction 4.3.3 Other Target Languages Introduction 4.4.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.4.1 Experimental Setup Introduction 4.5.1 Future Work on Na Language Modelling Introduction 4.5.2 Beyond Na Introduction Phrase Alignment Using Phoneme Classes Introduction Introduction	73 73 76 77 80 81 83 84 85 87 90 91 92 92 94 94 97

		5.2.2	Experimental Setup	101				
		5.2.3	Results	103				
		5.2.4	Discussion	104				
		5.2.5	Improved Error Simulation and Phoneme Confusion Modelling	104				
		5.2.6	Results and Discussion	107				
	5.3	Learni	ng a Translation Model from Word Lattices	109				
		5.3.1	Model Description	113				
		5.3.2	Learning Translation Model Parameters	116				
		5.3.3	Variations on Parameter Formulation	117				
		5.3.4	Experimental Evaluation	118				
		5.3.5	Implications	124				
	5.4	5.4 Learning a Lexicon and Translation Model from Phoneme Lattices						
		5.4.1	Model Description	125				
		5.4.2	Learning the Lexicon and Translation Model	129				
		5.4.3	Experimental Evaluation	133				
	5.5	Discus	sion \ldots	139				
6	Aco	ustic N	Indelling for Low-Resource Languages	1/1				
U	6 1	Langu	ages and Data	1/1				
	0.1	611	Vongning Na (Mosuo Narua)	1/15				
		612	Eastern Chatino	146				
	6.2	Model		147				
	0.2	6 2 1	Connectionist Temporal Classification	148				
	63	Experi	mental Setup	150				
	6.0	Quant	itative Results	153				
	6.5	Qualit	ative Discussion	157				
	6.6	Summ	arv	161				
				-				
7	Con	clusior	1	163				
	7.1	Main I	Findings	164				
	7.2	Limita	tions and Future Work	168				
		7.2.1	Translation Modelling of Phonemes	168				
		7.2.2	Language Modelling	168				
		7.2.3	Translation Modelling of Speech	169				
		7.2.4	Acoustic Modelling	170				
	7.3	Makin	g the Most of What is Available	173				
		7.3.1	An Evaluation Suite for Methods on Bilingual Low-Resource					
			Spoken Data	176				
	7.4	Toward	ds a Research Program in Computational Documentary Linguistic	s177				

List of Figures

2.1	Word alignments that motivate multi-word translation units	20
3.1	Correct alignments for word–word and phoneme–word alignment models	50
3.2	An ITG structure learnt by PIALIGN	51
3.3	BLEU scores of word–word and phoneme–word MT systems	53
3.4	The generative model of MODEL 3P	58
3.5	Alignments of UWS GIZA++	59
3.6	Comparison of lexicon induction approaches (1)	63
3.7	Comparison of lexicon induction approaches (2)	63
3.8	Comparison of PIALIGN lexicon precisions for different amounts of data	64
3.9	Comparison of monolingual lexicon segmentation precision	65
3.10	The phonemes of <i>vielen dank</i> as aligned to <i>thank you</i> by MODEL $3P$.	68
4.1	Performance of embeddings on the WordSim353 task	78
4.2	Perplexity of language models on the English validation set	80
4.3	Perplexity of pre-trained English language models	82
4.4	Perplexity of a pre-trained English language model as lexicon size in-	
	creases	89
5.1	An utterance in German, a transcription hypothesis, and an English	
	translation	96
5.2	A preliminary error resolution method	100
5.3	Components of the WFST-based method for learning a translation model	112
5.4	A speech recognition word lattice	114
5.5	WFST translation model template	114
5.6	Alignment lattice	115
5.7	Speech recognition results on the CALLHOME corpus	121
5.8	Speech recognition results on the Fisher corpus	122
5.9	Components of the WFST-based model for lexicon induction and trans-	
	lation model learning	127
5.10	WFST translation model template	130
5.11	Geometric word length model	131

5.12	Shifted geometric word length model	133
5.13	Histogram of the word length models	134
5.14	Japanese phoneme error rates with a Shifted geometric spelling model	136
5.15	English phoneme error rates with a Poisson spelling model	136
5.16	Japanese phoneme error rates with a Poisson spelling model	137
6.1	Sentence from the Na corpus	145
6.2	Neural network architecture with CTC loss	149
6.3	Three options for target label sequences	150
6.4	Phoneme error rate and tone error rate on Na and Chatino speech	154
6.5	Tone confusion matrix	156
7.1	Idealized framework for inference about endangered languages	174

List of Tables

3.1	Accuracy of segmentation of entries in learnt bilingual lexicons	66
3.2	Most common units found by unsupervised word segmentation	67
4.1	Perplexity of language models that use cross-lingual English information	83
4.2	Example sentence from the Na corpus	85
4.3	Type and token counts from the Na corpus	86
4.4	Perplexity of language models on the Na data	87
5.1	Taxonomical groupings of phoneme classes	98
5.2	Representing phoneme sequences with phoneme classes	98
5.3	German–English class-based machine translation results	99
5.4	Phoneme error rates of a preliminary error resolution method	103
5.5	Empirical groupings of phoneme classes using agglomerative clustering	106
5.6	Phoneme error rates of the preliminary error resolution method	107
5.7	The proportions of different types of errors in the German ASR data.	108
5.8	Consistency of transcription errors with phoneme class groupings	109
5.9	Tuning on CALLHOME data	119
5.10	Word error rates on the Fisher and CALLHOME test sets	120
5.11	Examples of transcription on the Fisher test set	123
5.12	Phoneme error rates on Japanese–English BTEC speech	135
5.13	Examples of English transcriptions of BTEC speech	138
6.1	Phoneme error rate on the Na validation set	152
6.2	Erroneous transcriptions of Na speech	157

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I thank my parents David and Joan, who have given me a very fortunate life. You have always believed and trusted in me, and given me so much support beyond what can be expected on the basis solely of kinship. To that I add my sister Sophie, who has always been a great source of intellectual stimulation in the form of deep and meaningful conversations.

I thank my supervisors: Steven Bird for giving me the opportunity to do the PhD and for introducing me to this weird and wonderful world of research; Trevor Cohn for subsequently coming along, dumping a whole lot of ideas in my head and sharing a few laughs with me while at it; and Graham Neubig for being so willing to spend time communicating with and helping me via email for years despite no obligation to, and for giving me the chance to visit NAIST for a few months, which was the most productive period of my life thus far.

Alexis Michaud has been a fantastic collaborator, so helpful and enthusiastic in our endeavours. It is his contagious enthusiasm that has been a source of much of my own drive in the past year. May our long-winded email exchanges continue into the future!

I've been lucky enough to have interned with people who I really clicked with. Shourya Roy, my mentor at Xerox Research Center India, was very supportive while at the same time giving me much freedom in the research project. The other interns at XRCI were great company and were so willing to help me in times of need: Archana Sahu, Dhawal Joharapurkar, Raksha Sharma, Nirmal Jith, and Prajna Upadhyay to name a few.

At IBM Research Australia I had the great fortune of being mentored by Adam Makarucha, who is an all-round good bloke. Aside from making me feel so welcome and being so supportive, our interesting and wide-ranging lunchtime chats with another great guy, George Yiapanis, were the perfect way to break up the many productive days I had during the internship.

At NAIST, under Neubig-sensei's wing, I met many good people and I reflect on those days fondly. While my stay was largely an exercise in research monasticism, interactions with a number of key players made it all the better. The senior figures, Nakamura-sensei, Sakti-sensei and Matsuda-san, made me feel so welcome, while the student crew were great company: Michael Heck, Nunu Lubis, Philip Arthur, Do Truong, Patrick Lumbantobing, Masahiro Mizukami, Makoto Morishita, Matthias Sperber (briefly!) and many more.

During my time at Melbourne Uni I've been fortunate to meet and get to know so many great people: Florian Hanke, who shared a cubicle with me in the first couple years and made for a solid coffee buddy. Florian taught me much and helped me substantially in the Aikuma programming endeavour while also facilitating such adventures as: the failed summitting of Mt. Kosciuszko and a weekend in Lisbon; Long Duong who, aside from being an inspiration in the academic arena, made for enjoyable tennis sessions, impressing me with rapidly gained proficiency in the game; Ned Letcher for all the common interests and good conversation; Nitika Marthur for probing, thoughtful conversation, and so many more who shaped me and my experience in 8.19: Meladel Mistica, Marco Lui, Richard Fothergill, Bahar Salehi, Jey Han Lau (also for tennis and valuable ideas at IBM), Li Wang, Afshin Rahimi, Doris Hoogeveen, Miji Choi, Katya Vylomova, Fei Liu, Yitong Li, Aili Shen, Mohammad Oloomi and so many more who I could say good things about but I'll save the trees. More senior people include Yvette Graham, Paul Cook, Joel Nothman, Julian Brooke, Meng Fang, and now Bahar again! Tim Baldwin is the leader of the NLP group and a role model I hold in very high esteem. Among other things I must thank him for, I realise as I write this that he has had an instrumental role in gathering together the above people that have made for such a hospitable research group.

There is a seemlingly endless list of people from elsewhere who have helped me along the way. These include Marco Vetter, the annotator of lexical entries in Chapter 3; Antonios Anastasopoulos, who drove down from Indiana to Pittsburgh for an impromptu collaboration; people from CMU such as Florian Metze and Alan Black for imparting their wisdom during my short stay there; and Felix Stahlberg, who planted the idea of phoneme recognition of Yongning Na in my head and pointed me in the direction of Alexis Michaud. Thank you everybody!

Finally, I thank the thesis examiners who took the time to thoroughly read this thesis. Their thoughtful and clear advice has definitely helped to improve the document.

Chapter 1

Introduction

Rapid extinction of the world's underdocumented, unwritten languages motivates the incorporation of automation into language documentation work. Two central procedures in the language documentation process are phonemic transcription and the construction of bilingual lexicons. This thesis addresses *automatic understanding* of endangered language speech, which has the potential to provide linguists with greater leverage in performing these tasks. Beyond its promise in helping to understand and preserve the world's linguistic heritage, the advancement of computational methods in this space has the potential to improve language technology for low-resource languages that are not threatened or endangered, but instead have many speakers who would stand to benefit from such technology.

This chapter discusses the phenomenon of language extinction and language shift, what people are doing about it, and how technology is changing the documentation process and the nature of the data being collected. The aim and scope of the thesis is then presented, along with a summary of contributions.

1.1 Motivation

1.1.1 Language Extinction and Documentation

The majority of the world's languages are losing speakers and it is predicted that between 50 and 90 per cent of these languages will become extinct in the next 100 years (Krauss 1992; Miyaoka *et al.* 2007; Austin and Sallabank 2011). About half of the world's approximately 7,000 languages have no orthography and thus no written record (Lewis *et al.* 2015). Unless these languages are documented before they fall out of use, much linguistic, cultural and anthropological information will be lost forever.

Language extinction motivates field linguists to engage in the documentation of languages so that a record of the language may be kept for posterity. Crowley (2007) argues that since the field of linguistics seeks to answer questions about the nature of human languages in order to establish what phenomena can and cannot occur, documentation of these languages is very important. This cannot be done by investigating only large languages, as that would be neglecting consideration of the rich linguistic diversity of human language. However, with such limited documentation of most of the world's smaller languages, it is often impossible to conclusively answer important questions about how languages work in general.

Moving beyond the study of linguistics, language mediates knowledge about groups of humans, their history and the importance of certain concepts in different cultures. Language is the means with which almost all knowledge is captured and shared. Therefore, without documentation, much knowledge held by the speakers of an unwritten language dies when they do. In many cases however, languages do not *die* but undergo a process of *language shift*. In language shift, intergenerational transfer of the language does occur, but information about entire genres (such as traditional rituals or knowledge of the land) is not passed on to younger speakers. In such cases, much knowledge dies even when the language continues to be spoken.

Language extinction is not just something that may occur, it is happening right now. Every day, speakers of undocumented languages are being lost. In the 20th century many languages died out. Ethnologue reports 367 languages that have become extinct since 1950 at an average rate of 6 languages per year (Lewis *et al.* 2015). Because of the motivation for people—particularly the young—to shift to larger languages, it is reasonable to expect that this rate of extinction will increase.

There may be little that can be done to prevent many languages from falling out of use. People switch to larger languages that are more advantageous for them for employment and some speakers consider it progress to do so (Harrison 2008). In some places such as in Tanzania, it is argued that a shift to a unified language is a step away from tribalism which is seen as a threat to development (Ladefoged 1992). While the value of keeping a language alive is not universally accepted, this is not the main goal of language documentation. With adequate linguistic documentation there is the potential to save much of this valuable information, even when the language is no longer spoken. Incorporating automation into the documentation process has the potential to reduce the time it takes to achieve such documentation of a language.

1.1.2 The Changing Nature of Language Documentation

Traditionally, language documentation involves the linguist travelling to remote communities for one-on-one elicitation of speech data from speakers of threatened languages, followed by manual analysis to produce text collections, lexicons and grammars of their languages. However, this process is slow and there are a limited number of linguists engaged in such work. Given the estimated rate of language extinction, it's clear that the current rate of collection is insufficient and that a radical speedup is needed in order to adequately document most of the world's languages before they die out.

An important part of language documentation is the acquisition of bilingual data relating the threatened or endangered language to a larger regional language or international language. Such data is rich in information, even in small quantities. (Note that throughout this thesis we use the terms "low-resource," "threatened," "endangered," "larger," and "high-resource" languages. How best to define these terms is open to debate, but for the scenario relevant to this thesis we generally use "lowresource" to refer to those languages categorized as between 6b and 10 on the EGIDS scale (Lewis and Simons 2010), while languages between 0 and 6a are considered "larger." Category 0 languages are "high" resource.)

The proliferation of cheap mobile phones is creating new opportunities for documenting languages in a manner more efficient than traditional approaches (Hughes *et al.* 2010; Reiman 2010; De Vries *et al.* 2014; Bird *et al.* 2014b; Bettinson and Bird 2016). *Aikuma*¹ and an extended version, *Lig-Aikuma*² (Blachon *et al.* 2016) used in the Breaking the Unwritten Language Barrier (BULB) project (Adda *et al.* 2016) (discussed in Chapter 2), are two such apps that aim to provide field linguists with greater leverage in eliciting speech data through the use of a crowdsourcing model whereby smartphones can be distributed amongst speakers of a language for elicitation of source speech with minimal supervision. Since most speakers of endangered languages are bilingual, Aikuma aims to elicit bilingual speech aligned in segments between the endangered language and the larger language, the latter of the two being a language that can be more reliably transcribed. *Zahwa*³ is a similar application that supports spoken translation, originally intended for describing food preparation with accompanying pictures, but appropriate for documenting and translating any procedural knowledge (Bettinson and Bird 2016).

Though we will discuss the current breadth of such apps in the next chapter, with more and more people using electronics as a part of their daily routine, it's likely that further methods of performing language documentation will appear. There are three aspects of these methods that will likely continue to be popularised: (a) less involvement from linguists per recording, (b) less manual linguistic annotation per recording, and (c) increased leveraging of bilingual speech. (a) and (b) are a natural result of the attempt to collect more data from more speakers without a proportional increase in the numbers of trained linguists. Less involvement from the linguist also has the advantage that it makes it easier to collect language as it is spoken in natural, often colloquial, contexts. (c) capitalizes on the very cause of language extinction: the movement of people away from their native language towards larger languages,

 $^{^1}$ aikuma.org

²lig-aikuma.imag.fr

³zahwa.aikuma.org

which means a lot of speakers are bilingual. Working to the strength of bilingual speakers is important as it is easier to elicit spoken translations than transcriptions when a language has no standard orthography. It is also important to relate the source speech to a larger language through some form of bilingual mapping. However, in the context of language shift, younger bilinguals may not always be able to easily translate content from older monolinguals due to a significant loss of vocabulary in the process of intergenerational transfer. This is an additional challenge and adds to the pressure for translations to be made now while the original speakers are available for consultation.

But can't we just wait for the rapid adoption of mobile phones and computers to perform the language documentation for us? Since the movement towards such technology usually occurs with a switch to communication in a larger language, it is likely that little information from the endangered language will ultimately be captured unless there is an explicit push to do so.

1.1.3 A Different Kind of Data

The data resulting from this changing face of language documentation has specific features that distinguish it from the data used in most natural language processing (NLP) research. The data primarily addressed in this thesis is small amounts of speech data in an endangered language with translations into a larger language. Effective processing of this data to model the language and speed up the work of the linguist is a challenge. We now describe the key distinguishing properties of such data.

Limited Quantity Though smartphone-based rapid language documentation offers promise that such data can be acquired more quickly than it has been previously, the amount of such data available will always be much less than what is available for natural language processing of larger languages. Expectations of the amount of data available should thus be kept conservative for the purposes of our investigation so that any conclusions drawn are generalizable to as many low-resource language documentation contexts as possible. For example:

- In Tembé, Pará State, Brazil, Bird *et al.* (2014a) collect 2 hours of source audio with 35 minutes of this audio orally translated over a 4 day visit.
- Nhengatu, Amazonas State, Brazil, the same authors collect 2.5 hours of source audio and orally translate 1 hour over a 3 day visit.
- In Brazzaville, Congo, Blachon *et al.* (2016) collected 48 hours of Mboshi speech using Lig-Aikuma in two 1-month field trips. Of this, 5.5 hours were spoken translations elicited from French text (Godard *et al.* 2017).

If we assume the rule of thumb that 1 hour of audio equals around 1,000 sentences (Cieri and Liberman 2006; Bird and Chiang 2012; Bird *et al.* 2014b), then in these specific cases at most a few thousand sentences of bilingual audio are collected.

Bilingual It is typical in traditional language documentation to create glosses and bilingual lexicons. Since speakers of endangered languages are frequently bilingual in order to communicate with a wider regional community, the data collected harnesses this extra source of information. The investigations of this thesis concern data that was originally produced in the endangered source language, with some subset translated into a larger regional language, such as Brazilian Portuguese in Brazil.

Audio Most endangered languages do not have a standardized orthography, making written documentation in the language difficult and encouraging the emphasis of documentation to be on speech. Regardless, collection of spoken recordings has three main advantages:

1. It is faster than collecting text. It is also a precondition for transcription. Phonemic transcription is a slow process, taking a trained linguist roughly 1 hour to transcribe 1 minute of speech (Do *et al.* 2014a), or 50 to 100 hours per recorded hour (Cavar *et al.* 2016). Focusing only on capturing audio and its subsequent processing avoids the slow process of manual transcription.

- 2. It captures significant amounts of information about intonation, articulation and accents, that can be lost in transcription.
- 3. It captures language as it naturally occurs: in fluent conversation, which deviates from written speech in multiple dimensions (Redeker 1984). It is therefore data that is more representative of the language.

However, the use of spoken recordings means the data is subject to the challenges of automatic speech recognition. The fluent and conversational nature of speech makes it difficult to transcribe on account of its variable features such as prosody, coarticulation and disfluencies. Moreover, when automatically transcribing phonemes without the aid of a language model, phoneme error rates are high.

Though the data consists of spoken recordings, we assume in much of the thesis that the target side is a larger language that can be efficiently transcribed. While the issue of transcription still remains on the target side, and may be complicated by the bilingual speakers speaking a non-standard or accented form of the target language (which may require an additional *respeaking* step), the prospects of efficient, accurate and scalable manual or automatic transcription with a standard orthography in this target language are far greater than in the source language. Such transcription may be automatic, since breakthroughs in automatic speech recognition have made state-of-the-art systems effective for large languages. In addition, manual transcription (perhaps via crowdsourcing) is also more feasible for large languages, due to the large number of speakers.

Limited prior linguistic information The extensive body of linguistic research on English can inform the approaches used in natural language processing systems for English. Methods for automation in endangered language documentation has much less information to draw from. That said, we can assume some linguistic information. It is reasonable to expect a linguist can determine the phoneme inventory of a language in a comparatively short amount of time. It might also be reasonable to assume elicited spoken recordings of common words can be acquired. The small amount of prior information means that it must be used as effectively as possible.

1.1.4 Why Pursue Automatic Understanding of Unwritten Languages?

There are a number of reasons motivating development of speech recognition and translation tools for endangered languages. Firstly, the availability of such technology may help to speed up language documentation by providing linguists with greater leverage in data collection. If linguists are bogged down less in the time-consuming task of phonemic transcription, that effort can be spent on expanding the scope of their research and their reach to other languages. Additionally, the linguist may be able to spend more time on linguistically meaningful dialogue with the consultants when the burden of manual data entry is reduced (as we see in $\S6.5$). Although collection of primary speech data is a key issue in language documentation, this secondary processing is a bottleneck in the standard documentary linguistics workflow. Linguists accumulate considerable amounts of speech, but do not transcribe and translate it all. There is a risk that untranscribed recordings could end up as "data graveyards" (Himmelmann 2006:4,12-13), and as a result, there is a need for "devising better ways for linguists to do their work" (Thieberger 2016:92). "For example, out of the 137 unrestricted collections in the Archive of the Indigenous Languages of Latin America, about half (49%) contain no transcriptions at all, and only 7% are fully transcribed" (Anastasopoulos et al. 2017). In addition to speeding up this process, the quality and experience of the linguist's work may improve since the automatic methods may highlight phenomena the linguist might otherwise overlook, such as interesting phonetic and phonemic facts (see Chapter 6) and possible bilingual lexical entries.

A second motivation is that making language technology available for threatened languages may help in revitalization of these languages. In cases where the community is interested in revitalization, the existence of such language technology may make the languages be perceived as more relevant by the children of native speakers, who might otherwise not carry on the tradition of the language. The benefits of this are not purely sentimental: slowing the rate of language extinction and possibly even revitalizing languages affords communities more time for the languages to be documented, meaning fewer languages will fall out of use without being documented. In this sense, documentation and revitalization are symbiotic. Both the data collected and the the technology developed for language documentation may facilitate revitalization, furthering the coverage of the documentation. The availability of machine translation technology for low-resource languages also has the potential to make them more relevant by translating educational resources available only in larger languages into the smaller languages. However this objective raises its own problems for NLP. Firstly, there is a domain mismatch between translated heritage materials from the source language used to train the models and the genre of what is to be translated from the larger language, which may be information such as educational material or Wikipedia content. Secondly, the lack of a large amount of source language text means language model quality in the source language is likely to be poor, limiting machine translation (MT) performance.

A third motivation is that of incident-response, the focus of the DARPA LORELEI project.⁴ There is value in having language technology available "in the context of a rapidly emerging and quickly evolving situation like a natural disaster or disease outbreak" (Strassel and Tracey 2016). Humanitarian assistance and disaster relief can benefit from technology such as translation tools to help communication during a time of crisis, for example in the 2010 Haiti earthquake, which highlighted this need (Besacier *et al.* 2014).

Finally, constraints breed creativity. Limits on the available data force innovation in modelling approaches, and such approaches are useful beyond the arena of endangered unwritten languages. There exist many low-resource languages that are not endangered. These languages are characterized by having many speakers (perhaps millions), robust intergenerational transfer, an established main dialect, and some web presence, but still lacking the data available for state-of-the-art language technology. Research on language technology for endangered languages can inform approaches for such low-resource languages, which has the potential to positively impact millions of speakers. Moreover, there are data sparsity issues even for large languages when we consider issues arising from morphology and constraints on the

 $^{^4}$ www.darpa.mil/program/low-resource-languages-for-emergent-incidents

domain. As a result, advances in this space may find applicability elsewhere in NLP of high-resource languages.

1.2 Aim and Scope

The aim of this thesis is to progress towards effective semi-automated language documentation by modelling and making best use of available data, such as monolingual and bilingual speech. Automatic understanding of languages through transcription and translation modelling may efficiently guide future documentation of those languages and engage more linguists by helping to speed up very slow work such as manual phonemic transcription. Furthermore, investigating how to deal with very low-resource languages will help when addressing languages for which there are many speakers, but nevertheless have limited resources, by prompting focus on improved modelling of language.

The scope of this PhD is limited to the tasks of bilingual lexicon induction, language modelling, and phonemic transcription. In Chapters 3 and 5, the input data is speech or a phonemic representation, along with an orthographic translation in another language. Orthographic translations are assumed since the target language is typically a large language for which manual or automatic transcription is efficient. (It is often the case that the variety of the larger language spoken by the bilingual speaker is far from standard, which may motivate a further *respeaking* of the translation as supported by Lig-Aikuma (Blachon *et al.* 2016)). In Chapter 4 we consider the use of bilingual lexicons and large amounts of text data in another language in order to enable transfer learning when we have limited transcribed data with which to train language models. Finally, in Chapter 6 limited monolingual source speech and phonemic transcriptions are used to train acoustic models for phoneme and tone prediction.

One consistent assumption about available data that holds across all the research described in this thesis is the availability of a phonemic inventory (and where relevant to the language, a tone inventory) identified by a linguist. This is a reasonable requirement, as eliciting a phonemic inventory scales well and is 'constant' with respect to the amount of speech gathered, unlike transcription.

1.2.1 Research Questions

The key aim is to determine what can be automatically learnt about the languages with the data we have available, and how this can help automate language documentation. This goal is decomposed into a collection of research questions:

- A. Phoneme translation modelling 1. How accurate is translation modelling of unsegmented phonemic transcriptions? 2. How do different translation models for this task compare in bilingual lexicon induction?
- **B. Speech translation modelling** 1. How can translation models be learnt from speech, and 2. can these be used to improve speech recognition and automatic phonemic transcription?
- C. Cross-lingual language modelling 1. How can other bilingual resources, such as lexicons, be used to transfer information from a high-resource language to a low-resource language? 2. Can such approaches be used to improve language modelling, which is useful to speech recognition and machine translation?
- D. Usefulness for the linguist and tonal languages Many languages we would like to automatically transcribe are tonal, and tonal transcription is an important process in the linguist's workflow. 1. How well can we predict tones for richly tonal languages? 2. How does phoneme and tonal prediction fit into a linguist's actual linguistic workflow?
- E. Scaling For the methods used in answering the above questions, we also want to answer the question of how well performance scales with training data size. We're particularly interested in whether such approaches can be usefully applied to small amounts of data to give linguists and computer scientists a sense of how much data is required for methods to be effective.

1.3 Overview of the Contributions

The contributions of this thesis take a step towards answering the above questions. The first contribution of this thesis is an investigation into translation modelling of unsegmented sequences of phonemes for the purpose of bilingual lexicon induction (Chapter 3), addressing questions A1 and A2. This includes end-to-end machine translation experiments as well as a bilingual lexicon induction experiment focusing on the quality of the inferred lexemes. Traditionally, translation modelling has been trained on ample data segmented at the word-level. This contribution involves an evaluation of various methods on small amounts of unsegmented phonemic data, with results indicating that translation modelling can be effective even when training data amounts to as little as 1,000 bilingual sentences of unsegmented phonemic text: an amount feasible for accurate manual transcription. Work here highlights that bilingual lexicon induction, measured by assessing which entries are corroborated by established lexicons, is not a good intrinsic measure of the method's performance. Moreover, linguists tend to create these in the process of phonemic transcription, limiting the applicability of such bilingual lexicon induction techniques.

In light of the availability of lexicons for many languages for which speech recognition and machine translation systems do not exist, the next contribution explores the use of such lexicons for the purposes of transfer learning (Chapter 4), addressing questions C1 and C2. This work demonstrates that the use of bilingual lexicons can improve language models, a key component in speech recognition and machine translation systems, by using them to tap into cross-lingual distributional information. This is demonstrated by initializing neural network language models with cross-lingual word embeddings.

The first two contributions explore scenarios where transcribed speech in a source language is available. The third contribution (Chapter 5) instead explores how translated speech, which is easier to collect than phonemic transcriptions, can be used to improve automatic phoneme transcription. This addresses questions B1 and B2, while giving deeper insight into A1. First, an approach for resolving acoustic modelling errors is explored that relies on the concept of phoneme equivalence classes. In light of this model's flaws, we proceed to investigate a model that jointly segments phoneme lattices and aligns them with an orthographic translation while learning a lexicon and translation model. Results demonstrate that translations of speech can help resolve errors in phoneme recognition even when there is no prior translation model or bilingual lexicon relating the languages at all. A framework is laid out which can be extended on for further modular improvement.

The contributions described thus far assume either accurate phonemic transcriptions, or the availability of an acoustic model. The final contribution (Chapter 6) addresses the requirement of an acoustic model for automatic phoneme transcription of Yongning Na, a minority language of Yunnan, China, for which there is immediate practical benefit in language documentation work. Addressing questions D1 and D2, we conduct an investigation into acoustic modelling as a way to make automatic phoneme transcription feasible for languages with extremely low amounts of training data. Importantly, we address phonemic transcription of tones, since many languages are tonal and transcription of tones is important in the language documentation. A key takehome is that useful phoneme recognition accuracies can be obtained when trained on small quantities of transcribed data and that such automated transcripts can serve as a useful "canvas," partially automating the work of the linguist. This is encouraging, as we can tell linguists that as little as 30 minutes of transcription work may be adequate to build a training set which can then be used to aid in subsequent transcription. Such automated transcription has now been incorporated into the linguist's workflow for documentation of Na.

The progression of the chapters can be viewed as progressively removing simplifying assumptions about the data while addressing pieces in an automatic phonemic transcription and lexicon induction pipeline: language models, translation models, and acoustic models. In Chapter 3, we assume large quantities of data and error-free phonemic transcriptions in order to assess translation modelling. We then remove the assumption of large quantities of data in order to assess bilingual lexicon induction from limited phonemic transcriptions without word segmentation. Chapter 4 also assumes the availability of correct transcriptions, and bilingual lexicons are used for the purposes of training language models. In Chapter 5 we remove the assumption of error-free transcriptions. We first do this by simulating errors using two different methods, before using the output of actual acoustic models. In finally addressing acoustic modelling in Chapter 6, we complete exploration of the final piece in the experimental pipeline, dropping the assumption of an acoustic model trained with generous amounts of data. In Chapter 7, we conclude with a discussion of the main findings, limitations of the work and promising avenues for future work.

Chapter 2

Background

The promise of being able to efficiently collect bilingual speech is a key motivation for the contributions of this thesis, and so we begin with a brief survey of work on the acquisition of such input data. Modelling this data requires us to draw on knowledge in both the fields of automatic speech recognition (ASR) and machine translation (MT). This background chapter will provide a lay of the land, giving an overview of relevant work and ideas in MT and ASR before considering the intersection of these two areas of research as they relate to and motivate the subsequent work in the thesis.

This chapter assumes some familiarity with:

- General machine learning concepts (such as the bias/variance tradeoff and the curse of dimensionality) and architectures (particularly neural network models such as feed-forward, recurrent and convolutional architectures).
- Machine translation: word and phrase level alignment and translation, evaluation with BLEU scores. See Koehn (2009) for an accessible reference.
- Speech recognition: traditional approaches based on hidden Markov models. See Jurafsky and Martin (2009) for an accessible reference.
- Linguistic concepts such as parts of speech, derivational and inflectional morphology.

2.1 Data Acquisition

Methods central to this thesis are premised on the acquisition of source language speech paired with translations (spoken or written) in a larger language. Such data is collected in traditional language documentation workflows (Hanke 2017), but these workflows typically entail a slow process of one-on-one work between a linguist and native speaker. This involves creating a phonemic transcription of the primary speech data and relating it to a larger language through the process of glossing and construction of a lexicon, perhaps using a tool such as FLEx.¹

There have been recent efforts to speed up the language documentation process by harnessing cheap mobile devices to collect speech and spoken translations, as well as fostering collaborative involvement of speakers. These approaches are often based on the idea of greater native speaker involvement in the language documentation process, thereby empowering them and making them custodians of their language rather than the linguists. The involvement of more people in the documentation process may help to speed up progress in documenting the world's languages. At the same time, less direct curation of materials by linguists raises the question of how best to process such data and conduct quality control.

Reiman (2010) proposed the method of basic oral language documentation (BOLD) in order to sidestep the issue of written documentation. This approach involves oral annotation including 'oral transcription:' careful respeaking of a source recording, and 'phrasal translation.' Motivated by the BOLD approach, one collection of work in this space are approaches based on the Aikuma tool (Bird *et al.* 2014b), which is an android app designed to facilitate the collection of recordings of endangered language speech and, importantly, spoken translations in a larger language. Since speakers of endangered languages are frequently bilingual or multilingual, this works to the strength of the speakers. The Aikuma app has had preliminary deployments in Papua New Guinea, Nepal and Brazil (Hanke and Bird 2013; Bird *et al.* 2014a). The Aikuma app was primarily designed for collection of spontaneous speech, as opposed to linguist-driven elicitation of words, phonological and

¹software.sil.org/fieldworks/

grammatical constructs. This encourages the collection of material that is a more faithful representation of the language and what the speakers care about, while at the same time requiring less of the linguist. A positive side effect of this is that the observer effect is reduced: materials are more naturalistic when a foreign linguist is not there holding a microphone.

An extended version of the application, Lig-Aikuma (Blachon *et al.* 2016) has since superseded Aikuma. This application adds several extensions including an elicitation mode. Lig-Aikuma has been used by the *Breaking the Unwritten Language Barrier* (BULB) project (Adda *et al.* 2016) to collect Mboshi speech in Congo and Fongbe speech in Benin through speech elicitation from translated reference sentences (Adda *et al.* 2016; Laleye *et al.* 2016; Godard *et al.* 2017).

Beyond the Aikuma apps, there is other work on smartphone apps to collect speech data. Examples include the app of Hughes *et al.* (2010) for elicitation of speech. Another elicitation-based application is Woefzela (De Vries *et al.* 2011; De Vries *et al.* 2014), the focus of which is to collect speech data from prompts for acoustic model training. However, both of these applications target collection of speech in the same language as the prompt, requiring some textual data beforehand.

The development of applications for language documentation collection is a growing area of work. For further reading, Bettinson and Bird (2016) and Bird (2017) discuss considerations in the development of language documentation applications more generally.

2.2 Modelling Translation

In this section we discuss literature relating to modelling the relationship between words in two or more different languages. The vast majority of work in this space has been focused on bilingual text to address machine translation, where input text in a source language is converted to text in a target language.

Machine translation is a challenging task even for humans, who are the champions of language. There are a number of reasons for this. The relationship between words in languages is not one-to-one: some words may not have a equivalent word in another language, encouraging either an inaccurate translation or a more elaborate paraphrasing. When there are single-word translations, they often have subtly different meanings in certain contexts. Languages typically have many word tokens which are polysemous, relying on contextual information for translation (sometimes rich background context that a computer cannot yet incorporate into modelling). Furthermore, languages vary greatly in syntax. These issues, along with the effectively unbounded inventory result in problems such as indirect associations (Melamed 1996), where source-language words are given substantial translation probabilities for target-language words that frequently co-occur but are not translations. Such issues make machine learning of effective translation models given parallel data a difficult challenge in artificial intelligence.

This section reviews traditional models of word alignment, recent advances in MT using neural architectures, and approaches addressing data sparsity in MT that are relevant to low-resource translation modelling. Beyond the task of MT, this section also discusses work in related tasks including bilingual lexicon induction and the learning and use of cross-lingual word embeddings.

2.2.1 Traditional Word Alignment

Traditional MT systems from the 1960s until the 1990s relied heavily on linguistically motivated rules (Koehn 2009). Increased computational power and access to corpora catalysed a shift towards statistical methods for machine translation, starting in the late 1980s and gaining momentum through the 1990s. These models are built on large quantities of data and, rather than being governed by handcrafted rules, learn patterns of translation from the data.

In a pivotal paper, Brown *et al.* (1993) introduced the so-called "IBM models" for word-based MT. Given a corpus of text aligned only at the sentence level, the IBM models describe lexical translation probabilities of foreign words given an English word, and alignments of words within these training sentences. In the most basic model, IBM model 1, all possible word orderings have an equal probability and the only parameters the model stores are the lexical translation probabilities. The subsequent IBM models in the paper build upon this first one to include information such as parameters describing likely word re-orderings and how many English words correspond to a given foreign word. These models play an important role as baselines for the translation modelling in Chapters 3 and 5. As well as the IBM models, other approaches to statistical word alignment arose and gained a foothold, among which is the notable use of hidden Markov models for capturing locality of alignments and allowing the use of well-established statistical methods for training and decoding (Vogel *et al.* 1996; Deng and Byrne 2008).

The parameters of the IBM models 1 and 2 are typically learnt using the *expectation maximization* algorithm. This algorithm uses an iterative two step process whereby the lexical translation parameters of the model are used to predict word alignments (the expectation step) before these word alignments are used to re-estimate the parameters (the maximization step). By iteratively finding the best word alignments and re-estimating the translation model parameters, the model parameters converge to a local optimum that describes the corpora with the highest probability. IBM models 3 and onwards are intractable for expectation maximization and so a hill climbing algorithm is used instead. More recent work in parameter estimation for the IBM models include *Bayesian* methods whereby a distribution over model parameters is instead expressed (DeNero *et al.* 2008; Mermer and Saraçlar 2011; Mermer *et al.* 2013; Li *et al.* 2013). Such approaches can help avoid degenerate solutions and the overfitting that is associated with point estimates of the model parameters found in maximum-likelihood estimation approaches.

2.2.2 What is the Right Granularity for Translation Units?

The translation parameters of the IBM models are at the word level. This is limiting, since the relationships between words and translations may in practice be one-to-many or many-to-many. On the other hand, varying inflection and agglomerative morphology suggest that sub-word translation units may sometimes be more appropriate.

少数 与 北韩 建交 的国家 澳洲 Australia is one of a few countries that has relationship with North Korea

Figure 2.1: Word alignments that motivate multi-word translation units. (Illustration created by Qin Gao, 2008 and released into the Public Domain; example sentence taken from Chiang (2005)).

Phrase Alignment

In order to more accurately model translation of larger collections of words, approaches such as n-gram machine translation (Mariño *et al.* 2006) were introduced. In particular, *phrase-based machine translation* (Koehn *et al.* 2003) became popular for its ability to handle groups of words and local reorderings within them. In this approach, heuristic methods are used to extract phrase alignments from word alignments in order to assign scores to translations of groups of words. This helps resolve alignment ambiguities within the phrases, facilitating a one-to-one mapping between the source and target sentences at the phrase level. Consider how the Chinese–English parallel sentence in Figure 2.1 motivates the use of translation of multi-word units.

A related issue with word-based MT is that multi-word sequences are often not decomposable into translations of the constituent words. Idioms are a clear example of this. Consider the translation of a German idiom (describing a person perceived to be crazy) into an English equivalent:

German:	er	hat	nicht	alle	Tassen	im	Schrank
Gloss:	he	has	not	all	cups	in the	cupboard
English:				'he's a	a fruitcal	ke'	

In the translation between these idioms only the word 'he' can be literally translated. This issue is inadequately addressed by heuristic phrase extraction methods since they are based on word-level alignments which ineffectively model such phenomena unless there are enough training examples. Thus while phrase-based MT was the most popular framework in machine translation until the arrival of neural MT, other machine translation paradigms existed to address this problem of non-decompositionality, among other problems such as limited reordering ability. These include trees (Yamada and Knight 2001; Neubig 2013) and grammars (Chiang 2007). Wu (1997) introduce inversion transduction grammars (ITGs), a grammar formalism that permits the vast majority of sentence-level reorderings to be captured in a simple binary synchronous grammar, which have been used as the basis for a variety of phrase alignment models, both with maximum-likelihood and Bayesian inference (Cherry and Lin 2007; Zhang et al. 2008; Blunsom et al. 2009; Cohn and Haffari 2013). Neubig et al. (2011b) contribute one such method, with an important distinguishing feature that the generative story of each parallel sentence involves the model attempting to generate a phrase pair at each branch in the tree, backing off to using a non-terminal distribution. This allows for phrase translations of varying granularities to be modelled without decomposition into tokens. This contrasts with previous ITG approaches that require heuristics to construct larger phrases, as phrase-based MT approaches do. We explore the use of heuristic phrase extraction versus a Bayesian ITG approach for translation modelling and lexicon induction in Chapter 3.

Character-Based Alignment and Sub-Word Neural Machine Translation

While the shift of phrase-based statistical MT was largely based on the idea that word alignments are often too fine-grained to capture larger units appropriate translation, it is also the case that they are limited in that they often are not fine-grained enough. Consider how decomposition of a word into sub-word units such as morphemes reveals information that could be useful in translation. *Character-based MT* addresses this idea in the other extreme, using characters as the unit of translation. Earlier approaches to character-based MT focused on similar languages such as Castilian and Catalan (Vilar *et al.* 2007), Norwegian and Swedish (Tiedemann 2009), and Macedonian and Bulgarian (Nakov and Tiedemann 2012). This is because earlier approaches were based on lexical translation probabilities, which require a

meaningful relationship between characters in the source language and characters in the target language, which only holds true for similar languages. Consider this Norwegian–Swedish parallel sentence taken from Tiedemann (2009):

> Norwegian: Så du bø være temmelig redd . Swedish: Så du bör vara mycket rädd .

Note how strong the character-level relationship between the languages is (one English translation could be 'so you should be pretty scared'). Character-based MT between more distant languages has also been shown to be effective through the use of hierarchical models which compose larger units from characters. This allows translation probabilities to be modelled at coarser granularities but without restricting them from modelling character level translation phenomena when appropriate. This has been explored by Neubig *et al.* (2012b), who extend the Bayesian inversion transduction grammar approach described above (which is used in Chapter 3), as well as in more recent character-based approaches to translation that have been used in *neural machine translation* (NMT) contexts.

The most basic neural model is an *encoder-decoder* framework (Kalchbrenner and Blunsom 2013; Sutskever *et al.* 2014; Cho *et al.* 2014). In this framework an *encoder* is used to transform input one-hot vectors representing tokens on the source side into a hidden representation encapsulating the meaning of the whole sentence. A *decoder* then takes this representation of the source sentence and uses it as the basis for generating a sequence of words in the target language. The encoder and decoder are connected end-to-end for training. A popular extension to this model uses an *attention* mechanism (Bahdanau *et al.* 2014) to weight the relevance of source-side words in determining the output, resolving issues such as sentence length that arise from the basic encoder-decoder approach that uses a single vector representation to capture the entire meaning of the source sentence.

Two appealing properties of neural network models are that 1) they share information between words using richer distributed word representations and 2) the architecture is simplified compared to the traditional statistical MT pipeline. However, this second property comes at the cost of the model being less interpretable. In
recent years the performance of word-level neural MT has exceeded that of phrase based statistical MT, with research in the former largely replacing that of the latter.

Recently, character-based neural MT has been explored. This includes a neural MT approach built on the language model of Kim et al. (2016b) which involves composing source-language character-level information into word embeddings via a convolutional encoder with highway layers (Costa-jussà and Fonollosa 2016). However, the output vocabulary remains at the word level, and thus suffers from an imposed limit on the vocabulary size in decoding since the models require a probability distribution over each possible target word. It is appealing to deal with characters on the target side as well in order to overcome this problem, since the character inventory is fixed and vastly smaller than the word inventory. Ling et al. (2015) do this, using character-level information both for encoding and decoding in an attentional neural MT model. For encoding, a character-level bidirectional long short-term memory (LSTM) network is used to compose each word out of character embeddings. At the decoding stage a hidden target word representation is converted into characters using a forward-LSTM conditioned on the word representation and previously generated characters. Thus the model is capable of interpreting and generating unseen word forms. Such models have demonstrated that multilingual many-to-one models can outperform bilingual specific models (Lee et al. 2016). However, the training data requirements of such neural MT models are large.

2.2.3 Data Sparsity in Machine Translation

Language documentation work necessarily happens in a low-resource context. In the field of machine translation, there has been a wide variety of work on models to better cope with limited training data. This includes work directly on MT for lowresource languages (Carl *et al.* 2008; Irvine and Callison-Burch 2013; Mikolov *et al.* 2013b; Östling and Tiedemann 2017), but the issue of data sparsity arises in MT even for large languages, and is one of the reasons varying token granularities have been explored. Data sparsity is caused by a variety of factors, including morphological complexity (inflections, compounding) and phenomena such as numbers, proper names. Because of the infinite productivity of human languages and a long tail of rare words, all machine translation can be considered a battle against data sparsity. In light of this, the division between low-resource and high-resource languages is not clear cut.

Morphology

For languages with rich morphology, such as Turkish, Finnish and Russian there will be many instances of words that haven't been seen many times during train-Approaches to deal with this data sparsity for such languages typically ining. volve segmentation of words into finer grained units such as morphemes (Lee 2004; Zwarts and Dras 2007; Clifton and Sarkar 2011; Ataman et al. 2017; Bastan et al. 2017) reducing the size of the vocabulary and taking advantage of regularity in the morphology. A popular recent approach is the use of byte pair encoding (BPE) in MT (Sennrich et al. 2015), which involves iteratively replacing the most commonly paired characters and groups of characters, creating a smaller vocabulary of frequently seen character n-grams (of variable n). Decomposition of words based on BPE has been used on its own, as well as in combination with character-based models, such as in the model of Chung et al. (2016), which performs character level and sub-word level decoding, with source sentences segmented using BPE. To compare segmentation granularity for Chinese–English and English–Chinese translation, Wang et al. (2017a) explore character-level, BPE-level and word-level Chinese–English translation using LSTM encoders and decoders (after word segmentation with in-house tools).

Other concepts to address morphology include incorporating source-side linguistic information for more accurate generation of morphology in a richer target language (Chahuneau *et al.* 2013; Durrani *et al.* 2014), paraphrasing to effectively create different translation inputs when translating from a morphologically richer language (Nakov and Ng 2011), and modelling the influence of morphemes on nearby words to improve alignment (Luong and Kan 2010). Bergmanis and Goldwater (2017) address morphological analysis by abstracting over spelling differences between functionally similar morphemes, unlike much previous work that focuses solely on segmentation.

Transfer Learning

Transfer learning is another approach to deal with data sparsity which is broadly applicable (including to speech recognition, as we will discuss in §2.3.4), but in machine translation works by applying information learnt from translating some languages to the task of translating others. These approaches commonly involve sharing neural network parameters between models to harness the similarity of the distributional representations of words and that of their translations, and is useful both in high-resource settings (Johnson et al. 2016) and in low-resource settings (Zoph et al. 2016; Nguyen and Chiang 2017). Zoph et al. (2016) demonstrate that training a NMT model for a high-resource language pair can then be used to substantially improve translation performance from a low-resource language into a high-resource language. This allows embeddings in the common high-resource language to be transferred. Though the neural MT alone underperforms a syntax-based alternative, ensembling such pre-trained low-resource neural MT models allows for improvements over the syntax-based alternative. Nguyen and Chiang (2017) expand on this model to exploit vocabulary overlap between related low-resource languages, enabling transfer from one low-resource Turkic language to another to improve translation into English.

2.2.4 Unsupervised Word Segmentation

In the MT frameworks discussed above, translation typically assumes the use of orthographies that include spaces to delimit words. Sometimes such segmentation is not available and automatic word segmentation is necessary. Word segmentation plays a very important role when performing natural language processing tasks on languages such as Chinese and Japanese which do not include segmentation in the orthography. It is also used in segmentation-based approaches to handling morphology discussed in §2.2.3; and is relevant in this thesis since phonemic representations of speech are unsegmented by default.

Word segmentation for languages whose orthographies do not include them can involve the use of a dictionary or segmented training corpus for supervised training to help determine candidate points in strings at which to split (Nagata 1997; Sassano 2014; Cai *et al.* 2017). However, ambiguities frequently make this task more difficult than one might naively assume. For example, in Japanese 東京都 can validly be segmented as \mathbf{n} (east) + 京都 (Kyoto), or more commonly as \mathbf{n} 京 (Tokyo) + 都 (prefecture). In Chinese, 3.6% of characters could be segmented such that they serve as a prefix of the word to the right, or a suffix of the word to the left (Ma *et al.* 2014).

Unsupervised word segmentation approaches that do not use dictionaries employ statistical methods to lump together high-frequency clusters of characters (Goldwater *et al.* 2006; Johnson and Goldwater 2009; Mochihashi *et al.* 2009; Elsner *et al.* 2013). For such methods, the predicted segmentation of words will frequently deviate from what are considered words in a canonical dictionary. These unsupervised methods find their use in tasks such as modelling the lexical acquisition of children, and preparing text for downstream tasks such as machine translation. Such a segmentation method is used as a component of an alignment approach in Chapter 3.

For machine translation, there is often no single correct segmentation and it has been argued that the best segmentation is the one that leads to the best machine translation scores (Nguyen *et al.* 2010). Xu *et al.* (2004) learn a dictionary from character–word alignment for Chinese–English MT, which is then used to inform segmentation. Xu *et al.* (2008) and Nguyen *et al.* (2010) both describe Bayesian techniques in which bilingual information informs segmentation useful for machine translation, while Chen and Xu (2015) use a variety of features at the character, phrase and sentence levels in a log-linear model. This concept of jointly segmenting while performing non-MT tasks has been explored in other contexts such as segmentation with part-of-speech (POS) tagging (Sun 2011). Su *et al.* (2016) use lattices of possible tokenizations as input to neural machine translation systems to mitigate issues of error propagation.

2.2.5 Bilingual Lexicon Induction

Machine translation techniques such as translation modelling find use beyond the task of classic machine translation of sentences. Bilingual lexicon induction is a task that involves drawing semantic correspondences between words in a source language and words in a target language. Beyond its implicit use in MT, bilingual lexicon induction has a long history as lexicons play an important role in multilingual tasks such as cross-lingual information retrieval (Levow *et al.* 2005). Since a key task of documentary linguistics is the creation of lexicons to relate the source language with a larger language, we now discuss computational approaches for this task.

The traditional approach to bilingual lexicon induction has involved statistical inference over word-level information and is essentially a post-processing step after word alignment. Early work includes that of Wu and Xia (1994), who explore lexicon induction between English and Chinese using a variation on IBM model 1 to determine translation probabilities after dictionary-based segmentation. A post-processing step uses significance filtering to remove spurious entries by effectively adapting the filtering threshold based on translation entropy. Melamed (1996) present a technique to clean out spurious entries from translation lexicon, highlighting the issue of *indirect associations*, whereby pairs of unrelated words have statistical properties that resemble those of mutual translation. An example of this might be *what* and a translation of *time* being erroneously learnt from a corpus of travel expressions, owing to common sentences beginning with "What time..." Other word alignment based approaches include that of Caseli *et al.* (2006), which involves lexicon induction in the context of translation rule induction for rule-based MT, and that of Lardilleux *et al.* (2010), who compare word alignment tools for the task of bilingual lexicon induction.

Other methods remove reliance on the scarce resource of parallel corpora by using comparable corpora (Fung and Yee 1998; Koehn and Knight 2002) or monolingual corpora (Haghighi *et al.* 2008). More recently, word embeddings (discussed in §2.2.6) have become the main basis for such approaches. Vulic and Moens (2015) learn bilingual word embeddings (see §2.2.6) by adapting the skip-gram model to predict bilingual contexts of words. This method simply involves concatenating a source document with its target translation, shuffling, and then running the skipgram model training with a large window size. The cosine similarity between words thus corresponds strongly with the likelihood that they are translations, outperforming state-of-the-art bilingual lexicon induction baselines as well as similar bilingual word embedding models. Bilingual lexicon induction has also been explored with comparable corpora and sub-word information, with Heyman *et al.* (2017) using character level information and multilingual Wikipedia data as a comparable corpus in order to exploit orthographic similarities between words and related languages. Unlike previous work in the same vein, neural models are used to encode character level representations of words for a downstream classification task which determines whether words are translations of one another.

As well as this recent work incorporating character-level information in lexicon induction, there has previously been some work on lexicon induction from phonemes which is closely related to the explorations of Chapter 3. Stüker and Waibel (2008) and Stüker *et al.* (2009) take a first look at phoneme–word translation modelling, using traditional IBM Models (Brown *et al.* 1993) in order to determine alignments, and applying heuristics to extract dictionaries, while Stahlberg *et al.* (2013) build on the approach of Stahlberg *et al.* (2012), using 30k Bible verses for lexicon extraction. None of the above work considers bilingual lexicon induction from speech directly, though we discuss *spoken term discovery* in §2.3.3.

2.2.6 Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings

In recent years word embeddings and cross-lingual word embeddings (CLWEs) have become popular. Relevant to our interests, CLWEs have the capacity to enable transfer learning in cross-lingual contexts, which is relevant in the low-resource domain (Duong *et al.* 2015; Fang and Cohn 2017; Zoph *et al.* 2016).

Word embeddings are vector representations of words in a common vector space such that similar words are closer to one another. They originally arose as a side-effect of neural language models (Bengio *et al.* 2003; Goodman 2001), discussed in §2.2.7. One advantage of word embeddings is that they can help models cope with sparse data by sharing information among words with similar characteristics. Although countbased distributed vector representations of words, such as latent semantic analysis (LSA) (Landauer and Dumais 1997), have a long history, word embeddings have become more popular since recent approaches show effective use of shallow neural network architecture to learn them from large quantities of data (Mnih *et al.* 2009; Bengio *et al.* 2009; Collobert and Weston 2008; Mikolov *et al.* 2013a; Mikolov *et al.* 2013c). These prediction-based word embedding models, in contrast to traditional count-based models such as LSA, have led to improvements in many natural language processing tasks through their use in initializing the parameters of neural network models when supervised training data is limited, harnessing information from large amounts of unlabelled data (Frome *et al.* 2013; Zhang *et al.* 2014; Zoph *et al.* 2016; Lau and Baldwin 2016).

The most well-known of these approaches are the continuous bag-of-words models and the skip-gram models, which predict words given contexts and contexts given words respectively (Mikolov *et al.* 2013a). In the original formulation, these contexts are sliding windows of words, but subsequent work has used other structural representations as contexts in similar models, such as using dependency parsers for more syntactically motivated word embeddings (Vulić *et al.* 2016). The success of embeddings has led to a myriad of other popular word embeddings approaches, both count-based and prediction-based (Chen *et al.* 2013; Pennington *et al.* 2014; Shazeer *et al.* 2016; Bhatia *et al.* 2016).

Cross-lingual word embeddings (CLWEs) have also been the subject of significant investigation. These methods embed words across two or more languages in a common vector space, such that words and their translations have similar vector representations. Many methods require parallel corpora or comparable corpora to connect the languages (Klementiev *et al.* 2012; Zou *et al.* 2013; Hermann and Blunsom 2013; Chandar AP *et al.* 2014; Kočiský *et al.* 2014; Coulmance *et al.* 2015; Wang *et al.* 2016), while others use bilingual dictionaries (Mikolov *et al.* 2013b; Xiao and Guo 2014; Faruqui and Dyer 2014; Gouws and Sogaard 2015; Duong *et al.* 2016b; Ammar *et al.* 2016; Fang and Cohn 2017). Other methods use neither parallel data nor bilingual dictionaries, instead learning cross-lingual word embeddings through analysis of the monolingual distribution of words in more than one language (Barone 2016; Conneau *et al.* 2017). Most relevant to this thesis are the methods that use bilingual dictionaries to bridge between monolingual corpora, with the approach of Duong *et al.* (2016b) being used to train the CLWEs used in Chapter 4.

2.2.7 Language Modelling

Before moving to speech recognition, we first address language modelling, which is an important component in both machine translation and speech recognition, and other text generation tasks. Language models (LMs) are a tool that score the fluency of some generated text, associating with it a likelihood of it occurring in the language the LM was trained on.

Statistical language modelling was popularised with the advent of large digital corpora and the rise of corpus statistics around 1990 (see Kneser and Ney (1995) and related papers cited there). Traditional language models rely on the concept of an n-gram, which is a sequence of n words. Corpus statistics on the occurrences of n-grams is used to estimate the probability of each word (in the language that the corpus represents) given that preceding n - 1 words. This allows our models to incorporate the intuition that given a context "I like to eat" the following word is more likely to be "sushi" rather than "run" or "aeroplane." Typically n is not larger than 5 or so due to data sparsity, since longer sequences are unlikely to be seen more than once, which makes statistics unreliable.

There has been much work on n-gram language models, including smoothing approaches to account for data sparsity of higher order n-grams (or infinite order models such as that of Shareghi *et al.* (2016)). Approaches typically involve heuristic back-off to (or interpolation with) word probabilities conditioned on smaller contexts where more data is available (Chen and Goodman 1999; Goodman 2001), as well as work on fully Bayesian models, such as the hierarchical Pitman-Yor processes of (Teh 2006).

Bengio *et al.* (2003) introduced neural language models (along with the notion of word embeddings discussed in §2.2.6), which play an important role in the language modelling experiments of Chapter 4. Rather than representing words discretely and completely distinctly from one another, words would be embedded into a vector space such that similar words have similar vector representation. Thus language models can have smoother distributions and the probabilities of word generation can harness statistics from semantically similar words. However, in practice count-based methods with advanced smoothing techniques remained state-of-the-art due to the large data and computational requirements of neural language models and the difficulty in effectively training them.

Neural language modelling has since demonstrated powerful capabilities at the word level (Mikolov *et al.* 2010). Notably, long short-term memory (LSTM) models (Hochreiter and Schmidhuber 1997) have been shown to be effective for modelling long-ranging statistical influences that traditional n-gram or log-linear models are unable to model, such as matching closing parentheses to opening ones (Osband *et al.* 2016; Zaremba *et al.* 2014). De Mulder *et al.* (2015) survey neural networks for language modelling.

Such models have also demonstrated effective modelling at the character level (Martens 2011). Such work has many of the same motivations to that of character level and sub-word MT discussed in §2.2.2 and §2.2.3: words have sub-word structure that can be captured and modelling these directly can help address the data sparsity concerns that arise from word-based models. Kim et al. (2016b) compose word embeddings out of character embeddings using a convolutional layer and highway network to create a word-level output distribution (which has been used in MT models. See §2.2.2). Other work has involved combining word and character-level information as input. For example, Verwimp et al. (2017) concatenate word embeddings and character embeddings of the word to harness this sub-word information before word-level prediction. Lankinen et al. (2016) apply character-level models to the morphologically rich Finnish language, using LSTMs to encode an internal word representation before character-level prediction on the output. They demonstrate correct inflections not present in the training data can be scored better than incorrect ones. The character-based predictive approach of the last paper is promising, since out-of-vocabulary words can be generated. This is important for tasks involving generation of words and is promising for low-resource situations where many words are out-of-vocabulary: consider the implicit language model included in the neural MT framework of Ling et al. (2015) discussed in §2.2.2. However, the sub-word information need not be at the character level. In languages such as Korean, syllable and morpheme-level LMs have been used with the argument that character-level information does not effectively capture the context of the word (Yu et al. 2017).

Other work has also operated at a morpheme-level granularity (Kirchhoff *et al.* 2006; El-Desoky Mousa *et al.* 2010; Sak *et al.* 2010) or at a granularity mixed between words and sub-word units, with frequent words being included in the lexicon but less frequent words being decomposed (Shaik *et al.* 2011; Mikolov *et al.* 2012). Botha and Blunsom (2014) instead use a compositional approach where word vector representations are comprised of morpheme vectors. These models that harness sub-word information are useful for overcoming the data sparsity problem associated with lowresource language modelling.

In addition to these models trained on text, there has also been work on learning language models from speech recognition phoneme lattices (Neubig *et al.* 2012a). The idea underlying this approach is appealing because it allows for language modelling over word-like units even when a lexicon is not available, suggesting applicability of the concept to low-resource languages. They use a hierarchical Pitman-Yor process to learn a lexicon and language model by capturing all the information in a lattice. Blocked Gibbs sampling is used for inference in a weighted finite-state transducer (WFST) framework, where the WFST is created by composing the phoneme lattice with both a (dynamically evolving) lexicon FST and LM finite-state acceptor. This approach has particular relevance to the translation modelling method proposed in Chapter 5, which can be seen as a bilingual variation of this language model.

In low-resource settings, Gandhe *et al.* (2014) investigate neural network LMs, comparing them with count-based language models, and find that neural network LMs interpolated with count-based methods outperform standard n-gram models even with small quantities of training data, while Hao Fang *et al.* (2015) harness sub-word morphological information in neural network models (among other models), outperforming count-based methods without interpolating probabilities. Kurimo *et al.* (2016) investigate a variety of relevant topics for low-resource language model adaptation and decoding with sub-word units on account of the rich morphology of the Finnish language. Also having been explored for low-resource language modelling is cross-lingual language modelling, with work on interpolation of a sparse language model with one trained on a large amount of translated data (Jensson *et al.* 2008), as well as integration of speech recognition with

translation to harness statistics from target language corpora (Jensson *et al.* 2009; Xu and Fung 2013). Bellegarda (2004) review language model adaptation, and argue that small amounts of in-domain data are often more valuable than large amounts of out-of-domain data, but that adapting background models using in-domain data can be even better.

2.3 Automatic Speech Recognition

Having considered work relevant to modelling the bilingual nature of the data used in this project, we now consider work relevant to modelling speech, since language documentation starts with the collection of speech. In this section we overview work on the traditional speech recognition problem, as well as unsupervised speech modelling and adaptation of speech technology to low-resource domains.

2.3.1 Traditional Speech Recognition

Speech recognition has traditionally been framed as the problem of predicting a sequence of words w given a representation of the acoustic signal x. There are many challenges in this problem: determining an effective feature representation of the acoustic signal, accounting for interference such as reverberations, ambient noise, handling variable speaker features such as prosody, disfluencies, pitch and the rate of speech, Lombard reflexes, telephone speech, speaker intoxication, dialectal differences and accents along with addressing general difficulties of language such as an unbounded lexicon (Goldwater *et al.* 2008; Kunze *et al.* 2017; Sriram *et al.* 2017). Early work on speech recognition focused on limited domains, with an extreme example being single digit recognition. At the other end of the spectrum is large vocabulary continuous speech recognition (LVCSR) which is a much harder problem, since words may be spoken from a larger lexicon, covering a wide variety of topics, while phenomena such as coarticulation across word boundaries compound the difficulty.

The problem of speech recognition is typically framed as finding the most likely

word sequence \boldsymbol{w} given acoustic features \boldsymbol{x} :

$$\underset{\boldsymbol{w}}{\operatorname{argmax}} P(\boldsymbol{w}|\boldsymbol{x}). \tag{2.1}$$

Bayes' rule is used to factorise this probability

$$\operatorname{argmax}_{\boldsymbol{w}} P(\boldsymbol{w}|\boldsymbol{x}) = \operatorname{argmax}_{\boldsymbol{w}} P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{\phi}) P(\boldsymbol{\phi}|\boldsymbol{w}) P(\boldsymbol{w})$$
(2.2)

where $\boldsymbol{\phi}$ is a sequence of phonemes that may have been expressed in the speech. This factorisation is useful for learning model parameters. $P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{\phi})$ is described by an acoustic model, $P(\boldsymbol{\phi}|\boldsymbol{w})$ by a pronunciation lexicon and $P(\boldsymbol{w})$ by a language model.

The prevailing framework that has existed from the 1990s until today uses hidden Markov models to represent a) the lexicon and language model with transition probabilities between words and the phones in those words (the hidden states) (Lee 1990), and b) observation probabilities being described by an acoustic model. Traditionally, Gaussian mixture models were the most popular method for representing an acoustic signal given the sub-phone state, but in recent years deep neural networks have demonstrated superior performance in light of advances in the availability of data, computational power, and the algorithms used to train the networks (Hinton *et al.* 2012).

The representation of the speech signal, \boldsymbol{x} , modelled by the acoustic model is represented by a sequence of vectors. There are a variety of representations based on human perception such as Mel-frequency cepstral coefficients (MFCCs) and perceptual linear predictive (PLP) features (Hermansky 1990).

Mainstream speech recognition focuses on word-level outputs, as opposed to a sequence of phonemes. This is because in most domains we are interested in orthographic transcriptions of speech. An advantage of operating at the word level is that there is a constraint on the phoneme sequences being consistent with possible words, and this helps to reduce the search space. The disadvantage is that the lexicon of the language must be known in advance, along with the pronunciations of each word in the lexicon. In low-resource contexts the lexicon may be sparse and thus speech must be effectively recognised at the phoneme level.

2.3.2 End-to-End Speech Recognition

As mentioned above, deep neural networks have, in most places, superseded the use of Gaussian mixture models for modelling the relationship between the signal and hidden states. There is additional growing work on so-called *end-to-end* speech recognition, which involves direct discriminative training of a model to predict the transcription of an utterance given the acoustic signal using a single neural network architecture. A motivation for this end-to-end training is that the components of the speech recognition system are jointly optimized with the target objective in mind, rather than being trained separately on different objectives, leading to "compartmentalization" that can negatively affect results (Miao and Metze 2017).

Graves *et al.* (2006) introduce the connectionist temporal classification (CTC) loss function, which allows recurrent neural networks (RNNs) to be trained without segmentation of the label sequence, even though there is a significant mismatch in the number of input acoustic feature vectors and output labels. This opened the door to body of work on CTC-based models with underlying RNNs in order to predict phonemes (Graves *et al.* 2013). This set a new state-of-the art for results on the TIMIT dataset, while facilitating simpler formulation of speech recognition models that do not need phoneme segmented training data. Other work extends on this, exploring other underlying neural architectures including convolutional neural networks (CNNs) (Li and Wu 2016; Zhang *et al.* 2016c; Zhang *et al.* 2016b). Neural networks trained end-to-end with the CTC loss function in order to predict phonemic transcriptions play an important role in Chapter 6.

CTC has also been used in the context of orthographic transcription prediction, either by incorporating a lexicon and language model (Miao *et al.* 2015; Zweig *et al.* 2016; Wang *et al.* 2017b) a character-level language model (Zenkel *et al.* 2017), or by discarding the concept of a phone and performing direct character-level prediction (Hannun *et al.* 2014; Graves and Jaitly 2014; Maas *et al.* 2015), word-level prediction (Soltau *et al.* 2016), or prediction of multi-character units (Liu *et al.* 2017b). Audhkhasi *et al.* (2017) perform direct word based prediction using CTC, presenting techniques to mitigate the issue where the number of possible output words requires more training data. Importantly, results still underperform use of phone-based CTC and 4-gram language models.

Beyond CTC, there has been exploration in various other approaches to end-to-end speech, including neural attention (Chorowski *et al.* 2015; Chan *et al.* 2015; Chorowski and Jaitly 2016; Bahdanau *et al.* 2016; Shan *et al.* 2017), segmental models (Lu *et al.* 2016; Tang *et al.* 2017), multitask combinations of CTC with attention (Kim *et al.* 2016a) and segmental models (Lu *et al.* 2017), and discriminative end-to-end training of lattice free maximum mutual information (LF-MMI) models (Hadian *et al.* 2018). Variations on CTC have also been proposed such as the simplified AutoSegCriterion of Collobert *et al.* (2016), who use the CTC-based objective in conjunction with CNNs as the underlying neural network. A key insight from exploration in this space, corroborated by experiments with various architectures, is that direct character prediction can be effective, bypassing phonemic annotation and allowing for a simpler overall speech recognition architecture. This grapheme-level prediction is useful for low-resource written languages, but is not directly relevant to the scenario we focus on in this thesis.

2.3.3 Unsupervised Speech Modelling

Even for languages where we are fortunate enough to have a small amounts of transcribed speech, the amount of untranscribed data will always be much greater. There has been some work on semi-supervised speech recognition, which in addition to the transcribed data harnesses this untranscribed data for improved speech recognition, and is able to reach par performance with less labelled data through the use of autoencoders on phoneme transcription (Dhaka and Salvi 2016; Tietz *et al.* 2017), as well as LVCSR using transcription hypotheses from initial models for retraining (Thomas *et al.* 2017; Nallasamy *et al.* 2012).

In the unsupervised case, with a total absence of labelled data, there are two main areas of work: unsupervised term discovery, and sub-word unit discovery. Both areas of work are motivated by its applications to low-resource languages where annotated data may be very scarce, as well as its potential in modelling human cognition and early-age learning. Unsupervised term discovery seeks to discover new words in the acoustic signal. These words can be found directly from speech features, using approaches based on segmental dynamic time warping (Park and Glass 2008; Jansen *et al.* 2010) or acoustic word embeddings (Levin *et al.* 2013; Kamper *et al.* 2017); or from 1-best transcriptions (Godard *et al.* 2016); or alternatively from phoneme lattices (Neubig *et al.* 2012a) (see §2.2.7 for more on this last approach).

Sub-word unit discovery, on the other hand, involves learning a relatively small set of phonetic units that can be composed together to create the words in a language (Varadarajan et al. 2008; Kempton and Moore 2014; Liu et al. 2017a). For example, Lee and Glass (2012) segment speech and learn sub-word units using Bayesian nonparametric methods in a hidden Markov model (HMM) framework. The approach learns sub-word units that correlate closely with English phones, which suggests it can find appropriate phone-like units in contexts where we might not know appropriate units in advance. This can be motivated in the context of endangered languages, where we might not always be able to assume prior knowledge of a useful phoneme inventory. While such approaches to sub-word unit discovery are promising given the inevitably low amount of transcribed data available, in the most language documentation contexts a linguist will be able to determine the phonetic categories of the language in a reasonably short amount (such a step can be considered a constant cost per language, unlike the manual transcription of recorded speech). However, even when an appropriate phoneme inventory is known in advance, semi-supervised approaches harnessing untranscribed speech on top of existing phonetic knowledge make for an appealing line of research relevant to language documentation.

2.3.4 Low-Resource and Multilingual Speech Recognition

Just as data sparsity was an issue in MT, so too is it in ASR. There has been a variety of work on developing speech recognition systems for low-resource languages, even widely spoken languages for which there are many millions of speakers but for which limited resources exist to train ASR systems, such as pronunciation dictionaries (Le and Besacier 2009). This includes collecting data directly from speakers for training traditional systems for as-of-yet unexplored languages (Laleye *et al.* 2016). "The biggest cost factor in such a development is the need of training data for the acoustic model" (Grézl *et al.* 2011), therefore much responsibility lies in the approaches to data collection for acoustic model training, such as the *Woefzela tool* (De Vries *et al.* 2014) (see §2.1). Beyond speech data, collection and effective preprocessing of text data from the Internet has been explored for low-resource languages (Le and Besacier 2005; Gauthier *et al.* 2016; Kurimo *et al.* 2016). For a review of ASR for low-resource languages, see Besacier *et al.* (2014).

While much of this language-specific work is useful, promise lies in work in two close (even overlapping) topics: *domain adaptation*, whereby the goal is to adapt existing acoustic models trained on large amounts of data to target domains with little data, and *multilingual acoustic modelling*, whereby an acoustic model is trained on data from more than one language. This distinction has also been referred to as that of "model adaptation" versus "heterogeneous transfer" (Kunze *et al.* 2017). In both cases, the idea is to harness a broader range of information to improve performance in a specific domain, or to generalize better across domains.

Domain adaptation may occur in a monolingual context. This includes work on adapting the acoustic model to the properties of a given speaker, such as accent, pitch and pronunciation variation (Sakti *et al.* 2011; Hofmann *et al.* 2012). However, it also may involve adapting an acoustic model trained on one language to effectively recognise the sounds of other related languages (Imseng *et al.* 2014; Scharenborg *et al.* 2017) and more distant languages (Schultz and Waibel 2001a; Le and Besacier 2005; Stolcke *et al.* 2006; Tóth *et al.* 2008; Plahl *et al.* 2011; Do *et al.* 2014b).

In multilingual acoustic modelling an acoustic model is trained in data from more than one language. The expected advantages this approach has are the same as those for multitask learning more generally: prevention of overfitting, eavesdropping (attempting other related tasks can guide the model to informative features), and data amplification (different noise added to same feature may help) (Heigold *et al.* 2013). There is overlap between these conceptual categories of adaptation and multilingual acoustic modelling. For example, Sam *et al.* (2012) perform unsupervised acoustic model adaptation for non-native speakers using multilingual acoustic models, while Thomas *et al.* (2012) train a multilingual model on large amounts of Spanish and German data before adaptation to 1 hour of English (Thomas *et al.* (2017) do similar multilingual + domain adaptation). Such approaches are not exclusive to low-resource languages: Bohac *et al.* (2014) use multilingual data to create systems to rapidly adapt to people with different speech impairments.

In training an acoustic model to recognize the sounds in multiple languages, there are two main approaches that can be taken: common phonemes between languages can be merged into a single symbolic representation (say, based on their representation in the international phonetic alphabet) (Köhler 1998; Lin et al. 2009; Grézl et al. 2011), despite differences in articulation between the languages and allophonic variation within those languages. The other approach is to treat all phonemes in each language as symbolically distinct from all the phonemes in all the other languages (Thomas et al. 2012; Heigold et al. 2013; Ghoshal et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2013; Xu et al. 2015; Sercu et al. 2016). In the latter case, the acoustic models typically share information in lower layers of a neural network, but have separate layers for language-specific prediction, which can also yield improvements. (Vu et al. 2014) compare the two approaches with varying results depending on how related the languages are. For non-related languages in a low-resource rapid adaptation setup most relevant to the work in this thesis, they found no merging strategy consistently performed the best. Vu et al. (2012) use a combined approach, where a merged universal phoneme inventory between languages is used for multilingual training, before adaptation and extension of the phoneme set to a low-resource language not in the original training set. Multilingual models have also been used in end-to-end frameworks. For example, Toshniwal et al. (2017) use the attentional model of Chan et al. (2015), consistently outperforming language-specific models.

Despite this large body of work, there currently exists no freely available universal phoneme transcription tool that can be used by linguists in an automated or semiautomated transcription workflow.

The principle behind multilingual acoustic modelling is to generalize better. Even monolingual speech recognition systems typically aim to generalize well to voices unheard in the training data. However, sometimes generalization isn't the goal. In language documentation settings, there may be just a few speakers whose speech is being recorded and forming the basis of linguistic analysis. While multilingual acoustic modeling may help generalize across speakers, it is questionable how well a multilingual acoustic model can help with speech recognition for such single-speaker contexts as opposed to a model trained on just a small amount of in-domain data.

In addition to automated approaches to transcription, there has been work on crowd-sourcing transcriptions in a low-resource domain from non-native speakers (and in fact speakers with no knowledge of the target language at all). If we view the human transcribers as acoustic models, then this is analogous to cross-lingual acoustic modelling (Jyothi and Hasegawa-Johnson 2015; Liu *et al.* 2016).

2.3.5 Tonal Speech Recognition

Tonal modelling presents a challenge for ASR systems since tonal information is suprasegmental, spanning many frames (Hu *et al.* 2014; Mortensen *et al.* 2016). Most work in tone recognition sits in the context of speech recognition, though there also has been work on tone-only transcription (Bird 1994).

Advances in tone recognition have involved improving approaches to extracting pitch features from the waveform (Huang and Seide 2000; Lei *et al.* 2006). However, ASR systems often do not incorporate pitch information for speech recognition of tonal languages (Metze *et al.* 2013), as spectral information has performed adequately, with methods instead relying on contextual information for tonal disambiguation via the language model (Le and Besacier 2009; Feng *et al.* 2012) and tone modelling in language-dependent setups, for example accounting for language-specific tone sandhi (Lamel *et al.* 2011). However pitch information has been shown to be useful for even non-tonal languages in neural network frameworks, where prosody is traditionally perceived only to be valuable at the sentential level. To this end Metze *et al.* (2013) explore explicit (*tone-tag*) and embedded (*tonal phone*) modelling approaches for tonal languages (a common distinction between approaches is that between *embedded* tonal modelling, where they are predicted separately (Lee *et al.* 2002)) finding that

pitch information does improve speech recognition for non-tonal languages and that the *tonal phone* model robustly performed better. The work of Ghahremani *et al.* (2014) corroborates this: they propose a method for pitch feature extraction, and find that along with strong improvements for tonal languages when tone is marked in the lexicon, modest improvements for non-tonal languages are found too. Pitch features as input features in tonal prediction is are used in experiments in Chapter 6.

2.4 Machine Translation Meets Speech Recognition

So far we have discussed MT and ASR separately, but there is much overlap. Both are sequence transduction tasks that involve generating text. Issues that affect MT, such as data sparsity and low ratios of annotated to unannotated data, also affect ASR.

In addition to independent research on speech recognition in machine translation there has also been a significant amount of work on problems that involve both MT and speech recognition. The two most popular problems involving the intersection of speech recognition and MT are speech-to-speech translation and computer-aided translation. In this section we discuss work on these problems. Importantly, in addition to these topics we discuss more recent work on training translation models directly from speech, which is of relevance to the translation modelling method proposed in Chapter 5.

2.4.1 Speech-to-Speech Translation

There has been extensive work on combining ASR and statistical machine translation (SMT) systems, with the work largely focused on coupling the systems for the problem of speech translation (Vidal 1997; Matusov *et al.* 2005; Ney 1999; Casacuberta *et al.* 2004). Speech-to-speech translation involves taking a speech signal in a source language and producing speech in a target language. Traditionally this problem has been approached using speech recognition, MT, and speech synthesis systems in cascade, such that the source speech is first transcribed into text before text-based translation into the target language before finally applying speech synthesis. However, rather than feeding the one-best speech recognition hypothesis into the MT system, popular approaches change the interface between the systems, feeding instead the speech recognition lattice into the MT system. In this way, the extent to which errors in the speech recognition system are propagated to the system is minimised, since more information in the form of alternative hypotheses are captured in the lattice, which is useful when the 1-best transcription is false.

2.4.2 Computer-Aided Translation

There has also been a variety of work on using translation models to improve ASR performance (Vidal et al. 2006; Alabau et al. 2011), which includes the popular computer-aided translation (CAT) use case pioneered by (Brown et al. 1994). This task involves humans working with computers to perform translation. The human translator is presented with source text to translate and is tasked with producing a spoken translation. The computer then recognises this speech and produces a target transcription. This is fundamentally just a speech recognition task in the target language. However, the speech recognition system is given additional information in the form of the source text which can inform transcription hypotheses in the target language. Work on computer-aided translation has typically involved modifying language model probabilities in the ASR system (Rodriguez et al. 2012; Pelemans et al. 2015; Ng et al. 2013) using N-best lists (Paulik et al. 2005). Additionally, word lattice based approaches have also been pursued (Khadivi and Nev 2008; Reddy and Rose 2010). The transcription of multiple streams of interpreted speech has also been addressed with the aid of machine translation (Miranda et al. 2012a; Miranda et al. 2012b). However, in all of these pieces of work, the translation models are trained on substantial external written corpora such as European parliament proceedings or the Canadian Hansards. In a low-resource context, such information will not be available.

2.4.3 Translation Modelling of Speech

A third area of work in which speech recognition meets MT is work on training translation models on representations of speech and corresponding text. Such work has been motivated by speech-to-speech translation, using word-level automatic transcriptions of interpreted speech to train a translation model more appropriate to the spoken nature of the data (Paulik and Waibel 2009; Paulik and Waibel 2010; Paulik and Waibel 2013). Other work involves source-language phonemic representation along with word-level translations in the target language. Stüker and Waibel (2008) and Stüker *et al.* (2009) use 1-best phonemic representations of the source speech for translation modelling and lexicon induction using traditional IBM models of word alignment. The motivation is that such an approach would allow the written form of the language to be bypassed. This could potentially facilitate speech translation of non-written languages (Besacier *et al.* 2006).

A key challenge in this task is learning an effective translation model given such small amounts of erroneous transcriptions and building meaningful correspondences between phonemes and target words, where there is a substantial mismatch in granularity of the token. To address this, Besacier et al. (2006) perform unsupervised word segmentation and discovery on the phoneme sequences before translation modelling. As an alternative model for this task, Stahlberg et al. (2012) propose MODEL 3P, an extension to IBM Model 3 that includes additional word length parameters in the generative model, allowing for more effective alignment between phonemes and words, and word segmentation of phonemes. As well as word-to-phoneme alignment, MODEL 3P has been used for pronunciation dictionary induction (Stahlberg et al. 2013; Stahlberg et al. 2014b; Stahlberg et al. 2015) to help facilitate speech recognition in a low-resource scenario without target language training data (Stahlberg et al. 2014a). Jiang et al. (2011) investigate translation using a phonetic representation of the input sentence. However, they train a translation model in a phrase-based SMT framework on standard word-based parallel corpora before converting it into phonemic representations to reduce the ill effects of recognition errors at test time for speech-to-speech translation, thus relying on predetermined word segmentation.

Such work is often motivated by the low-resource bilingual data scenario, as is the motivation for the work in this thesis. However, the approaches listed so far are limited in that they assume an error-prone 1-best phoneme transcription of speech. As we saw in §2.4.1, it is well documented that error propagation can be minimized through the use of lattices or n-best lists instead of 1-best transcriptions.

More recently, and contemporaneous to the work of this thesis, there has also been work on directly relating speech to a target translation without first performing transcription at the phoneme level. In this spirit, Duong et al. (2016a) use an attentional model for their proposed task of speech-to-text alignment. Their stacked pyramidal LSTM-based attentional encoder facilitates speech-to-text alignment almost as accurately as using gold source phoneme transcriptions. Though their model has the capacity to learn effective representations for phone recognition, translations were not harnessed to improve this transcription, with the tasks of speech-to-text alignment and translation being emphasized. Anastasopoulos et al. (2016) present another model for this task, which marry a reparameterization of IBM Model 2 (Dyer et al. 2013) with dynamic time warping for speech-to-translation alignment, outperforming the neural model. This model was subsequently extended upon to provide translations of unlabelled segments of speech (Anastasopoulos et al. 2017). Their approach outperforms a model for a similar task which instead uses unsupervised term discovery cascaded with MT (Bansal et al. 2017b) instead of using the translations to inform the discovering of units, which has been shown to be beneficial (Bansal et al. 2017a). This line of work has parallels to standard unsupervised term discovery discussed in §2.3.3, with the key distinction being the availability of translations for model training, which can help inform the discovery. The discovery of these word units in a bilingual framework allows for partial translation based on word spotting.

More recently still there has also now been work on full translation directly from speech using attentional models (Berard *et al.* 2016). Weiss *et al.* (2017) go further to perform source language speech recognition jointly with direct translation, which has the benefit of using phonemic transcriptions where available in order to train the model for automatic transcription. All of the work in the last two paragraphs involves bypassing a phonemic representation, meaning the system is not constrained by errors propagated from the acoustic model and generalizes to scenarios where the phoneme inventory is not known or an acoustic model cannot be effectively adapted. Yet for language documentation purposes, there still is an incentive to acquire phonemic transcriptions. These two goals are not inimical. As Weiss *et al.* (2017) show, training phonemic transcription jointly with the translation task when transcriptions are available is beneficial for the translation task. Perhaps phonemic transcription can benefit via joint translation model training too.

The areas we have discussed: data acquisition, translation modelling, speech recognition, and their combination, provide much of the context for the work in this thesis. Key work in this thesis sits within this intersectional area of translation modelling of speech (Chapters 3 and 5), drawing on understanding in machine translation and speech recognition. Other work addresses language modelling, relevant to both speech recognition and MT, while still tapping into bilingual information (Chapter 4). Monolingual speech recognition is explored too, addressing the nuances of tone and the language documentation context (Chapter 6).

Chapter 3

Translation Modelling of Phonemes

Large portions of this chapter have appeared in the following paper:

Adams et al. (2015) Inducing bilingual lexicons from small quantities of sentence-aligned phonemic transcriptions, in *Proceedings of the 12th International Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies*, Da Nang, Vietnam. pp. 248–255.

3.1 Introduction

For low-resource languages, speech recordings are the primary source of data. Spoken translations into a major language, along with transcriptions of these translations, are easy to obtain and—in the case of transcriptions—might be derived automatically. Armed with speech recordings in the source language, along with orthographic transcriptions in the target language, we can start to model the correspondences between them. When little bilingual data is available, we have limited information about these correspondences between the spans of speech on the source side, and the words on the target side. The presence of errors multiplies the indeterminacies. To get started, we introduce two assumptions.

The first assumption is that (a) we have ample quantities of phonetic transcriptions and (b) that these transcriptions are error-free. In this chapter we conduct experiments to assess whether sentences of unsegmented phonemes paired with translations can be effectively modelled given these two assumptions. We then relax the first assumption and scale the available training set down to as little as 1,000 sentences of parallel data. Such a small quantity of data is a reasonable amount for a project in documentary linguistics to procure manually with high transcription accuracy. This serves as our first step towards more realistic data. Aside from helping to reign in complexity, this lets us isolate the translation modelling aspect of this work from confounding speech recognition factors. Subsequent chapters (Chapter 5 onwards) of this thesis will additionally remove the second assumption of error-free transcription.

This chapter proceeds as follows. As a preliminary step, we first investigate modelling the bilingual data in an end-to-end machine translation context that makes both of the above assumptions. This is done in order to assess how the challenge of coping with unsegmented phonemes can be addressed and whether comparable translation quality can be attained in the absence of segmentation. Can unsegmented phonemes and target words be meaningfully aligned? If so, then perhaps information from the larger language can inform how we process the smaller language. We then relax this assumption of ample data, scaling available data down in the context of a bilingual lexicon induction task. Bilingual lexicon induction is a key step in the language documentation workflow. We compare the strengths and weaknesses of a variety of models, including (a) monolingual segmentation followed by alignment, (b) a model that jointly segments and aligns in a hierarchical inversion transduction grammar framework, (c) traditional IBM Model word alignment models as well as (d) an extension to IBM Model 3 proposed by Stahlberg *et al.* (2012).

3.2 Phoneme-Based Machine Translation

Before we investigate bilingual lexicon induction directly, we begin with a preliminary experiment into translation modelling in an end-to-end machine translation context, demonstrating that translation between foreign phoneme sequences and English is feasible in the absence of word segmentation and punctuation. This is accomplished by applying non-parametric Bayesian methods in an inversion transduction grammar (ITG; see Wu (1997)) framework. Though the later portion of this chapter focuses on bilingual lexicon induction through construction of a translation model, this constitutes just one main component in an end-to-end machine translation pipeline. We perform machine translation here as a preliminary step in order to get an understanding of how effective unsegmented sequences of phonemes can be modelled if ample data is available, and how it compares to word-based machine translation systems.

There is value in machine translation between endangered languages and English and vice versa in its own right. First, it has the potential to open up a world of educational information to speakers of small languages for which manual translation of a wide variety of materials is impossible, though this involves the more challenging task of translation into the endangered language, for which language model quality will be limited by available data. Second, in some instances it could arguably reduce the rate of language death since there will be more of an incentive for speakers of small languages to continue speaking their language if more information is available in it. Third, it would provide a measure of how well a language has been documented. The more comprehensive the data the machine translation system has to work with, the better the quality the translations can be expected to be. Because of this, shortcomings in machine translation quality can highlight gaps in the collected data, guiding the elicitation of more data. Also, machine translation quality indicates a lower bound on what humans could conceivably learn from the data. If a machine can translate to a certain level using the data, then it could be expected that humans can do at least as well (Abney and Bird 2010).

With the extremely low amount of speech data that is the focus of this thesis, we cannot expect effective end-to-end machine translation. There are many barriers to the task of machine translation of endangered languages. Since we must work with speech, we face the problem of determining appropriate phonemic units for the language and sourcing an acoustic model capable of detecting useful phonemes. However, without a strong pre-existing language model or lexicon, automatically transcribing audio is very error-prone, making word or phrase alignment more difficult. Other issues in speech processing and machine translation are also present, such as determining a useful word segmentation. Furthermore, without linguistic data, actually evaluating the machine translation systems on real-world data is problematic, since it depends on a pre-existing test set.

Experimental assumptions are made to address the scenario where sufficiently large quantities of data have been acquired by means of this new-wave language documentation effort and use of this data has made it possible for acoustic model errors to be resolved to a high degree of accuracy. Error free transcription of English is also assumed. There is hope that the negative effects of these issues can be mitigated to some degree through an increased rate of data collection due to the proliferation of cheap smartphones and other digital technology, however the remainder of the work in this thesis removes these assumptions.

The work demonstrates that translation from parallel sentences of foreign phonemes (without word segmentation) to English text is possible in two substantially different statistical frameworks and can achieve accuracy approaching that of word–word systems.

3.2.1 Alignment Approaches

We compare two approaches for the task of phoneme–word phrase alignment, which include a traditional maximum likelihood based approach, as well as a hierarchical Bayesian grammar.

IBM Word Alignment Models

GIZA++ (Och and Ney 2003) is the baseline that follows the standard statistical machine translation (SMT) pipeline of performing alignment with the IBM Models (Brown *et al.* 1993). This approach to alignment was used in seminal work on phoneme–word alignment (Stüker and Waibel 2008; Stüker *et al.* 2009). The problem with this approach is that it attempts to capture relationships between individual foreign phonemes and English words, which is extremely difficult.

Figure 3.1 shows the correct alignments for word–word based models and phoneme– word based models. This illustration highlights why token-level alignment at finer granularities is more challenging: there are many more ways things can go wrong. Moreover, the vocabulary size on the phoneme side is lower, making unique alignment

das	ist	hier	nic	ht de	er fal
		_	\succ	\checkmark	
.1.			1	\sim	1
this	1S	not	tne	case	nere

das?ısthi: enıçtdɛefal

Figure 3.1: Correct alignments for word–word models (top) and phoneme–word models (bottom).

with word-level translations more challenging.

Bayesian Inversion Transduction Grammars

A more promising model for the task of machine translation of phonemic foreign sequences into English is the Bayesian inversion transduction grammar framework of Neubig *et al.* (2011b); Neubig *et al.* (2012b). Alignments are obtained through Bayesian learning of ITGs (Wu 1997) which completely describe the sentence and its translation as a tree of aligned phrases and binary reordering operations and allow for alignment via efficient parsing techniques.

However, in contrast to the preceding work involving Bayesian ITG modelling of many-to-many alignments, where phrases were modelled only at terminal nodes, (Cherry and Lin 2007; Zhang *et al.* 2008; Blunsom *et al.* 2009) the method of Neubig *et al.* (2011b) models phrase-alignments at each node in the ITG using Bayesian non-parametric methods to encourage learning of larger phrase translation units for simpler models, backing off to smaller phrases when appropriate to explain the data. This avoids the issue of only modelling translations of minimal phrases, which otherwise has to be overcome with heuristic phrase extraction methods.

Figure 3.2, illustrates the generative story of a German–English sentence pair, with phrases of different granularities being captured. The REG and INV tags illustrate the reordering capacities of the ITG trees, with REG being a monotone alignment



Figure 3.2: An ITG structure learnt by PIALIGN. The phonemes represent the German sentence 'das ist hier nicht der Fall.' Note that PIALIGN forces alignments down to individual tokens, but the leaf nodes presented here represent alignments that were generated as single phrase by the model.

ordering and INV flipping the English side with respect to the foreign phonemes. Allowing flipping at each branch in the tree allows for the vast majority of sentence reorderings to be expressed.

Beyond allowing phrase translations to be captured at varying granularities in a statistical framework free of heuristics, another advantage of this joint learning approach over IBM Model alignment with heuristic phrase extraction (and over UWS GIZA++ discussed in §3.3.1) is that the segmentation on the phoneme side can be informed by the English, which has been shown to be valuable (Xu *et al.* 2008; Chang *et al.* 2008; Nguyen *et al.* 2010).

We use the freely available PIALIGN¹ implementation of Neubig *et al.* (2011b); Neubig *et al.* (2012b). Readers are encouraged to delve into Graham Neubig's thesis (Neubig 2012) for a more in-depth exposition.

¹www.phontron.com/pialign/tool

3.2.2 Experimental Setup

Data

We used 241k sentences of pretokenized German–English training data from the Europarl Corpus (Koehn 2005), with development and test sets taken from the 2005 ACL shared task on machine translation.² German data was used since it allowed for scaling up to this substantial amount of data, while permitting easier manual annotation of lexical entries and interpretability of errors. Although German and English are more closely related languages than language pairs encountered in linguistic fieldwork, modelling of the language pair is still complex due to varying word order between the languages and the morphological richness of German relative to English.

For all systems, training data was filtered for sentences where both the source and target side were 100 tokens or less when segmented at the character level. Sentences where the fertility (the ratio of tokens on one side to tokens on the other) was greater than 9 were removed, which constituted a small subset of the training sentences. For the English language model, the full German–English subset of Europarl was used.

For word–word systems, the data was then left as is for training. In the case of phoneme–word translation, the German side of the corpus was converted to a string of phonemes using the MARY text-to-speech system (Schröder and Trouvain 2003), where the phoneme set used is a subset of SAMPA relevant to German.³ After punctuation and whitespace were removed, the German data was segmented at the phoneme level. Stress markers and syllable boundaries that aren't typical outputs of automatic speech recognition (ASR) systems were removed. The English data remained tokenized at the word level.

Settings

For alignment, GIZA++ (Och and Ney 2003) was used with default settings. In the case of PIALIGN, default settings were used with the exception that the base measure was set to coocl1, a log-linear interpolation of phrase co-occurrence probabilities

 $^{^2}$ statmt.org/wpt05/mt-shared-task

³phon.ucl.ac.uk/home/sampa/german.htm



Figure 3.3: BLEU scores comparing phrase tables based on GIZA++ and PIALIGN for phoneme–word and word–word based MT systems translating from German to English.

in each direction, with a discount of 5 (as opposed to IBM Model 1 probabilities as a base measure, which are a poor prior when fine granularity tokens are used (Neubig *et al.* 2012b)).

We used Moses (Koehn *et al.* 2007) for tuning and testing. We performed minimum error-rate tuning (MERT) with cube-pruning for both the GIZA++ and PI-ALIGN phrase tables. For testing, the decoder was used with default settings.

The English language model was the same for both word-word and phonemeword systems and was a 5-gram interpolated Kneser-Ney model (Kneser and Ney 1995) learnt using KenLM (Heafield 2011).

3.2.3 Results and Discussion

Figure 3.3 shows the BLEU scores for the word–word and phoneme–word systems as training data is scaled from 1k sentences to ~241k sentences.

For word–word translation, GIZA++ and PIALIGN phrase tables are competitive, with GIZA++ performance scaling as an almost perfectly logarithmic function of the number of training sentences. For phoneme–word translation, performance between the approaches begins to diverge at 128k sentences, when PIALIGN gains a \sim 2.5 BLEU point advantage.

This advantage of PIALIGN over GIZA++ for phoneme-word translation is expected, due to the aforementioned reason of PIALIGN naturally capturing translation at varying granularities, while GIZA++ produces translation model probabilities just at the token level, requiring subsequent heuristic phrase extraction. In this sense, it is somewhat surprising how well GIZA++ manages to keep pace with PIALIGN on smaller training sets. The use of a common language model in the MT pipeline probably helps to normalize the scores, which are based on word-level English output: as long as there is sufficient signal to produce the output word tokens, the quality of source-side segmentation is not so important. In the next section (§3.3) we evaluate the quality of the entries intrinsically, using human annotators for deeper insight into the quality of the learnt phrases.

While application of GIZA++ allows for phrase-based machine translation, it still depends on combining two sets of one-many word alignments using heuristics to create phrasal alignments. While this is sufficient for word-word translation tasks and char-char translation tasks for similar languages (Vilar *et al.* 2007), the lack of co-occurrence of letters in dissimilar languages makes for poor word alignments. That is, it isn't very helpful to model the probability of an English letter given a German one. It's important to note that this same issue extends to the task of aligning phoneme sequences with words, as lexical translation probabilities that relate phonemes to words have little meaning and make effective modelling impossible.

Most importantly, these results demonstrate that machine translation using sentencealigned phoneme streams and English is feasible, although the performance significantly underperforms that of traditional frameworks where punctuation and wordlevel tokenization is present. More importantly for the purposes of this thesis, the results actually suggest that the alignments and phrase tables are meaningful and can be potentially used for other tasks such as bilingual lexicon induction that are less data-onerous than end-to-end MT.

There are a number of ways a phoneme-based machine translation could be cre-

ated. In this section we have evaluated just one setup using PIALIGN and Moses in the interest of demonstrating the feasibility of the approach. Though investigating the efficacy of other phrase alignment tools in the task of translation between foreign phoneme sequences and written text could be done, the point is that the issue of no word segmentation and the fine granularity of phonemes can reasonably be overcome, and in the rest of the thesis we consider other tasks that involve translation modelling but not machine translation.

Experimental results have the limitation that spoken speech takes a different form to written speech converted to phonemes, with spoken speech exhibiting additional complicating features such as coarticulation. Furthermore, while we scale up results to hundreds of thousands of sentences, if such accurate phonemic transcriptions were available, it's likely there would be word segmentation provided by a linguist.

3.3 Phoneme-Based Bilingual Lexicon Induction

In this section we investigate a task more directly relevant to documentary linguistics: creating bilingual lexicons. We consider the task of automatically learning monolingual and bilingual lexical items from unsegmented phonemic transcriptions of bilingual audio where segments of speech in one language are paired with spoken translations in another. In doing so, we remove the first assumption articulated in the introduction of this chapter, which was of an abundance of phonemic transcriptions in parallel with orthographic translations in a larger language. Relaxing this assumption brings us closer to a real-world scenario in its own right, but in addition, it makes the second assumption (that the phoneme transcriptions are correct) more realistic, since the more limited the amount of source-language data, the more reasonable it is that a linguist may manually transcribe it.

Such transcriptions could arise from two scenarios. The first is when future philologists phonetically transcribe speech of a language post-mortem, without native speakers to assist in word segmentation. In such instances lexicon induction would aid in linguistic analysis of the language. The second is by instead employing automatic speech recognition technologies for the same task. In both cases lexicon induction could aid in bootstrapping ASR systems targeting the language's untranscribed audio. We assume a transcription of the English translation, since English speech can be reliably and cheaply transcribed.

We evaluate existing models that have been used for this purpose in previous work, and report two additional models which demonstrate improvements in lexicon induction. We show that monolingual and bilingual lexical entries can be learnt with high precision from corpora having just 1k–10k sentences. We explain how our results support the application of alignment algorithms to the task of documenting endangered languages.

Previous work on bilingual lexicon induction using sentence-aligned corpora has focused primarily on large corpora of written text (Wu and Xia 1994; Melamed 1996; Caseli *et al.* 2006; Lardilleux *et al.* 2010). Bilingual lexicon induction applied to phonemically transcribed audio, on the other hand, introduces problems including the lack of word segmentation and the small quantities of data. There has been limited work on learning lexicons from phonemic transcriptions. Stüker and Waibel (2008); Stüker *et al.* (2009), mentioned above, take a first look at phoneme–word translation modelling, using traditional IBM Models (Brown *et al.* 1993) in order to determine alignments, and applying heuristics to extract dictionaries. Stahlberg *et al.* (2012) propose MODEL 3P, which builds upon the generative story of IBM Model 3 by adding additional word length parameters and allowing it to significantly outperform the IBM models (Stahlberg *et al.* 2013; Stahlberg *et al.* 2014a; Stahlberg *et al.* 2014b).

Building on this work, we investigate two models that haven't been considered in this context, and demonstrate that they can outperform the models that have been considered. The first performs unsupervised word segmentation followed by word alignment. The second jointly performs word segmentation and alignment.

Importantly, we evaluate the models on a data set that is significantly smaller than they have been evaluated on previously in this chapter and in other work, containing between just 1k and 10k sentences, corresponding to 13k and 132k words. As a point of comparison, Stahlberg *et al.* (2012) used 123k sentence pairs, Stüker *et al.* (2009) used 146k parallel sentences, Stüker and Waibel (2008) used 155k parallel sentences and Stahlberg *et al.* (2013) use 30k Bible verses for lexicon extraction. Our training set likely corresponds to roughly 1 to 10 hours of speech (Cieri and Liberman 2006; Bird and Chiang 2012; Bird *et al.* 2014b). These quantities of data are realistic in the context of documentation of endangered languages, though the applicability of these techniques also applies more generally to low-resource languages that have no body of written resources.

In the previous section, we evaluated MT for two different translation models. That extrinsic evaluation yields limited insight to the quality of the lexical entries on the phonemic side, and their implicit segmentation. We now run experiments to intrinsically assess the induced lexicons' precisions at k entries. We do this by applying the alignment models to a German–English corpus, using heuristics (namely, limiting the number of translations of a given word) to extract lexical entries before having them manually annotated.

Results demonstrate that hundreds of bilingual lexical entries can be learnt with good precision, with the additional proposed methods outperforming Model 3P on a data set of 10k sentences. This offers promise of the technique's applicability in a language documentation context. Moreover, the majority of incorrect entries correspond to well segmented, but misaligned, source words.

3.3.1 Translation Models

Our lexicon induction approach uses various phrase alignment techniques to account for the lack of word segmentation and learn phrase translation tables. There are several methods for addressing word segmentation in machine translation (Deng and Byrne 2005; Xu *et al.* 2008; Chang *et al.* 2008; Nguyen *et al.* 2010; Stahlberg *et al.* 2014b), but there has been limited application in a low-resource context. In this section we examine four representative methods to apply to parallel sentences comprised of source phoneme tokens and target words.

GIZA++ and MODEL 3P have been investigated previously for the task of phonemeword alignment and are evaluated as a point of comparison for the other two methods, UWS GIZA++ and PIALIGN, which we demonstrate are effective for this task.

this is not the case here Fertility this isthe here not caseDistortion this is here not the case Word length Ţ this/3 is/4 here/3 not/4 the/3 case/3 Translation 7 d a s ? 1 s t h i: e n 1 ç t d ɛ ɐ f a l

(das ist hier nicht der Fall)

Figure 3.4: The generative model of MODEL 3P, which extends IBM Model 3 to include additional word length parameters. This allows it to model relationships between source phonemes and target words better than the traditional IBM models.

Model 3P

MODEL 3P (Stahlberg *et al.* 2012) builds upon the generative model of IBM Model 3 (Brown *et al.* 1993) by adding additional word length parameters (see Figure 3.4), allowing it to outperform traditional IBM models on phoneme–word alignment tasks. After initializing the model with learnt IBM Model parameters, the PISA implementation of Model $3P^4$ uses a genetic algorithm to learn the parameters of the model.

The additional word length parameters, distinct from the fertility parameters (which in a traditional model indicates how many target words a source word is mapped to), allow MODEL 3P to learn latent word representations that would not be able to be captured in a direct phoneme–word mapping. This allows for better segmentation performance. The key distinction between the fertility parameters and the word length parameters is based on their relationship to the reordering step. Fertility happens before reordering in the generative story. If the word length step also happened before reordering, the phonemes of a word would likely be reordered. Instead, including this step as a separate step from fertility that happens after reordering

⁴code.google.com/p/pisa
das rs t hi: \mathfrak{r} nic t der fal this is not the case here

Figure 3.5: Unsupervised segmentation of words followed by alignment, as done in the UWS GIZA++ approach.

preserves the monotonicity of the phonemes representing the word.

UWS Giza++

UWS GIZA++ (unsupervised word segmentation and GIZA++) first performs unsupervised word segmentation using the Bayesian Pitman-Yor language model (Mochihashi *et al.* 2009), as implemented in the tool pgibbs⁵ (Neubig 2014). Alignment is then performed between these phoneme sequences and the English words using GIZA++ (see Figure 3.5). This was hypothesized to be more appropriate than GIZA++ alone since it would result in breaking the foreign phoneme sequences into coarser tokens that translate better to English. Note that there is not an expectation that the word segmentation performs well with respect to what is considered a canonical word in the given language. Instead, the key idea is that the segmentation model breaks phonemes into frequently repeating units that capture more meaning than just using individual phonemes. Consider Figure 3.5, where the erroneous segmentation of *ist* and *nicht* nevertheless allows for accurate alignment after monolingual segmentation.

3.3.2 Experimental Setup

Data

To train the translation models we used the German–English parallel corpus from Europarl v7 (Koehn 2005). In order to imitate a phoneme transcription, we converted the German side to a sequence of phonemes (using the SAMPA phoneme alphabet)

⁵github.com/neubig/pgibbs

with the MARY text-to-speech system (Schröder and Trouvain 2003). For example, 'dieser' is represented as a sequence of space-separated phonemes, $/d i: z \nu/$.

The phonemic output of MARY includes some information that cannot reasonably be detected by an ASR system. In particular, stress markers and syllable boundaries are features output by the system, so we filtered them out. The granularity of tokens on the source side was thus at the phoneme level while English words were used on the target side.

Small quantities of data were used in order to mimic the realities of data collection for endangered languages. We experimented with varying data sizes to evaluate how the best method's performance scales. We used data sets of 1k, 2k, 5k, and 10k parallel sentences (corresponding to between ~13k and ~132k words), a quantity that is vastly smaller than what is typically used in statistical machine translation experiments, but which approaches reasonable size for reliable manual transcription. We limited training sentences to those with fewer than 100 phonemes.

Training

- **Giza++** was trained using the train-model.perl script included in Moses with default settings, using the grow-diag-final-and heuristic for symmetrization/phrase extraction and the msd-bidirectional-fe reordering model.
- Model 3P was trained with the PISA implementation on default settings.
- **UWS Giza++** was trained by running pgibbs first, and then running GIZA++ over the segmented phoneme sequences with default settings. The pgibbs settings were default, with the following exceptions: block sampling was used with a block size of 50, a Pitman-Yor process was used, and 1,000 iterations were run. The final sample output by pgibbs was used as input to GIZA++. GIZA++ was run in the same way as above, using train-model.perl with heuristics for phrase extraction. It's worth noting that the hyperparameters supplied to pgibbs dictate segmentation granularity. These hyperparameters were not optimized, but were they to change, we would expect the average length of the word units learnt to be different.

Pialign We ran PIALIGN with the base distribution being a log-linear interpolation of phrase co-occurrence probabilities in both directions (with a discount of 5), a beam width of 10⁻⁶, a batch length of 40, for 10 iterations. The final sample was used for the purposes of phrase table extraction.

Bilingual Lexicon Extraction

To create bilingual lexicons using the above approaches, entries in the phrase tables were first sorted according to their joint probabilities. We only included entries where the length of the phonemic side was 2 or greater. This heuristic was used since it removed many spurious entries where one foreign phoneme was aligned to an entire word. Additionally, for a given English entry, no more than the top 5 translations were included. A similar filter was applied to prevent more than 5 English translations of a given phoneme sequence. The top 500 entries of each lexicon were then manually annotated.

Annotation

Entries in the lexicon were evaluated by a native German speaker.⁶ They were labelled as Correct, Incorrect or Ambiguous. Correct entries are those that can readily be found in existing German–English dictionaries. For example, the entry $/vsan/\Leftrightarrow know$ ('wissen'). Incorrect entries are those whose translations are deemed to be clearly incorrect by the annotator. These include entries such as $/tsu:?am/\Leftrightarrow the$ (not a German word) and $/badmon/\Leftrightarrow be$ ('Bedingung'). In the latter case, note that although the word alignment is incorrect, the phonemes represent a correctly segmented German word, 'Bedingung.'

Ambiguous entries are those that are neither strictly correct nor incorrect. These include entries that have boundary errors. For example, $/nvi:v/\Leftrightarrow we$ ('wir') includes an extra /n/ in an otherwise correct entry. Other Ambiguous entries are those that, while not found in lexicons, are nonetheless meaningful. These usually highlight

⁶We measured inter-annotator agreement by doubly annotating a sample of 1k entries, using a non-native German speaker, resulting in $\kappa = 0.69$.

interesting linguistic phenomena. For example, $/nict/\Leftrightarrow does \ not$ ('nicht') couldn't be found in Leo,⁷ however it captures a meaningful grammatical relationship between the languages. Consider the phrase 'er rennt nicht' and one English translation, 'he does not run,' where this entry makes sense.

3.3.3 Quantitative Evaluation

For the evaluation, precision is favored over recall. Because it is not clear what entries can be reliably learnt from a given bilingual corpus, a measure of recall is difficult to ascertain. In the context of this work it is also more important to determine what can be reliably learnt with high confidence from the small amount of available data.

Precision at k Over Lexical Entries

Figure 3.6 shows the precisions of the bilingual lexicons as the number of entries increases from 1 to 500, using methods trained on 10k sentences. The 'traditional' approach with GIZA++ is the worst performer across the board. This is to be expected as it uses lexical translation probabilities between poorly translated German phonemes and English words as the basis for the extracted phrases. As a point of comparison at the other extreme, using GIZA++ on the gold-standard segmentations of 10k sentences of the original German–English yielded an oracle lexicon with a precision of 0.932 over the top 500 entries.

The other methods are more similar in performance, with the best performing approach being PIALIGN. Though the results are close, the better performance of PIALIGN as compared to the unsupervised word segmentation approach can possibly be attributed to the added information the English side provides in determining useful German segmentation. This contrasts to the unsupervised word segmentation approach which segments using only monolingual German phonemic data. Performance gains over PISA's MODEL 3P can perhaps be attributed to limitations in the generative story of MODEL 3P. Rather than learning explicit phrasal relation-

⁷www.leo.org



Figure 3.6: Comparison of the lexicon induction methods on the 10k sentence dataset using strict evaluation, where only **Correct** entries improve precision.



Figure 3.7: Comparison of the lexicon induction methods on the 10k sentence dataset, where Ambiguous entries improve precision.



Figure 3.8: Comparison of the precisions of PIALIGN lexicons when learnt from between 1k and 10k sentences.

ships between phoneme groups and words, MODEL 3P conditions the generation of phonemes from latent words and the location within that word. Similar trends in the scores were demonstrated when evaluating precisions that accepted Ambiguous entries as also Correct. Additionally, in contrast to Model 3P's initialization, which uses the limited phoneme-word alignments of GIZA++, the base distribution PIALIGN draws from additionally uses co-occurrence probabilities of phrases, avoiding this limitation.

Note that when Ambiguous entries are considered valid (Figure 3.7), GIZA++ precisions gain the most, and jump up towards 80%. This is due to this approach often including a lot of boundary errors. The phoneme sequence is often incorrectly segmented, leaving promising resulting entries that aren't complete German words. UWS GIZA++ becomes the best performing approach because the issue of undersegmentation propagating to alignment is reduced, since evaluation is softer.

Given that PIALIGN was the best-performing approach on 10k sentences, we additionally evaluated it on smaller data sizes (see Figure 3.8). The fewer sentences of phonemes that are supplied, the more reasonable it is to assume that they can be acquired through reliable manual transcription in a real language preservation scenario. Precision appears to be a logarithmic function of the size of the training data. These



Figure 3.9: Comparison of the monolingual lexicon segmentation precisions for the four lexicon induction methods over the 10k sentence dataset.

results suggest that the first few hundred entries in a lexicon can be acquired with good precision even with very limited data.

Word Segmentation Performance

In addition to evaluating the quality of the bilingual entries, we evaluated the quality of monolingual lexical entries on the phoneme side. This is motivated by the observation that often correct phonemic word units were extracted, but mistranslated. Since monolingual entries are useful in their own right for language documentation purposes (for instance, as a useful starting point for manual correction) and language modelling, we assessed entries that were labelled **Incorrect** or **Ambiguous** to determine whether the phonemic component was segmented correctly at the word boundaries. Note that while it is common to measure token segmentation performance with an F score (as Goldwater *et al.* (2006) do, for example), we are measuring the quality of *types* in a lexicon, and so this should be considered word segmentation in a different sense.

Figure 3.9 shows improved performance of PIALIGN and MODEL 3P relative to

		Incorrect		Ambiguous	
Method	Sents	Total %	Acc. %	Total %	Acc. %
GIZA++	10k	19.4	15.5	36.0	0.5
Model 3P	10k	14.6	46.6	17.6	13.6
UWS GIZA++	10k	7.2	38.9	13.2	3.0
PIALIGN	10k	9.6	62.5	7.8	25.6
PIALIGN	5k	13.4	62.7	9.0	35.6
PIALIGN	2k	16.6	60.2	16.6	18.1
PIALIGN	1k	26.2	52.7	22.2	20.7

Table 3.1: The accuracy of the segmentation of phonemic lexical entries judged Incorrect and Ambiguous. The *Total* % columns indicate the percentage of entries that were Incorrect or Ambiguous. The *Acc.* % column indicates the percentage of those Incorrect and Ambiguous entries that were well segmented, despite not being annotated as Correct.

the UWS GIZA++ approach. In the approach of UWS GIZA++, it is impossible to break apart phoneme groups that have been grouped across word boundaries by the monolingual segmentation. However, the other methods aren't constrained by poorly informed early segmentation.

Table 3.1 shows the proportion of the total entries judged to be well segmented but were either Ambiguous with boundary errors or Incorrect. PIALIGN demonstrates effective inference of lexical items with few boundary errors, outperforming the other methods, regardless of the amount of training data used. This corroborates past research that indicates that word segmentation can be better informed with bilingual data (Xu *et al.* 2008; Chang *et al.* 2008; Nguyen *et al.* 2010).

Although we are evaluating monolingual entries, the entries of UWS GIZA++ are still informed by the alignments with English, as the entries evaluated are the highest probability bilingual lexical entries found. This mitigates the problem of the

Token	Occurrences
?	13,096
ə	8,587
n	8,138
t	6,422
ən	6,300
d	$5,\!929$
S	3,226
e	$3,\!136$
fl	$3,\!099$
di:	2,913

Table 3.2: The most common lexical entries found by the unsupervised word segmentation, without harnessing bilingual information.

effort required to tweak the hyperparameters of the word segmenter to find the right granularity of phoneme clusters. The granularity is instead informed by the English. To appreciate this, consider the most occurring lexical entries of the monolingual supervision without being informed by the alignments, as shown in Table 3.2. Of these, the only one that is an actual word is /di:/ (die). The rest are common sub-word units. Note though that /an/ (-en) is a common suffix for infinitive verbs—a particularly useful morpheme.

3.3.4 Qualitative Evaluation

To appreciate the peculiarities and differences of these approaches, we now will consider some general observations made by examining the lexicons of the various approaches, discussing some representative lexical entries and word alignments.

MODEL 3P seemed generally more susceptible to off-by-one errors at the boundaries of entries. A high confidence—but Incorrect—entry that occurred in the lexi(vielen dank) f i: l ə n d a ŋ k thank you

Figure 3.10: The phonemes of *vielen dank* as aligned to *thank you* by MODEL 3P.

con based on MODEL 3P alignments was /i:ləndaŋk/ \Leftrightarrow you (vielen dank). The English makes some sense, as 'vielen dank' can be translated as thank you or thank you very much, although the thank component on the English side is missing. Notably, the German side is segmented incorrectly at the phrase boundary, missing the initial phoneme /f/ (it should be /fi:ləndaŋk/). It turns out that in sentences containing this German phoneme sequence, the /f/ is often aligned to English thank (see Figure 3.10). In the lexicons created by both PIALIGN and UWS GIZA++ this entry was correctly phrase-segmented as /fi:ləndaŋk/.

A similar such entry in the MODEL 3P lexicon was /daspavla:men/ \Leftrightarrow parliament, where the source side is missing the final /t/. In the lexicon constructed using PI-ALIGN, such boundary mistakes were scarce. The equivalent entry constructed by PIALIGN was /dasparla:ment/⇔parliament ('das Parlament'). Note that this entry was not considered strictly **Correct** nor correctly segmented, as it is comprised of two words, with the German article being included (note that the article is optional in English). However in this case, as in almost all others, PIALIGN still segments correctly at the boundaries of multi-word units (as distinct from correctly segmented individual words). The only instance of an entry annotated as **Incorrect** in the top 500 entries of the PIALIGN lexicon where the phoneme side was also incorrectly segmented was /tvordən/ \Leftrightarrow been, where there is a spurious /t/ prefixing the phonemic representation of worden. Investigating the alignments highlights the cause of this entry. Phoneme sequences such as /untrftytstvordən/ (unterstützt worden) and /?erraictvordən/ (erre*icht worden*) include verbs that often appear inflected with different suffixes elsewhere, but end with a /t/ when occurring before $/v_{2v}d_{2n}/$ (unterstützen and erreichen respectively, with the suffix -en). High correlation of /vordən/ (worden) and the suffix

/t likely caused this entry.

The lexicon constructed using MODEL 3P demonstrated an apparent bias to shorter units. In that lexicon, the above entry was segmented correctly as /vɔrdən/. On the other hand, PIALIGN tended to lean towards longer multi-word units as a result of the model's capacity to capture phrases at coarser granularities when it is useful to do so.

/po:ste: \mathfrak{vsin} / \Leftrightarrow Mr Poettering was present in the PIALIGN lexicon, where the title is missing on the source side. This can be attributed to varying morphology of the title, which takes the form of both 'Herr' and 'Herrn' depending on context. However, since the English side consistently takes the form of 'Mr Poettering', evidence is built up primarily to relate both the title and name on the English side to only the name on the phoneme side.

UWS GIZA++ yielded high confidence, yet erroneous, entries, such as $/t?/\Leftrightarrow is$, $/n?/\Leftrightarrow to$, $/n?/\Leftrightarrow of$ that didn't occur in the other lexicons. This is likely a result of the pipelined nature of the approach, where monolingual segmentation is first performed before alignment. The German components to these entries represent frequently occurring phonemic sequences since many words end with /t/ or /n/ and many start with a glottal stop, /?/, before some vowel. The English side represent function words that are so commonly occurring that the coincidental co-occurrence of these phonemes and English words lead them to be learnt by UWS GIZA++ but not by PIALIGN or MODEL 3P. Entries such as this also partly explain why UWS GIZA++ failed to perform as well as MODEL 3P in segmenting lexical entries, despite outperforming it in bilingual precision. The other likely reason is that chunks that cross word boundaries learnt during the monolingual segmentation phase propagate into the translation modelling.

3.4 Discussion

We found that meaningful bilingual relationships can be established for the purposes of machine translation and bilingual lexicon induction despite a mismatch in granularity between the source and target sides. The best performing models are those that allow flexibility in what granularity is used for modelling (such as PI-ALIGN), overcame the mismatch by grouping phonemes together into word-like units (UWS GIZA++), or added additional parameters to explain the production of the fine-grained units from the coarse (MODEL 3P).

In the machine translation results of 3.2 GIZA++ did not underperform PIALIGN on low amounts of data. However, in this manual evaluation of the quality of the lexical entries, PIALIGN is substantially better. This shows that comparably accurate segmentation of phrase table entries is not required for comparable machine translation performance with ~10k parallel sentences of training data when measuring the BLEU score of target word-level translations.

3.4.1 Evaluation Issues

Evaluation of the bilingual lexical entries highlighted some issues involved in intrinsically measuring bilingual lexicons. Firstly, the evaluation using *precision*, whereby entries are treated as correct or incorrect, supposes a dichotomy that isn't actually the case. While we can consider lexical entries to be correct if they occur in an established bilingual dictionary, there are many relations between phonemes on the source side and words on the target side that are useful for models to infer based on downstream tasks such as machine translation (such $as/nıçt/\Leftrightarrow does \ not$ ('nicht')). Such a bilingual lexical item would be useful for machine translation systems as there are many sentences in which this is an appropriate entry in the context of the downstream task (eg. *Er rennt nicht* ("He does not run")).

Word segmentation is another dimension in which learnt lexical entries may be ambiguous. What constitutes a word is ambiguous, particularly in languages that have no standardized orthography. Aside from models committing off-by-one errors frequently, there are also multi-word units that are meaningful and have practical use, despite not aligning in a strictly correct sense to a correct translation. The challenge of assessing correct segmentation and alignment is a burden on the annotator. Though the Ambiguous label was introduced, the issue is not solved. If a word segmentation is off-by-one is it Ambiguous? What if it's off-by-two? This highlights an important point about word and phrase alignment algorithms. Such algorithms are rich methods for finding frequent co-occurrences in parallel corpora (though are to a large extent capable of 'explaining away' non-translation cooccurrences that frequently co-occur). Incidentally words and their translations frequently co-occur, which is convenient for translation modelling. However, many issues that arise in translation stem from such *indirect associations* (Melamed 1996).

3.4.2 Reconsidering the Value of Bilingual Lexicon Induction

Since downstream extrinsic tasks such as machine translation and speech recognition can benefit from entries in the phrase table that are incorrect when evaluated intrinsically in a bilingual lexicon induction context, it is worth stepping back to consider how bilingual lexicon induction is actually useful to a linguist documenting languages, and how automatically learnt translation models may help that process.

Bilingual lexicon induction is a fundamental task in language documentation. In contrast to phonetic or phonemic transcription, which considers monolingual acoustic properties of the language such as allophonic variations, bilingual lexicon induction relates words in the source language to words in a larger language. This is key for preserving understanding of meaning, since most audio has no grounding in the form of images with which to ascertain meaning from. However, the linguist's creation of dictionaries is much more than the process of collecting tokens and relating them to larger "contact" languages. It involves exploring different senses of the words (perhaps coming up with example sentences), how they might be inflected, and what part of speech they take. They're carefully crafted based on experience with the language. Computers cannot fill the linguist's role here. What computers can do is provide linguists with a large list of statistically sound, unbiased bilingual relationships which can inform their judgements, speeding up the process by making the computer the 'harmless drudge' (Johnson 1755) helping the linguist to better focus on more interesting things.

In the course of transcribing the data that could be fed to models described in this chapter, linguists may have actively been creating a lexicon, since it is one of the fundamental starting points of language documentation. Indeed a lexicon of modest size may exist before transcription has even begun, or arise during transcription and glossing.

Given that downstream tasks might benefit from entries that would be considered incorrect by the measures used in §3.3, I argue that such simple intrinsic measures of bilingual lexicon quality, while generally informative in the case of large differences (such as those between Bayesian ITG methods and IBM word models in the context of phones) are not particularly useful in the language documentation context. The important insights into the properties of each model came from the qualitative assessment of the nature of the entries each model produced. Providing linguists with such models may be useful for them to ground their understanding of the language based on statistics and help them see patterns they may have overlooked while highlighting differences in the languages. But the choice between such models should not be based entirely on narrow differences in the precision of models.

Therefore for the remaining investigations in the rest of this thesis, we do not measure bilingual lexicon quality intrinsically, but rather consider it as some piece of a larger body of information the models learn or can harness in some other prediction task. In Chapter 5, learning bilingual relations is an integral part of disambiguating the speech signal. In the next chapter (Chapter 4), a presupposed bilingual lexicon containing just word-to-word pairings is used in order to improve language modelling in contexts where there is limited data.

The assumption of error-free phonemic transcriptions limits the insight from the experimentation in this current chapter, and will be addressed Chapters 5 and 6.

Chapter 4

Cross-Lingual Low-Resource Language Modelling

Large parts of this chapter have appeared in:

Adams et al. (2017) Cross-lingual word embeddings for low-resource language modeling, in *Proceedings of the 15th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics (EACL)*, Valencia, Spain.

4.1 Introduction

In Chapter 3 we explored bilingual lexicon induction using small quantities of accurate phonemic transcriptions paired with orthographic translations. However, such data is rarely—perhaps never—available in the absence of other information in the language. Even in the Aikuma-style data collection scenario, typically a linguist documenting the language will have constructed a basic lexicon, and the lexicon will often contain more information than simple bilingual token level mappings, with things such as part-of-speech tags and example sentences. Furthermore, in the process of phonemically transcribing speech the linguist will determine candidate word segmentations. It is phonemic transcription that continues to remain a significant bottleneck for the traditional workflow. In Chapter 5 we investigate methods to directly do this, but in this chapter we explore the use of bilingual lexicons to improve

statistical language models, an important component of speech recognition systems, as well as other tools that involve text generation in the language, such as machine translation systems.

In creating language models for endangered languages, the available textual data is limited to phonemic transcriptions prepared by linguists, since most of the world's languages are not actively written (Bird 2011). Since phonemic transcription is timeconsuming, such data is scarce. This makes language modelling, which is a key tool for facilitating speech recognition of these languages, a difficult challenge. One of the touted advantages of neural network language models (NNLMs) is their ability to model sparse data (Bengio *et al.* 2003; Gandhe *et al.* 2014). However, despite the success of NNLMs on large datasets (Mikolov *et al.* 2010; Martens 2011; Osband *et al.* 2016), it remains unclear whether their advantages transfer to scenarios with extremely limited amounts of data, though Gandhe *et al.* (2014) find interpolation of neural network language models with count-based methods to outperform standard n-gram models in low-resource settings and Hao Fang *et al.* (2015) outperform countbased methods without interpolation by using recurrent neural network language models, also in low-resource settings.

Appropriate initialization of parameters in neural network models has been shown to be beneficial across a wide variety of domains, including speech recognition, where unsupervised pre-training of deep belief networks was instrumental in attaining breakthrough performance (Hinton *et al.* 2012). Neural network approaches to a range of natural language processing (NLP) problems have also been aided by initialization with word embeddings trained on large amounts of unannotated text (Frome *et al.* 2013; Zhang *et al.* 2014; Lau and Baldwin 2016) or on other tasks (Collobert and Weston 2008; Zoph *et al.* 2016). However, in the case of underdocumented languages we do not have the luxury of large quantities of this unannotated text.

As a remedy to this problem we focus on cross-lingual word embeddings (CLWEs), which are learnt using information from multiple languages. Recent advances in CLWEs have shown that high quality embeddings can be learnt even in the absence of bilingual corpora by harnessing bilingual lexicons (Gouws and Sogaard 2015; Duong *et al.* 2016b). This is useful as some threatened and endangered languages have been subject to significant linguistic investigation, leading to the creation of highquality lexicons, despite a dearth of transcriptions. For example, the training of a quality speech recognition system for Yongning Na, a Sino-Tibetan language spoken by approximately 40k people, is hindered by this lack of data (Do *et al.* 2014a) despite significant linguistic investigation of the language (Michaud 2008; Lidz 2010) and the availability of an online multilingual dictionary (Michaud 2016).

In this chapter we address two questions. First, is the quality of CLWEs dependent on having large amounts of data in two languages (symmetrical quantities in two languages), or can large amounts of data in a single *target* language inform embeddings trained with little *source* language data (asymmetric quantities)?¹ Second, can such CLWEs improve language modelling in low-resource contexts by initializing the parameters of an NNLM?

To answer the first question, we scale down the available monolingual data of the source language to as few as 1k sentences, while maintaining a large target language dataset. We assess intrinsic embedding quality by considering correlation with human judgment on the WordSim353 test set (Finkelstein et al. 2002). For training CLWEs in this chapter, we build on the work of Duong et al. (2016b). Their method harnesses monolingual corpora in two languages along with a bilingual lexicon to connect the languages and represent the words in a common vector space. The model builds on the continuous bag-of-words (CBOW) model (Mikolov et al. 2013a) which learns embeddings by predicting words given their contexts. The key difference is that the model also tries to predict a source language translation of a target language word centered in a target language context. Since dictionaries tend to include a number of translations for words, an expectation-maximization style training algorithm is used in order to best select translations given the context. This process thus allows for polysemy to be addressed which is desirable given the polysemous nature of bilingual dictionaries. In our work, we remove the assumption that significant monolingual corpora are available on both sides, instead investigating the resilience of such

¹Note that we have used a different nomenclature to our paper, where *source* was used to denote the large language because it was the source of distributional information in the transfer learning framework. However, to maintain consistency with the rest of this thesis, where *source* is the low-resource language, we instead use *target* to refer to the large language.

approaches in the asymmetric case when one side has scarce monolingual data.

To answer the second question, we then perform language modelling experiments where we initialize the parameters of long short-term memory (LSTM) language models using such CLWEs for low-resource language model training across a variety of language pairs.

Results indicate that CLWEs remain resilient when source language training data is drastically reduced in a simulated low-resource environment (§4.2), and that initializing the embedding layer of an NNLM with these CLWEs consistently leads to better performance of the language model (§4.3). In light of these results, we explore the method's application to Na, an actual low-resource language with manually created lexicons and transcribed data (§4.4). We present a discussion of the negative results found, which highlights challenges and future opportunities.

4.2 Resilience of Cross-Lingual Word Embeddings

Previous work using CLWEs assumes a similar amount of training data for each available language, often in the form of parallel corpora. Recent work has shown that monolingual corpora of two different languages can be tied together with bilingual dictionaries in order to learn embeddings for words in both languages in a common vector space (Gouws and Sogaard 2015; Duong *et al.* 2016b). In this section we remove the assumption of the availability of large monolingual corpora in the source and target languages, and report an experiment on the resilience of such CLWEs when data is scarce in the source language but plentiful in a target language.

The idea underpinning word embeddings is the distributional hypothesis of Harris (1954): that words with similar meaning appear in similar contexts. Prior work has demonstrated the efficacy of cross-lingual word embeddings, suggesting that the distributional hypothesis holds across languages. That is, that words and their translations appear in similar semantic contexts. By greatly reducing the data on the source side, we put this cross-lingual distributional hypothesis to a tougher test of how well CLWEs perform as a vehicle for transferring information from a resource-rich language to a low-resource language.

4.2.1 Experimental Setup

Word embedding quality is commonly assessed by evaluating the correlation of the cosine similarity of the embeddings with human judgements of word similarity. Here we follow the same evaluation procedure, except where we simulate a low-resource language by reducing the availability of source English monolingual text while preserving a large quantity of target language text from other languages. This allows us to evaluate the CLWEs intrinsically using the WordSim353 task (Finkelstein *et al.* 2002), which compares word embedding similarity judgements with those of human annotators, before progressing to downstream language modelling where we additionally consider other source languages.

We trained a variety of embeddings on English Wikipedia data of between 1k and 128k sentences from the training data of Al-Rfou *et al.* (2013). In terms of transcribed speech data, this roughly equates to between 1 and 128 hours of speech transcribed orthographically, with word segmentation. For the training data, we randomly chose sentences that include words in the WordSim353 task proportionally to their frequency in the set. As monolingual baselines, we use the skip-gram (SG) and continuous bag of words (CBOW) methods of Mikolov *et al.* (2013a) as implemented in the Gensim package (Řehůřek and Sojka 2010). We additionally used off-the-shelf CBOW Google News Corpus embeddings with 300 dimensions, trained on 100 billion words.

The CLWEs were trained using the method of Duong *et al.* (2016b) since their method addresses polysemy. The same 1k-128k sentence English Wikipedia data was used but with an additional 5 million sentences of Wikipedia data in a target language. The target languages include Japanese, German, Russian, Finnish, and Spanish, which represent languages of varying similarity with English, some with significant morphological and syntactic differences. To relate the languages, we used the PanLex lexicon (Kamholz *et al.* 2014). Following Duong *et al.* (2016b), we used the default window size of 48 so that the whole sentence's context is almost always taken into account. This mitigates the effect of word re-ordering between languages. We trained with an embedding dimension of 200 for all data sizes as this larger



Figure 4.1: Performance of different embeddings on the WordSim353 task with different amounts of training data. GNC are the Google News Corpus embeddings, which are constant (having been trained on a 100 Billion word corpus). CBOW and SG are the monolingual word2vec embeddings. The other, coloured, lines are all cross-lingual word embeddings learnt to harness the information from 5m sentences from one of various source languages (Japanese, German, Russian, Finnish, Spanish).

dimension turned out to be helpful in capturing information from the target side.²

4.2.2 Results

Figure 4.1 shows correlations with human judgment in the WordSim353 task. The x-axis represents the number of English training sentences. Coloured lines represent CLWEs trained on different languages: Japanese, German, Spanish, Russian and Finnish.³

With around 128k sentences of training data, most methods perform quite well, with German being the best performing. Interestingly the CLWE methods all out-

²Hyperparameters for both mono and cross-lingual word embeddings: iters=15, negative=25, size=200, window=48, otherwise default. Smaller window sizes led to similar results for monolingual methods.

 $^{^3\}mathrm{We}$ also tried Italian, Dutch, Greek and Serbian, yielding similar results but omitted for presentation.

perform GNC which was trained on a far larger corpus of 100 billion words. With only 1k sentences of source training data, all the CLWEs have a correlation around 0.5, with the exception of Finnish. No consistent benefit was gained by using target languages for which translation with English is simpler. For example, the use of Spanish as a target language often under-performed Russian and Japanese as a target language, as well as the morphologically-rich Finnish, despite English–Spanish being recognized as an "easier" language pair.

Notably, all the CLWEs perform far better than their monolingual counterparts on small amounts of data. This resilience of the source English word embeddings suggests that CLWEs can serve as a method of transferring semantic information from resource-rich languages to low-resource languages, even when the languages are quite different. However, the WordSim353 task is a constrained environment, so in the next section we turn to language modelling, a natural language processing task of much practical importance for low-resource languages.

4.3 Pre-training Language Models

Language models are an important tool with particular application to machine translation and speech recognition. For low-resource languages and unwritten languages, language model quality is poor, since they typically rely on large quantities of data. In this section, we assess the performance of language models on varying quantities of data, across a number of different source–target language pairs. In particular, we use CLWEs to initialize the first layer in an LSTM recurrent neural network language model and assess how this affects language model performance. This is an interesting task for reasons more than just the practical advantage of having better language models for low-resource languages. Language modelling is a syntax-oriented task, yet syntax varies greatly between the languages we evaluate on. This experiment thus yields some additional information about how effectively bilingual information can be used for language modelling.



Figure 4.2: Perplexity of language models on the English validation set. Numbers in the legend indicate LSTM language models with different hidden layer sizes, as opposed to Modified Kneser-Ney language models of order 3, 4 and 5.

4.3.1 Experimental Setup

We experiment with a similar data setup as in §4.2. However, source training sentences are not constrained to include words observed in the WordSim353 set, and are random sentences from the aforementioned 5 million sentence corpus. For each language, the validation and test sets consist of 3k randomly selected sentences. The large vocabulary of Wikipedia and the small amounts of training data make this a particularly challenging language modelling task. In our experiments we use a vocabulary of the 10k most frequently occurring words in the corpus, replacing less frequent words with a special rare-word token.

For our NNLMs, we use the LSTM language model of Zaremba *et al.* (2014). As a count-based baseline, we use Modified Kneser-Ney (MKN) (Kneser and Ney 1995; Chen and Goodman 1999) as implemented in KenLM (Heafield 2011). Figure 4.2 presents some results of tuning the dimensions of the hidden layer in the LSTM with respect to perplexity on the validation set,⁴ as well as tuning the order of n-grams

⁴We used 1 hidden layer but otherwise the same as the *SmallConfig* of models/rnn/ptb/ptb_word_lm.py available in Tensorflow.

used by the MKN language model. A dimension of 100 yielded a good compromise between the smaller and larger training data sizes, while an order 5 MKN model performed slightly better than its lower-order counterparts.⁵

MKN strongly outperforms the LSTM on low quantities of data, with the LSTM language model not reaching parity until between 16k and 32k sentences of data. This is consistent with the results of Chen *et al.* (2015) and Neubig and Dyer (2016) that show that n-gram models are typically better for rare words, and here our vocabulary is large but the number of training sentences is small since the data consist of random Wikipedia sentences. However, the findings from these papers, corroborated further by our findings, are inconsistent with the belief that NNLMs have the ability to cope well with sparse data conditions by using smooth distributions that arise from using dense vector representations of words (Bengio *et al.* 2003).

4.3.2 English Results

With the parameters tuned on the English validation set as above, we evaluated the LSTM language model when the embedding layer is initialized with various monolingual and cross-lingual word embeddings. Figure 4.3 compares the performance of a number of language models on the test set. In every case where pre-trained embeddings were used, the embedding layer was held fixed during training. However, we observed similar results when allowing them to deviate from their initial state. For the CLWEs, the same language set was used as in §4.2. The curves for the target languages (Dutch, Greek, Finnish, and Japanese) are remarkably similar, as were those for the languages omitted from the figure (German, Russian, Serbian, Italian, and Spanish). This suggests that the English source embeddings are capturing similar information from each of the languages, information likely to be more semantic than syntactic, given the syntactic differences between the languages.

We compare these language models pre-trained with CLWEs with pre-training using other embeddings. Pre-training with the Google News Corpus (GNC) embed-

⁵Note that all perplexities in this paper include out-of-vocabulary words, of which there are many. In the model, words not found in the dictionary were given uniform random embeddings between -0.1 and 0.1.



Figure 4.3: Perplexity of English LSTM language models when pre-trained with word embeddings trained on the same English data as the language model. MKN is an order 5 Modified Kneser-Ney baseline. *no pretrain* is a neural network language model with no pre-trained embeddings. *mono* is pre-trained with monolingual word2vec embeddings. *GNC* is pre-trained with Google News Corpus embeddings of dimension 300. The rest are pre-trained with CLWEs using information transfer from 5m sentences of Dutch, Greek, Finnish and Japanese respectively. MKN+no pretrain and MKN+en-fi are results gathered by Adam Makarucha as a point of comparison, which interpolate the probabilities of relevant preceding models.

dings of the method of Mikolov *et al.* (2013c) unsurprisingly performs the best, due to the large amount of English data not available to the other methods, making it an oracle. Monolingual pre-training of word embeddings on the same English data (*mono*) used by the CLWEs yields poorer performance because the embedding layer is held fixed, unlike in the case of LSTM.

On small amounts of data the language models initialized with pre-trained CLWEs are significantly better than their counterparts without pre-training, reaching par performance with MKN at somewhere just past 4k sentences of training data. In contrast, it takes more than 16k sentences of training data before the plain LSTM language model began to outperform MKN. The out-performance of LSTMs by MKN with the lowest amounts of training data motivated interpolation of MKN proba-

	8k sentences				16k se	ntences		
Lang	MKN	LSTM	CLWE	Interp.	MKN	LSTM	CLWE	Interp.
Greek	827.3	920.3	780.4	650.6	749.8	687.9	634.4	549.5
Serbian	492.8	586.3	521.3	408.0	468.8	485.3	447.8	365.7
Russian	1656.8	2054.5	1920.4	1466.2	1609.5	1757.3	1648.3	1309.1
Italian	777.0	794.9	688.3	592.2	686.2	627.7	559.7	493.4
German	997.4	1026.0	1000.9	831.8	980.0	908.8	874.1	761.5
Finnish	1896.4	2438.8	2165.5	1715.3	1963.3	2233.2	2109.9	1641.2
Dutch	492.1	491.3	456.2	381.4	447.9	412.8	378.0	330.1
Japanese	1902.8	2662.4	2475.6	1866.7	1816.8	2462.8	2279.6	1696.9
Spanish	496.3	481.8	445.6	387.7	445.9	412.9	369.6	331.2

Table 4.1: Perplexity of language models trained on 8k and 16k sentences for different languages. *MKN* is an order 5 Modified Kneser-Ney language model. *LSTM* is a long short-term memory neural network language model with no pre-training. *CLWE* is an LSTM language model pre-trained with cross-lingual word embeddings, using English as the source language. *Interp.* is an interpolation of MKN with CLWE. Interpolated results gathered by Adam Makarucha at IBM using my models and code.

bilities with LSTM language model probabilities, which outperformed the separate language models.⁶ Such interpolation allows for consistent improvement beyond the performance of MKN or CLWE-pre-trained LSTMs alone.

4.3.3 Other Target Languages

In Table 4.1 we present results of language model experiments run with other languages used as the low-resource source. In this table English is used in each case as the large target language with which to help train the CLWEs. The observation that the CLWE-pre-trained language model tended to perform best relative to alternatives

⁶The interpolated results were gathered by a collaborator, Adam Makarucha, using models and code I developed during my internship at IBM. They are included here as a point of comparison for the other results, which were entirely my own work.

at around 8k or 16k sentences in the English case prompted us to choose these slices of data when assessing other languages as sources.

The pre-trained LSTM language model outperforms its non-pre-trained counterpart for all languages. There is competition between *MKN* and the CLWE-pre-trained models. The languages for which *MKN* tends to do better are typically those further from English or those with rich morphology, making cross-lingual transfer of information more challenging. There seems to be a degree of asymmetry here: while all languages helped English language modelling similarly, English helps the other languages to varying degrees. This suggests the information is largely semantic, since the target languages vary in their divergence from English syntax (also, the window size used for training the CLWEs is large and will typically engulf the whole sentence). This, combined with the fact that English helps other languages to varying degrees, suggests that different source languages differ in the benefit they can reap from this technique. For all languages, interpolating MKN with the CLWE (*Interp.*) yields the best performance, corroborating the findings of Gandhe *et al.* (2014) and demonstrating that these methods are complementary.

Neural language modelling of sparse data can be improved by initializing parameters with cross-lingual word embeddings. The consistent performance improvements gained by an LSTM using CLWE-initialization is a promising sign for CLWEinitialization of neural networks for other tasks given limited source language data.

4.4 First Steps in an Under-Resourced Language

Having demonstrated the effectiveness of CLWE-pre-training of language models using simulation in a variety of well-resourced written languages, we proceed to a preliminary investigation of this method to a low-resource unwritten language, Na.

Yongning Na is a Sino-Tibetan language spoken by approximately 40k people in an area in Yunnan, China. It has no orthography and is tonal with a rich morphotonology. Given the small quantity of manually transcribed phonemic data available in the language, Na provides an ideal test bed for investigating the potential this method faces in a realistic setting, while highlighting its shortcomings. In this section we

æ⊣şæ⊣-taJmyJ ts̥ʰɯ⊣ne⊣-ji٦ pi⊣-kyJ-tsɯJ -myJ!					
That's how the story is told!					
æ⊣şæ⊣-ta_my_	[şʰɯ┤ne┤-ji]	pi٦	-kγ-l⊐	tsɯ┨	mγ⅃
story	like this	say	°abilitive	°rep	°affirm

Table 4.2: An example sentence from the Na corpus (sentence 137 from *The Sister's Wedding*), along with an English translation and glosses. Spaces delimit words, while hyphens delimit morphemes. The segmentation granularity that best facilitates dictionary lookup varies between words.

report results in Na language modelling and discuss hurdles to be overcome.

4.4.1 Experimental Setup

The phonemically transcribed corpus⁷ consists of 3,039 phonemically transcribed sentences which are a subset of a larger spoken corpus. These sentences are segmented at the level of the word, morpheme and phonological process, and have been translated into French, with smaller amounts translated into Chinese and English. The corpus also includes word-level glosses in French and English. The lexicon of Michaud (2016) contains example sentences for entries, as well as translations into French, English and Chinese.

The lexicon consists of around 2k Na entries, with example sentences and translations into English, French and Chinese. Segmentation of the corpus is provided at the level of the morpheme, word and morphotonological process. However, the dictionary entries are mixed between morphemes and words without explicit distinction. Segmenting the corpus at only the word level or only the morpheme level yielded low hit rates, since the dictionary entries are distributed between morpheme-level entries and word-level entries. To choose an appropriate segmentation of the corpus, we used a hierarchical segmentation method where words were queried in the lexicon. If a given

⁷Available as part of the Pangloss collection at lacito.vjf.cnrs.fr/pangloss

	Types	Tokens
Tones	2,045	45,044
No tones	$1,\!192$	45,989

Table 4.3: The number of types and tokens across the Na corpus, given our segmentation method.

word was present then it was kept as a token, otherwise the word was split into its constituent morphemes and queried again. Without tones included, the total number of word types from the corpus found in the dictionary was 418/5980. The types not found were broken into constituent morphemes, where 400/1211 morpheme types in the corpus were found in the dictionary. Words and morphemes not found in the dictionary were given uniform random embeddings between -0.1 and 0.1. We evaluate perplexity at a mixed granularity, using units found with this dictionary-based segmentation approach. Table 4.2 shows an example sentence from the corpus, with glossing that motivates segmentation at both word level and morpheme level when appropriate.

We took 2,039 sentences to be used as training data, with the remaining 1k sentences split equally between validation and test sets. The phonemic transcriptions include tones, so we created two preprocessed versions of the corpus: with and without tones. Table 4.3 exhibits type and token counts for these two variations. In addition to the CLWE approach used in §4.2 and §4.3, we additionally tried lemmatizing the English Wikipedia corpus so that each token was more likely to be present in the Na–English lexicon. Lemmatization as a step makes sense for languages with varying syntax. For instance, it makes sense to conflate "run", "running" and "runs" to have the same vector representation on the English side since the equivalent Na word may not be inflected at all, or in a completely different way. By lemmatizing the English, we'd expect the embeddings to emphasize semantic relatedness over syntax. However, this may not be a good thing for language modelling, since language modelling is a syntax-oriented task.

	Tones	No tones
MKN	59.4	38.0
LSTM	74.8	46.0
CLWE	76.6	46.2
Lem	76.8	44.7
En-split	76.4	47.0

Table 4.4: Perplexities on the Na test set using English as the source language. MKN is an order 5 Modified Kneser-Ney language model. LSTM is a neural network language model without pretraining. CLWE is the same LM with pre-trained Na-English CLWEs. Lem is the same as CLWE except with English lemmatization. Ensplit extends this by preprocessing the dictionary such that entries with multiple English words are converted to multiple entries of one English word.

4.4.2 **Results and Discussion**

Table 4.4 shows the Na language modelling results.⁸ Pre-trained CLWEs do not significantly outperform that of the non-pre-trained, and MKN outperforms both. Given the size of the training data, and the results of §4.3, it is no surprise that MKN outperforms the NNLM approaches. But the lack of benefit in CLWE-pre-training the NNLMs requires some reflection. We now proceed to discuss the challenges of this data to explore why the positive results of language model pre-training that were seen in §4.3 were not seen in this experiment.

Tones A key challenge arises because of Na's tonal system. Na has rich tonal morphology. Syntactic relationships between words influence the surface form tone a syllable takes. Thus, semantically identical words may take different surface tones than is present in the relevant lexical entry, resulting in mismatches with the lexicon.

If tones are retained, the percentage of Na tokens present in the lexicon is 62%.

⁸Note that although the perplexities are not phone-based, the tone of a word affects its orthographic representation. In the model without tones, tonal markers are discareded entirely and thus the calculated perplexities are different.

Removing tones yields a higher hit rate of 88% and allows tone mismatches between surface forms and lexical entries to be overcome. This benefit is gained in exchange for higher polysemy, with an average of 4.1 English translations per Na entry when tones are removed, as opposed to 1.9 when tones are present. Though this situation of polysemy is what the method of Duong *et al.* (2016b) is designed to address, it means the language model fails to model tones and doesn't significantly help CLWE-pretraining in any case. Future work should investigate morphotonological processing for Na, since there is regularity behind these tonal changes (Michaud 2008) which could mitigate these issues if addressed.

Polysemy It's known that many word embedding representations are limited in that they conflate different meanings of a word into a single vector (Camacho-Collados *et al.* 2016). We considered the polysemy of the tokens of other languages' corpora in the PanLex dictionaries. Interestingly, they were higher than the Na lexicon with tones removed, ranging from 2.7 for Greek–English to 19.5 for German–English. It seems the more important factor is the number of tokens in the English corpus that were present in the lexicon. For the Na–English lexicon, this was only 18% and 20% when lemmatized and unlemmatized, respectively. However it was 67% for the PanLex lexicon. Low lexicon hit rates of both the Na and English corpora must damage the CLWEs' modelling capacity.

Lexicon word forms Not all the forms of many English word groups are represented. For example, only the infinitive 'to_run' is present, while 'running', 'ran' and 'runs' are not. The limited scope of this lexicon motivates lemmatization on the English side as a normalization step, which may be of some benefit (see Table 4.4). Furthermore, such lemmatization can be expected to reduce the syntactic information present in embeddings, which does not transfer between languages as effectively as semantics.

Some common words, such as 'reading' are not present in the lexicon, while other words such as 'to_read_aloud' are. Additionally, there are frequently entries such as 'way_over_there' and 'masculine_given_name' that are challenging to process.



Figure 4.4: Perplexities of an English–German CLWE-pretrained language model trained on 2k English sentences as the dictionary available in CLWE training increases to its full size (*sub-dict*). As points of comparison, LSTM is a long short-term memory language model with no pre-training and *full-dict* is a CLWE-pretrained language model with the full dictionary available.

As an attempt to mitigate this issue, we segmented such English entries, creating multiple Na–English entries for each. However, results in Table 4.4 show that this failed to show improvements. More sophisticated processing of the lexicon is required, and is left to future work (§7.2.2).

Lexicon size There are 2,115 Na entries in the lexicon (a mix of morphs and lexemes) and 2,947 Na–English entries, which makes the lexicon especially small in comparison to the PanLex lexicon used in the previous experiments. Duong *et al.* (2016b) report large reductions in performance of CLWEs on some tasks when lexicon size is scaled down to 10k.

To better understand how limited lexicon size could be affecting language model performance, we performed an ablation experiment where random entries in the Pan-Lex English–German lexicon were removed in order to restrict its size. Figure 4.4 shows the performance of English language modelling when training data is restricted to 2k sentences (to emulate the Na case) and the size of the lexicon afforded to the CLWE training is adjusted. This can only serve as a rough comparison, since Pan-Lex is large and so a 1k entry subset may contain many obscure terms and few useful ones. Nevertheless, results suggest that a critical point occurs somewhere in the order of 10k entries. However, since improvements are demonstrated even with smaller dictionaries, this is further evidence that more sophisticated preprocessing of the Na lexicon is required.

Domain Another difference that may contribute to the results is that the domain of the text is significantly different. The Na corpus is a collection of spoken narratives transcribed, while the Wikipedia articles are encyclopaedic entries, which makes the genres very different. Since the tone and style are so different, it would be valuable in future work to use more closely matched corpora by using speech transcripts or narratives on the high-resource side.

4.5 Discussion

This chapter investigated a method for harnessing cross-lingual word embeddings for the purpose of improved language modelling in very low-resource contexts. Language modelling is a key component of systems for machine translation and speech recognition. Given methods for bilingual lexicon induction and word segmentation, we can relate the target and source languages and segment the words in some meaningful way. There is potential this method can then be used to learn a language model which can be used in a speech recognition system. Such language models may also facilitate rudimentary translation into the source language.

We argued in the discussion of the previous chapter (§3.4) that, by the time accurate manual transcriptions of any meaningful size have been acquired, linguists likely have already been working on lexicons and a small one may exist. It makes sense to harness this data as well. Importantly, it gives us the ability to harness vast quantities of monolingual information in English and other large languages in order to improve processing of smaller languages, given that parallel text is always limiting. Thus, we are not actually dealing with bilingual audio, but rather bilingual information in the form of a lexicon.

This technique was not found to be effective for the threatened language scenario of Na. However, in light of the results in the other languages examined, the technique could find more applicability in a low-resource language that has a more comprehensive dictionary and a limited web presence for scraping (see Gauthier *et al.* (2016)).

4.5.1 Future Work on Na Language Modelling

The technique doesn't work out of the box for Na, setting a difficult and compelling challenge of harnessing the available Na data more effectively. The lexicon is a rich source of other information, including part-of-speech tags, example sentences and multilingual translations. In addition to better preprocessing of the lexical information we have already used, harnessing this additional information is an important next step to improving Na language modelling. The corpus includes translations into French, Chinese and English, as well as glosses. Some CLWE methods can additionally utilize such parallel data (Coulmance *et al.* 2015; Ammar *et al.* 2016) and we leave to future work incorporation of this information as well. The tonal system is well described (Michaud 2008), and so further Na-specific work should allow differences between surface form tones and tones in the lexicon to be bridged.

Though the results for language modelling in Na are inconclusive, the ablation experiment, where the dictionary size was reduced significantly in order to assess how it affected the model's performance, suggests the method can still be useful with limited dictionary sizes. Importantly, very low dictionary sizes never adversely affected language modelling performance, which suggests that this method is worth trying and unlikely to hurt performance. In the specific context of Na, there were a variety of confounding factors which probably played a role in preventing distributional information from the English corpus from helping Na language modelling.

4.5.2 Beyond Na

Our results corroborate the observation that MKN performs well on rare words (Chen *et al.* 2015). Interpolation is an effective means to harness this strength when training data is sparse. Furthermore, hybrid count-based and NNLMs (Neubig and Dyer 2016) promise the best of both worlds for language modelling for low-resource languages.

In order for this approach to be applicable in low-resource language modelling for tasks such as speech recognition and machine translation, where there will frequently be out-of-vocabulary words, a promising line of work is to integrate character and phoneme level information into the language model (Lankinen *et al.* 2016; Verwimp *et al.* 2017) to help the model cope with sparsity at the word token level.

So far in the thesis we have considered two language documentation contexts. The first is where we have small quantities of unsegmented phonemic transcripts in parallel with translations in a larger language. Such data can arise when a linguist carefully transcribes monolingually without the need for deep knowledge of the language. We demonstrated in Chapter 3 that bilingual lexical items can be learnt effectively but argued against measuring the quality of a bilingual lexicon intrinsically. The context considered in this chapter is one where we again have small quantities of accurate source transcriptions, however we additionally assume a bilingual lexicon, which may have been gathered by a linguist in the process of transcription, or by automatic methods in a similar vein to those of Chapter 3. In this context however, we demonstrate that there is no requirement of parallel data in order for improved language modelling to be achieved. This absence of this requirement allows for the true magnitude of data in large languages to be harnessed in improving modelling of smaller ones. In this work we used 5 million sentences of Wikipedia data in the large language. If this method is pursued it would be wise to harness even more data, and to harness from multilingual (more than two languages) contexts as per the work of Duong et al. (2017).

We now proceed to a third context, where we removed the assumption of accurate phonetic transcriptions, while maintaining the constraint of limited data. By removing the two key assumptions of ample data and of correct data, we now model when restricted by the constraints that are very real and limiting in language documentation. In doing so, we make methods available to a much larger spectrum of languages at different levels of documentation.

Chapter 5

Harnessing Translations for Improved Phoneme Transcription

Large portions of this chapter have appeared in the following papers:

Adams et al. (2016) Learning a translation model from word lattices, in 17th Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (INTERSPEECH 2016), San Francisco, California, USA.

Adams et al. (2016) Learning a lexicon and translation model from phoneme lattices, in *Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP)*, Austin, Texas, USA. pp. 2377–2382.

5.1 Introduction

The previous chapters have assumed the availability of correct phonemic transcriptions of source language speech, which is only possible when speech has been manually transcribed by a trained linguist. However, such manual phonemic transcription is costly and can become a bottleneck in linguistic fieldwork. To illustrate, one minute of speech takes around one hour for an expert to phonetically transcribe (Do *et al.* 2014a). In order for a radical speedup in the language documentation process to be possible, effective automatic phoneme recognition must be achieved, thus improving
the efficiency of linguists documenting the language. This chapter and Chapter 6 address this problem.

Without the aid of a lexicon or language model trained on abundant text, automatic phoneme transcription is an error-prone affair. Because of this, important benefits lie in harnessing cross-lingual information via multilingual acoustic models or via translations of speech. This chapter explores methods that harness translations of the speech in order to improve automatic phoneme transcription quality. Can translations of speech improve transcription of that speech, even when a prior translation model relating the languages is not known? We explore methods to learn such a translation model to aid in speech recognition, in the process additionally inferring word segmentation and lexicons. Insights from Chapter 3 motivate evaluation of bilingual lexicons through their ability to help in the extrinsic task of phoneme transcription. Thus quantitative results in this chapter are measured with phoneme error rate (PER) and word error rate (WER) of transcription output. Beyond this quantitative analysis, we also present qualitative analysis of lexicons and translation models underlying the model.

The underlying idea common to the methods explored in this chapter is that speech recognition should become an easier task when a translation is available to help disambiguate what words might have been spoken. Figure 5.1 illustrates this using a toy German–English example. This concept of harnessing translations to improve speech recognition has a long history of application in computer-aided translation (see 2.4.2). There are two key distinguishing features of the work in this chapter from previous work. Firstly, previous work uses translation models trained on text as prior information, but in our case the translation models are trained on inaccurate representations of the speech we want to transcribe: either error-prone 1-best transcriptions or lattices. Secondly, the translation model is trained with word-segmented text, whereas in this chapter we explore training it on unsegmented phoneme sequences, as well as phoneme lattices from real automatic speech recognition (ASR) systems.

§5.2 begins with a preliminary investigation into the use of phoneme classes to facilitate translation modelling between source phonemes and target translations even when the exact form of the phonemes is unknown. This exploration highlights short-



Figure 5.1: Top: a spoken utterance in German, along with a translation that should help in finding the correct transcription. Bottom: a phoneme lattice output of an acoustic model. Using an acoustic model we can construct a lattice containing phoneme sequences that likely explain the acoustic signal, but frequently the most probable path (in orange) will be incorrect. The available English translation should guide the transcription away from 'das Eis' and towards 'das Ei.' Without prior translation model probabilities, translation relationships must be learnt in the face of such error-prone representations of speech.

comings of the model, motivating development of a subsequent model to address these issues, described in §5.3 and §5.4. This second model takes as input phoneme lattices and sentence-level orthographic translations, jointly segmenting paths in the lattices and aligning the implied words with an orthographic translation while learning a translation model. This allows it to find a better transcription in the original lattice even when no prior information relates the languages. As a stepping stone towards developing the second model, we produce a word-based model that aligns without segmenting in order to first test the hypothesis that lattice alignment can harness bilingual information for better speech recognition.

5.2 Phrase Alignment Using Phoneme Classes

This section (§5.2) describes preliminary work in the alignment of phoneme *classes*. Shortcomings of the model leave it unable to reduce transcription errors. Readers interested in more effective models should feel comfortable skipping to §5.3.

This exploration is motivated by the observation that humans have a tendency to misidentify phonemes that fall within a common class. Consider that an /s/ in *sight* is more likely to be heard as another fricative (eg. the /f/ in *fight*), than as sonorant (eg. /m/ as in *might*). We explore the use of categorizing phonemes into classes where the member phonemes are likely to be confusable with one another. For this we first used a linguistically motivated taxonomy, since it groups phones by articulatory and acoustic properties which tend to lend themselves to confusion.

Table 5.1 shows three partitions of the phoneme set based on a linguistically motivated taxonomy. We chose three different granularities for fragmenting German phonemes. Note that the transition from the fine partition to the coarse partition is not agglomerative—the phonemes in the plosives class in the Fine partition are then spread across the voiced and voiceless consonants class in the coarse partition.

Generalizing Phonemes to Classes for Machine Translation

To motivate the use of such classes, consider the performance of phoneme–word machine translation systems¹ when phonemes are replaced with symbols representing the coarser phoneme classes of Table 5.1. Such a configuration models a scenario where accurately determining the specific phoneme is error-prone, but determining a more general class is reliable. Table 5.2 illustrates the replacement of an international phonetic alphabet (IPA) representation of *Maus* with class tokens of Table 5.1, which is then used as source-side training data in the machine translation system.

¹The models were trained and evaluated with a similar architecture and experimental setup as the one described in 3.2, except with ~457k training sentences.

Fine		
Plosives	p b t g d k ?	
Affricates	pf ts t∫	
Fricatives	fvsz∫ʒçjxh	
Sonorants	m u û l r ı	
Checked vowels	и г є а э ∪ ч œ о і	
Schwa-like	Schwa-like ə v	
Free vowels	i: e: ε: a: ο: u: y: ø:	
Free diphthongs at au by		
Medium		
Plosives	p b t g d k ?	
Fricatives	fvsz∫ʒçjxhpftst∫	
Sonorants	Sonorants mn ŋ l ʁ r	
Vowels	u i ɛ a ɔ ʊ y œ o i ə ɐ i: e: ɛ: a: o: u: y: ø: ai aʊ ɔy	
Coarse		
Voiced consonants	bgdvzʒjmnŋlвr	
Voiceless consonants	p t k ? pf ts t∫ f s∫ç x h	
Vowels	uιυγίεα ο œ ο ə ɐ i: u y: e: ε: a: o: ø: aι aυ ογ	

Table 5.1: Three taxonomical groupings of phoneme classes of different granularities, from fine to coarse.

Written	Maus
IPA	m au s
Fine	sonorant free-diphthong fricative
Medium	sonorant vowel fricative
Coarse	voiced-consonant vowel voiceless-consonant

Table 5.2: Representing phoneme sequences with phoneme classes.

Source tokens	BLEU
Phonemes	20.77
Fine	20.73
Medium	16.11
Coarse	12.48

Table 5.3: German–English machine translation results when phonemes are replaced with symbols denoting classes.

Table 5.3 shows end-to-end machine translation results where instead of translating German phonemes to English words, the German phonemes were replaced with tokens representing broader phonemic classes. Interestingly, using the **Fine** class groups yields no substantial change in the machine translation performance, though there is large degradation when coarser classes are used. This highlights the information redundancy in natural language and suggests that phrase alignment can be resilient to phonemic ambiguity. Since alignment is still feasible when some amount of phonemic information is removed, perhaps English translation contexts can help guide restoration of specific phonemic information.

5.2.1 Resolving Transcription Errors: Method

We now proceed to the task of harnessing translations to resolve transcription errors. That is, given a phoneme transcription replete with errors and a corresponding word-level translation, can this translation guide us to a more correct phonemic transcription by somehow relating subsequences of the phonemic transcription with the translation? The first, preliminary approach to this task that we discuss is motivated by this observation that replacing phonemes with symbols to denote classes can retain much of the information in the phoneme sequence useful for the purpose of translation. The advantage this approach might have over finding the one-best path in a phoneme lattice is that information in translations can inform how the



Figure 5.2: An illustration of the error resolution process for a phonemic transcription of *Hund am Strand*. Erroneously transcribed phonemes are indicated in red. Phoneme classes are represented in upper-case, where F represents fricatives, V represents vowels, S represents sonorants, and P represents plosives.

transcription is realized. The method has four steps:

- 1. Replace transcribed (frequently erroneous) phonemes with tokens representing broader phonemic classes.
- 2. Align the phoneme class tokens to the English translations.
- 3. Estimate probabilities of phonemes occurring given classes and translation contexts.
- 4. Replace phoneme class tokens with the maximum likelihood phoneme given the alignment context.

Figure 5.2 illustrates visually using a toy example the process of resolving errors in a phonemic representation of the German phrase "Hund am Strand." More formally, given a corpus of phonemic transcriptions of utterances X (possibly the output of a speech recognition system) and corresponding English translations E, we aim to find a set of more accurate transcriptions \hat{X} without supervision. Step 1: Generalize phonemes to classes Consider a partition of phoneme sets $P = \langle p_i \dots p_I \rangle$ representing the chosen grouping of phoneme classes. For each phonemic transcription $\boldsymbol{x} \in X$, we convert each phoneme $x \in \boldsymbol{x}$ into a label representing p_i , where p_i is the set in the partition P that contains x, yielding a phoneme class representation of the sentence, which we denote as \boldsymbol{c} . Do this for each sentence, yielding an ordered sequence C where each $\boldsymbol{c} \in C$ corresponds to a sentence in the same fashion as X and E.

Step 2: Phrase alignment Phrase align C and E to arrive at alignments A such that each $a \in A$ describes a collection of many-to-many alignments for a sentence pair, where each $a \in a$, aligns a subsequence of phoneme classes $c_i \ldots c_j$ to sequences of words in the English sentence $e_k \ldots e_l$.

Step 3: Estimating phoneme probabilities given alignment contexts By considering each $x \in \mathbf{x} \in X$, their corresponding class c, and alignment context a, we can estimate a categorical distribution over phonemes given that context, P(x|c, a). For example, in Figure 5.2 we can estimate the probability of different fricatives taking the place of the first phoneme class 'F' in a source phrase pattern 'F V S P' that is aligned to 'dog.'

Step 4: Take the most likely phoneme given each context To produce the output phoneme stream, the maximum likelihood phoneme is taken for each phoneme class label and associated alignment context, $\operatorname{argmax}_{x} P(x|c, a)$.

5.2.2 Experimental Setup

In order to imitate the situation where we have inaccurate automatic speech recognition output aligned at the phrase level to English text, yet in significant quantities, we introduced artificial errors into a dataset similar to the one used in the phonemebased machine translation experiment described in §3.2.2.

Data

The data used is the German–English corpus from shared task for the Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL) 2005 Workshop on Building and Using Parallel Texts. This corpus consists of 457,079 sentences, a subset of Europarl (Koehn 2005). In order to simulate automatic phoneme transcription data of a language with no orthography, we first convert the German data into a sequence of phonemes using the MARY text-to-speech system (Schröder and Trouvain 2003). This training set is thus a superset of the training data used in §3.2.

Error Simulation

We add artificial errors into the phoneme corpus. This process was parameterized by the parameter ρ , the probability of any given phoneme being erroneously substituted for another phoneme within its class. For each phoneme in the phoneme corpus, the phoneme was substituted by another phoneme in its class with probability ρ and remained the same otherwise. When substituted, it uniformly took the form of each other phoneme in its class c, with probability $\frac{1}{|c|}$. Thus ρ is also a close approximate measure of the phoneme error rate of the phoneme corpus. For error generation, the **Fine** partition was used, but for error resolution all three partitions were evaluated. 5 different values of ρ were used, between 0.1 and 0.5, representing varying transcription accuracies.

Phrase Alignment

We used the Bayesian inversion transduction grammar model as implemented in PIALIGN (Neubig *et al.* 2011b; Neubig *et al.* 2012a), since it was the best performing approach in Chapter 3, able to effectively deal with phoneme granularities that cannot be done using conventional word-level alignment and heuristic phrase extraction.

Pl	Phoneme error rate $(\%)$		
ρ	Fine	Medium	Coarse
10.0	7.3	12.2	12.4
20.0	13.2	18.0	20.5
30.0	19.6	24.4	29.2
40.0	27.0	31.5	38.4
50.0	36.2	40.3	48.2

Table 5.4: Phoneme error rates of the output of the error resolution algorithm using different granularities of phoneme classes. ρ is the phoneme error rate of the inaccurate corpus, before resolution. Fine, Medium and Coarse refer to the granularity of the phoneme classes used by the resolution algorithm (see Table 5.1). Bold scores indicate scores that reduced the error rate.

5.2.3 Results

Table 5.4 shows the phoneme error rate across the corpus when this method is applied. In most of the experiment configurations, this method yielded an output phoneme sequence with a lower phoneme error rate than the inaccurate baseline. The method makes the most meaningful improvements in the phoneme error rate when the phoneme classes used are Fine, followed by Medium and then Coarse, with three configurations underperforming the baseline between the Medium and Coarse partitions.

When improvements do occur using the **Coarse** partition, they are not significant. This is understandable, since the scope of the possible confusion is greater with coarser classes, and there is less information that PIALIGN has to operate with in the alignment phase. Additionally, since the artificial errors were introduced using the **Fine** partition, these results suggest that when the classes used to resolve the errors are very different to those used to generate the errors, this approach to error resolution can become ineffective (though it is more robust to smaller changes, as evidenced by the results using the Medium partition).

5.2.4 Discussion

These results suggest translations can be harnessed to improve phoneme transcriptions in an unsupervised fashion in a constrained scenario where errors conform to clear discrete phoneme classes. Though these results show that alignment of source coarser phoneme classes to English words can be effective, and that the general concept of harnessing translation modelling in uncertain contexts is promising, several issues make more general applicability of this specific approach questionable.

The artificial errors generated assume that errors manifest only as substitutions according to the presupposed phoneme classes. For this technique to be applicable to improving speech recognition, experiments should be run on data with realistic speech recognition errors. In §5.2.5 below, we more accurately model errors in the input training data.

A related issue in error generation is that spurious insertions and deletions of phonemes in the transcription are not modelled. However, they are prevalent in real speech recognition errors (see Table 5.7). This suggests that there is a fundamental issue with the notion of phoneme class: real transcription errors cannot be modelled with substitutions within phonemic classes.

In the remainder of this chapter we address both of these issues. Before moving to a model capable of addressing insertions and deletions on real speech (§5.3 and §5.4), we first assess how the approach we have described so far can handle more realistic substitution errors that fall outside of the phoneme classes.

5.2.5 Improved Error Simulation and Phoneme Confusion Modelling

The key issue of the above method is that error generation and resolution use unrealistic phoneme categorization, so in this section we make two changes. Firstly, we instead model errors from real speech recognition data and use that to generate artificial phoneme substitution errors based on actual confusion rates. Secondly, rather than using taxonomically motivated classes, we use an agglomerative clustering approach to create classes based on the frequency of confusion between phonemes in real data.

Error Simulation

In order to more accurately model error generation, we procured 3,986 sentences of German automatic speech recognition output from a Quaero HMM-GMM system (Stüker *et al.* 2012). This data was then used to estimate phoneme substitution rates via minimum edit-distance alignments with gold transcriptions, before random sampling was used to add artificial noise into the same training data from before, with similar error rates and proportions as in the real data. As a first step, we only explore substitution errors. The system had a phoneme error rate of 43.9%.

Phoneme Clustering

Previously we had considered a linguistic taxonomy of phonemes in order to determine these classes, but actual phoneme substitutions in the ASR data indicated that these taxonomies do not necessarily yield the best phoneme classes and so we empirically ground the categorization.

We performed agglomerative hierarchical clustering such that phonemes more confusable with one another were merged into common classes. The distance between two phonemes p and q is the reciprocal of the number of times p had been substituted for q or q had been substituted for p. We applied agglomerative hierarchical clustering, using average linkage criteria. Average linkage was chosen since for our purposes it is desirable to have classes where each phoneme is confusable with one another, minimizing cases where two phonemes in a given class are rarely confusable.

We chose the configurations that gave 2 classes, 5 classes and 12 classes per group as representative of varying granularities. These are shown in Table 5.5. The reasoning for these class group choices was as follows. **Coarse** (2 classes) is the group that is able to account for as much possible phoneme confusability as possible while

Fine		
Class 0	ΟY	
Class 1	ø:	
Class 2	au	
Class 3	j i:	
Class 4	s z ts	
Class 5	ŋ m n	
Class 6	υ u: ο ο:	
Class 7	b d g k p t v	
Class 8	a a: œ ai	
Class 9	ε y: I e: y ε: э	
Class 10	h r l f	
Class 11	xç∫	
	Medium	
Class 0	ЭY	
Class 1	au	
Class 2	ç, x	
Class 3	b∫gfnhk vmtsŋpstv szld	
Class 4	a e e: o: ai a: œ j y ɔ y: i ø: u u: e: i: ə	
Coarse		
Class 0	b∫gfnhk vmtsŋpsçtvx vzld	
Class 1	a e e: o: ai a: œ j y ɔ y: i ø: u u: e: ɔy au i: ə	

Table 5.5: Groupings of phonemes at different granularities based on hierarchical agglomerative clustering.

Method	PER
Baseline	32.57
Fine	36.46
Medium	46.95
Coarse	44.79

Table 5.6: Phoneme error rates when applying the error resolution method with different granularities for phoneme classes. Phoneme error rates all increase over the baseline (of no error resolution), despite the inclusion only of substitution errors in the synthetic data.

still yielding information. Groupings more granular than Fine (12 classes) rapidly degenerated towards a situation where each phoneme is of its own class.

5.2.6 Results and Discussion

Table 5.6 shows the results of error resolution when simulated substitution errors mimic that of real data and agglomerative clustering is used to determine phoneme classes. Regardless of the granularity of the class used, the approach underperforms the baseline. Unsurprisingly, Medium performs the worst, since it is distinguished from Coarse only by the creation of two single-phoneme classes, and one class with two phonemes, which are largely unable to account for phoneme misclassifications.

More realistic simulation of substitution errors demonstrates that categorization of phonemes is an ineffective model, even when categories are motivated empirically by observations of a real speech recognition system. Phoneme substitution errors crossing class boundaries negatively impacts alignments, since the source representation of a word (as class tokens) varies. This has the effect that, in addition to those specific substitution errors being unable to be resolved, the alignments propagate the damage to surrounding phonemes grouped together in the alignment.

There are various issues in terms of both the experimental setup and the modelling

Error type	% of total
Substitutions	66.26
Deletions	21.66
Insertions	12.08

Table 5.7: The proportions of different types of errors in the German ASR data.

approach. Firstly, simulated data is still used, though it is better than that of the previous section as it exhibits similar substitution error rates and types as those from a speech recognition system. This data is problematic in that a) it is phonemic data of European parliamentary proceedings, thus the modality is inconsistent with real speech and effects of features such as coarticulation are limited by the quality of the text-to-speech system producing the phonemic representation; b) a generous amount of data is used, which is unlikely to be attainable in a language documentation setting (~450k sentences); c) insertions and deletions are not modelled. Insertions and deletions can be addressed in a similar unigram model as the substitutions, but it would be better yet to use real speech recognition output as we do in §5.3 and onwards.

As for the model, this experimental evidence suggests that phonemic categories are limited in their capacity to model phoneme confusion owing to deviation from these categories. Because the experimentation doesn't use real speech recognition output, the model also fails to harness further information an acoustic model could yield, such as lattices which describe alternative phonemic transcriptions to explain the observed sounds.

In retrospect, the data in Table 5.8 strongly suggests it is ineffective to use a method relying on phoneme substitution errors consistent with disjoint classes. In the best case, 32% of phonemes will cross class boundaries (in the case of coarse-grained clustering, assuming only substitution errors). Assuming uniformity of this statistic across phonemes, there's a $(1 - 0.32)^4 \approx 0.22$ probability a given 4-phoneme word will be converted to a class-token representation consistent with the underlying true phonemes, as required for correction. For longer words, this probability quickly drops

Granularity	Taxonomical	Clustering	Clustering (subs-only)
Coarse	35.0	45.9	68.1
Medium	31.4	42.9	64.7
Fine	16.2	23.5	35.5

Table 5.8: The percentage of phoneme transcription errors in the speech recognition data that were consistent with taxonomical or clustering-based phonemic classes (of three different granularities: Coarse, Medium and Fine). The right-most column restricts sources of errors to substitutions.

towards 0. This back-of-the-envelope calculation and consideration of its implications should have been done when clustering was first performed the first time, but it was not.

Another limitation is that experimental results have the limitation that spoken speech takes a different form to written speech converted to phonemes, with phenomena such as coarticulation present. In using a phonemic representation of text, our model of true speech is thus limited in capacity to that of the speech synthesizer.

5.3 Learning a Translation Model from Word Lattices

In this section and the next ($\S5.4$) we address the key problems of the work presented earlier in this Chapter. Rather than error simulation, we use real output from a speech recognition system. We stop using the notion of phoneme confusion classes, which does not accurately reflect the real nature of recognition errors. Rather than a 1-best transcription, we use a lattice which conveys more information. Rather than the assumption of large amounts of data (~450k sentences), we evaluate on small amounts of data realistic in the language documentation context (as little as 1 hour of bilingual speech). Despite these changes, the underlying idea remains: using information available in translations to help automatic transcription.

In the rest of this chapter we use lattice representations of speech. Lattices contain more information than a 1-best transcription. This information, along with translations, can be harnessed to find more accurate transcriptions (ie. paths through the lattice). Lattices can represent varying length sequences, implicitly allowing modelling of insertions and deletions, overcoming a key shortcoming of the model in §5.2. Composition of lattices with finite-state transducers can be used to express and infer translation models, thus modelling the acoustic signal and the translation in a cohesive probabilistic framework. In this section we first explore the effectiveness of this concept at the word level, by assuming we have a lexicon available with which to make word lattices. Then in §5.4, we generalize the approach to learn a lexicon from phoneme lattice input for the case when a comprehensive lexicon is not available in the language being documented.

Translation models have been used in prior work to improve automatic speech recognition when speech input is paired with a written translation, primarily for the task of computer-aided translation, where a human translator speaks their translation of a written document (Brown *et al.* 1994; Vidal *et al.* 2006; Khadivi and Ney 2008; Reddy and Rose 2010; Pelemans *et al.* 2015). Existing approaches require large amounts of parallel text for training the translation models, a scarce resource for most language pairs even when each language has substantial monolingual data. We propose a model for learning lexical translation parameters directly from the word lattices for which a transcription is sought. The model is expressed through composition of each lattice with a weighted finite-state transducer representing the translation model, where inference is performed by sampling paths through the composed finitestate transducer. We show consistent word error rate reductions in two datasets, using between just 20 minutes and 4 hours of speech input, always outperforming a translation model trained on the 1-best path.

Beyond the connection to computer-aided translation, the work in this section and section 5.4 has parallels with topics described in Chapter 2, including speech translation, where speech lattices are composed with translation models (Casacuberta *et al.* 2004; Matusov *et al.* 2005), translation modelling from automatically transcribed speech, which has previously used 1-best transcriptions (Paulik and Waibel 2013), and Bayesian word alignment (Mermer *et al.* 2013; Li *et al.* 2013).

We use a generative model that assumes the acoustic signal and written translation are produced by some underlying word sequence we seek to recover. This model is expressed by composing a word lattice that expresses information from the acoustic and language models with a weighted finite-state transducer (WFST) that expresses lexical translation probabilities constrained by the observed translation (see Figure 5.3). These parameters are learnt by sampling paths through the composed WFST, which corresponds to sampling a word sequence and its alignment to the written translation. A likely source sentence is recovered by finding the shortest path in the WFST.

In experiments on the Fisher and CALLHOME Spanish–English Speech Translation Corpus (Post *et al.* 2013), we compare word error rates with those of ASR 1-best paths and a stronger baseline that trains an existing translation model on 1-best recognition results. The distinction between these two methods is that the former uses only monolingual information in a 1-best transcription, whereas the latter harnesses the 1-best transcription and translations in order to learn a translation model and subsequently improve the 1-best transcription. We demonstrate reduced word error rates of 4.1% to 5.6% relative over the 1-best paths, and also show 2.3% to 2.4% relative improvement over the alternative model that uses parameters learnt from 1-best transcriptions. These results indicate that the mere existence of translations of what is to be transcribed can help with ASR. Moreover, it shows promise for models of this type for computer-aided translation and also for speech recognition for low-resource languages, where neither translation nor recogniser technologies are currently adequate.

The method differs from previous work in that (a) it depends on no parallel text training data, and that (b) the translation model is trained directly from word lattices to harness more information than is available in the 1-best ASR hypothesis alone.

This approach uses techniques similar to those found in the Bayesian word alignment literature (Mermer and Saraçlar 2011; Mermer *et al.* 2013; Li *et al.* 2013). However, rather than sampling alignments between observed source and target word



Figure 5.3: Illustration of the components of the WFST architecture. The alignment lattice is the result of composing the word lattice with the translation model which is constrained based on an observed English transcription "the egg." In this way, translation model probabilities can guide transcription. In our formulation, only the word lattice probabilities are given; the translation model parameters are learnt.

sequences, we sample paths through the source word lattice jointly with alignments to the target (translation) word sequences. This approach is also similar to that of Neubig *et al.* (2012a), where a lexicon and language model are learnt directly from phoneme lattices. However, rather than composing a phoneme lattice with a lexicon and a language model WFST, we compose a word lattice with a WFST representing a translation model.

5.3.1 Model Description

ASR Lattices

ASR is characterized by the search problem

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{f}} = \operatorname*{argmax}_{\boldsymbol{f}} P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{f}) P(\boldsymbol{f})$$
(5.1)

where \boldsymbol{f} represents an unobserved sequence of words $f_1 \dots f_J$ that produced the sequence of observed acoustic features $\boldsymbol{x} = x_1 \dots x_T$, and $\hat{\boldsymbol{f}}$ is our best guess of those words. Note that the length J is unknown ahead of time.

An ASR lattice encodes multiple transcription hypotheses, as shown in Figures 5.3 and 5.4, where each edge corresponds to a word f_i . The acoustic model (AM) and language model (LM) probabilities, $P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{f})$ and $P(\boldsymbol{f})$ respectively, are captured by the weights of the edges.

For any path \boldsymbol{f} through the lattice, its probability can simply be determined with $P(\boldsymbol{f}) = \prod_{j=1}^{J} P_L(f_i)$, where $P_L(f_i)$ is the probability of the *i*th edge in that path, where the language model probability is assumed to factorize with the graph.

The most likely path $\hat{f} = \operatorname{argmax}_{f} P(f)$ can be determined by finding the shortest path through the lattice in question using Dijkstra's algorithm, if probabilities are represented as negative log probabilities.

Proposed Model

The proposed model also uses translation models to aid in ASR by incorporating additional information in the form of an observed sequence $e = e_1, \ldots, e_I$ of translated



Figure 5.4: A lattice obtained from speech recognition of 'Ahá, pero una nunca sabe' (crowdsourced translation: 'Aha, but one never knows'), with negative log probabilities. Note that the gold transcription cannot be found in the lattice. The probability of 'son' is incorrectly higher than the probability of 'nunca.'



Figure 5.5: Reduced translation model template. Edges are added to the WFST only if the word e is present in the utterance-level written translation e.

words and alignments \boldsymbol{a} between \boldsymbol{f} and \boldsymbol{e} . If $P(\boldsymbol{e}, \boldsymbol{a} | \boldsymbol{f})$ is factored into the search problem, then we can reframe the problem as

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{f}} = \operatorname*{argmax}_{\boldsymbol{f}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{a}} P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{f}) P(\boldsymbol{f}) P(\boldsymbol{e}, \boldsymbol{a}|\boldsymbol{f}), \tag{5.2}$$

which equals P(e, x, f) under the reasonable assumption that x and e are conditionally independent given f (ie. f contains all information pertinent to translation).

This problem can be reduced to a similar shortest-path problem as with traditional ASR. This is done by composing our original lattices with a WFST that represents translation model probabilities, as shown in Figure 5.5. The resulting composition of the final lattice and the constrained translation model can be seen in Figures 5.3 and $5.6.^2$

 $^{^{2}}$ For the examples in the figures and this formulation, we disregard the possibility of the null



Figure 5.6: The lattice composed with the translation model WFST. Each edge for a given Spanish word is replaced with a set of edges that transduce to different English words with probabilities re-weighted by the translation model. Note that *'nunca'* is now correctly given more weight than *'son'*, given the added information of the English translation 'never.'

In this framework, each path represents a sequence of source tokens \boldsymbol{f} and their alignments $\boldsymbol{a} = a_1 \dots a_J$ between tokens in \boldsymbol{f} and types in \boldsymbol{e} . However, this generative story can fail to describe the observed reference translation \boldsymbol{e} if, say, all words in \boldsymbol{f} align to the first word in the translation, e_1 . This is a *deficient* model of $P(\boldsymbol{e}, \boldsymbol{a} | \boldsymbol{f})$. An alternative formulation is to condition on \boldsymbol{e} , ie. using $P(\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{a} | \boldsymbol{e})$. Since we assume language model probabilities $P(\boldsymbol{f})$ are already included, this gives rise to a product model where probabilities over \boldsymbol{f} are given by two different sources:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{f}} = \operatorname*{argmax}_{\boldsymbol{f}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{a}} P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{f}) \frac{P(\boldsymbol{f})P(\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{a}|\boldsymbol{e})}{Z}.$$
(5.3)

Including both of these probabilities over f requires a normalizing constant $Z = \sum_{f} P(f)P(f|e)$, which need not be calculated since it is implicit in the WFST when

token, which corresponds to the possibility of a word in f not aligning to any of the words in e (but rather a separate null token). We discuss this further in §5.3.3.

sampling or using Dijkstra's shortest path algorithm.

Finding the shortest path corresponds to determining the most likely source f and alignments a. Since distinct alignment paths may have the same source f, \hat{f} is most accurately found by marginalizing over the alignments:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{f}} = \operatorname*{argmax}_{\boldsymbol{f}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{a}} P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{f}) P(\boldsymbol{f}) P(\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{a}|\boldsymbol{e}).$$
(5.4)

However, for computational reasons we simply approximate \hat{f} with the source side of the most likely path:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{f}} \approx \operatorname*{argmax}_{\boldsymbol{f}} \max_{\boldsymbol{a}} P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{f}) P(\boldsymbol{f}) P(\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{a}|\boldsymbol{e}).$$
(5.5)

5.3.2 Learning Translation Model Parameters

We assume independent Dirichlet priors over each of the constituent distributions in the translation model T (one conditional probability distribution for each f). This is chosen due to conjugacy of the Dirichlet distribution with the categorical distribution over words. The conditional posterior can be expressed as:

$$P(f|e) = \frac{c_A(e,f) + \alpha P_{base}(f)}{c_A(e) + \alpha}$$
(5.6)

where $c_A(e, f)$ is a count of how many times f has aligned to e thus far in a corpuswide set of alignments A between each f and an e in the same parallel sentence (with counts attributed to by the current alignment path \boldsymbol{a} discounted); $c_A(e)$ is a count of how many times e has been aligned to; P_{base} is a uniform prior and α determines the emphasis on the base distribution.

We now turn to the task of determining parameters which will allow us to find the \hat{f} as discussed above. The approach we use involves blocked sampling of alignments A, with each utterance as a block. We perform sampling of these alignments proportionally to their probability given the data and our prior, in effect integrating over all parameter configurations T:

$$P(A, \mathcal{F}|\mathcal{S}, \mathcal{E}; \alpha, P_{base}) \propto \int_{T} P(A, \mathcal{F}|\mathcal{S}, \mathcal{E}, T) P(T; \alpha, P_{base}) dT, \qquad (5.7)$$

where \mathcal{F} are the source-language sentences sampled from the word lattices \mathcal{S} , while \mathcal{E} are the corresponding translations, and T represents a translation model that we assume prior information about and whose parameters we integrate over.³

The approach uses blocked Gibbs sampling where each block corresponds to one utterance and thus one of the composed WFSTs constrained on the observed translation. The sampling of paths through these composed WFSTs can be achieved using the method of *forward-filtering/backward-sampling* as described in (Scott 2002; Johnson *et al.* 2007; Neubig *et al.* 2012a). This method first computes forward probabilities in the same way the forward-backward algorithm for hidden Markov models does, before sampling edges from the end state proportionally to the product of the forward probability and the edge weight, using these forward probabilities to yield a path with probability proportional to the total probability of the edges in the path.⁴

After sampling a path consisting of lexical alignments, the counts of those lexical alignments are added to the cache used to calculate the Dirichlet posterior of e given f as per Equation 5.6 before the next WFST is composed and sampled from. When all WFSTs have been sampled from, we can repeat the sampling, first removing the counts in the cache attributed to the current WFST being sampled from, before adding counts from the new sample as per the sampling approach of Neubig *et al.* (2012a).

With repeated sampling of A the samples will converge to the posterior in Equation 5.7. Sampling sets of alignments n times, we use these alignment sets $A_1 \ldots A_n$ to create a set of point estimates $T_1 \ldots T_n$ for T. We then average these parameters to create a final expected T for the purposes of decoding using the approach of §5.3.1.

5.3.3 Variations on Parameter Formulation

In the previous formulation we discussed using P(e|f) as the translation model parameters. Aside from the problem of deficiency, another problem with using P(e|f)

³Equation 5.7 assumes $S, \mathcal{E} \perp T$.

⁴No Metropolis-Hastings rejection step was used. The WFST is thus not an exact implementation, but due to the short length of the utterances we argue it is not worth the effort nor time cost in sampling.

is that values of e with a higher marginal probability P(e) tend to have a higher conditional probability P(e|f). This problem makes itself especially clear when permitting null tokens on the English side, as it leads to degenerate alignments where most f_i end up aligning to the null token since it is present in every sentence.

The most obvious alternative formulation include use of P(f|e) instead. Additionally, we can use normalizations of these probabilities. Notably, we propose and test an approach that uses $\frac{P(f|e)}{\sum_{f'} P(f'|e)}$ (both in sampling and decoding) where each f' is a token occurring in the original lattice. The denominator does not equal 1, since not every possible f' from the corpus will occur in any given lattice. The normalization term does not explicitly affect distinguishing between different source words in the WFST when sampling or decoding. However, it aids in aligning to the correct target word e by biasing towards alignments where f is most likely relative to its peers given e. Improving the alignments this way thus affects the translation model and, subsequently, the future paths chosen when sampling or decoding.

We also introduce a lattice weight hyperparameter λ . The contribution of original lattice probabilities from the acoustic model and language model against the translation model probabilities can be increased by simply multiplying the negative log probabilities by λ .

5.3.4 Experimental Evaluation

Experimental Setup

For the experiments we used the Fisher and CALLHOME Spanish–English Speech Translation Corpus (Post *et al.* 2013), which conveniently offers Spanish word lattices and crowdsourced English translations. The LDC human transcriptions (Wheatley 1996; Graff *et al.* 2010) are used as a gold standard against which to evaluate the ASR. Our preprocessing involved lowercasing all text, and removing punctuation from both the Spanish and English sides. We additionally removed from the corpus a small number of empty sentences and empty lattices.⁵

 $^{{}^{5}}$ Evaluating the 1-best output against the transcript, we find differences to WERs reported in Post *et al.* (2013). These were somewhat higher, likely accounted for by preprocessing differences.

Parameter type	1-best TM	Lattice TM	
		$\alpha, \lambda = 1$	$\alpha, \lambda = \mathrm{best}$
P(e f)	0.555	0.559	0.556
P(f e)	0.552	0.542	0.541
$\frac{P(e f)}{\sum_{e'} P(e' f)}$	0.568	0.574	0.570
$\frac{P(f e)}{\sum_{f'} P(f' e)}$	0.547	0.539	0.539

Table 5.9: Word error rates of different parameter variations when tuning on the CALLHOME training set. ASR 1-best accuracy is 0.569.

To evaluate how harnessing the English translations can improve use of the Spanish word lattices, we evaluate the word error rate of the chosen path through the composed WFST against the LDC transcriptions. We compare our approach, which we refer to as *Lattice TM*, with a similar method where the translation model is instead trained from 1-best paths from the lattice using GIZA++ (Och and Ney 2003), which we refer to as *1-best TM*. Note that while we are ultimately interested in calculating phoneme error rates, this experimentation uses a corpus of word lattices to explore how word-level translation modelling can improve word-based ASR. Phoneme error rate evaluation will follow in Section 5.4.

Tuning and Choice of Parameterization

We tuned two hyperparameters on the CALLHOME training set of approximately 14.5 hours (results from the Fisher set are thus those from which insight is most reliably attained): the lattice weight, λ , and the concentration parameter of the Dirichlet distributions, α . Tuning involved a simple grid search of λ and α over the values 0.5, 1, 2, and 4. We found no substantial improvements over the setting of 1 for both parameters. At $\lambda = 4$ the WER began to increase, although it was still significantly better than the ASR 1-best WER, with these improvements robust for all hyperparameter combinations evaluated. With no strong motivation to do otherwise, we left these parameters at $\lambda = 1$ and $\alpha = 1$ and evaluated on the test sets.

Method	Fisher	CALLHOME
ASR 1-best	0.355	0.586
1-best TM	0.343	0.576
Lattice TM	0.335	0.562

Table 5.10: Word error rates on the Fisher and CALLHOME test sets.

During tuning (Table 5.9), we also evaluated the parameterizations discussed in §5.3.3. The best parameterization, $\frac{P(f|e)}{\sum_{f'} P(f'|e)}$, was used for the subsequent evaluation. In tuning, permitting null alignments in the translation model WFST reduced scores for all parameter variations, most notably P(e|f). The results presented in this chapter are based on a model that uses no null alignments.

Experimental Results

Table 5.10 shows the main results, across both of the test sets. The 1-best TM outperforms the ASR baseline, but underperforms Lattice TM on both test sets.

Figures 5.7 and 5.8 illustrate the change in performance when the method is run on a varying amount of training data, both as subsets and supersets of the training data. When training data is sufficiently limited, the TM trained on the 1-best path adversely affects performance, increasing the WER. In contrast, Lattice TM remains robust.

Each of the plots has a vertical rule labelled 'Test set.' The method is unsupervised, always taking an input lattice and written translation. Word error rates can be evaluated across all the data that is fed to the model. However, for a consistent point of comparison as the amount of input data varies, we use a fixed test set. To the left of the rule, when the amount of data is smaller than this test set, the training data is a subset of this test set. To the right of the rule, we run the model on a superset of the test set.

The example in Figure 5.4 (from the CALLHOME test set) epitomizes why the TM learnt from the lattice outperforms the TM learnt from the 1-best path. The



Figure 5.7: Speech recognition results on CALLHOME, which was the dataset used for tuning. We compare the performance of models trained on varying amounts of data. A fixed component of all the training data is used for word error rate evaluation, marked by the vertical line 'Test set' (since the method is unsupervised and designed to better transcribe data it is trained on, the training set and test set overlap).

crowdsourced English translation is 'aha, but one never knows' and the gold transcription is 'Ahá, pero una nunca sabe.'⁶ The better path is the bottom one, choosing 'nunca' over 'son.' However, the 1-best path chooses 'son.' Training a translation model from the erroneous 1-best path causes negative reinforcement, where the TM is even more likely to assign a high probability to 'son' given 'never.' Without enough training data to overcome this negative reinforcement, it has a substantial effect on scores.

Since 'never' and 'nunca' are relatively frequently occurring in the test data, the 1-best TM actually does assign a reasonable lexical translation score to this pair, however this is not enough to overcome the lattice's bias and the reasonable probability of 'son' given 'never' which was learnt from the erroneous transcription.

 $^{^{6}{\}rm The}$ gold transcription is notably unobtainable from the lattice. Reduced pruning of lattices are likely to further improve scores.



Figure 5.8: Speech recognition results on the Fisher corpus. We compare the performance of models trained on varying amounts of data. A fixed component of all the training data is used for word error rate evaluation, marked by the vertical line 'Test set' (since the method is unsupervised and designed to better transcribe data it is trained on, the training set and test set overlap).

Note that Lattice TM continues to outperform the 1-best TM approach when training data beyond the fixed test set is used. This suggests that Lattice TM gains an advantage from the information encoded in the lattice beyond avoiding the negative reinforcement of the 1-best TM approach.

Further examples from the Fisher test set are shown in Figure 5.11. Coloured words highlight how English reference words can inform how the Lattice TM approach deviates from the 1-best ASR path, or that of the 1-best TM. Sometimes this yields improvements with respect to the reference (green). Often the signal makes more sense or is justifiable (blue). Occasionally, it mistakenly biases away from the truth (red).

This method is very fast. Composition, sampling and caching for 1,000 utterances takes between 3 and 4 seconds on a single 1.80GHz Intel i7-4500U core. Running on the 213 minute Fisher evaluation set (Table 5.10) took less than 5 minutes, and scales

English:	i go because he doesnt $\underline{\text{dance}}$ either	
Reference:	voy porque tampoco <u>baila</u>	
1-best ASR:	pero por otro tampoco vaya	
1-best TM:	sí pero tampoco vaya	
Lattice TM:	sí pero tampoco <u>bailar</u>	
English:	<u>but</u> viaja	
Reference:	pero vi ajá	
1-best ASR :	pero vi ajá	
1-best TM:	pero vi ajá	
Lattice TM:	pero <mark>que</mark> ajá	
English:	and i live in <u>athens</u> mm	
Reference:	y yo vivo en <u>athens</u> mh	
1-best ASR:	y yo vivo en hacer	
1-best TM:	y yo vivo en hacer	
Lattice TM:	y yo vivo en <u>athens</u>	
English:	i believe its something like <u>christian</u> science	
Reference:	ah eh yo creo que <u>christian</u> science algo así	
1-best ASR:	ah eh yo creo que kristin sáinz algo así	
1-best TM:	ah ah ah eh yo creo que $\underline{\mathrm{cristianos}}$ años algo así	
Lattice TM:	ah eh yo creo que <u>cristianos</u> años algo así	

Table 5.11: Examples from the Fisher test set (tokenized and lowercased). Each example consists of (top to bottom): crowd-sourced English translation (though code switching is common in both languages in the corpus); reference Spanish transcription; 1-best path through the word lattice; best path using a translation model trained on the 1-best paths (1-best TM); and best path using a translation model trained on lattices (Lattice TM). Green text indicates a useful correction based on learnt translations, along with blue text to a lesser extent. Red text indicates how a learnt translation pair can occasionally damage the transcription.

roughly linearly with more training data.

5.3.5 Implications

This experimentation demonstrated that having a written translation in another language can help improve speech recognition even when no pre-trained translation model is available. This is achieved by training a translation model directly on the ASR word lattices paired with the written translation in order to make the most of all information available in the lattice.

Although this is just a step towards a phoneme-based model, one natural setting for such an approach is for computer-aided translation of a small language for which there exists written data but no parallel corpora with the larger target language. However, since most languages have inadequate ASR technology, and stand to gain the most from improved speech recognition systems, future work should also strive to reverse the role of the languages in this setup, addressing the speech of a small language paired with a written translation in a larger language. Such bilingual data can be collected using a tool such as *Aikuma* (Bird *et al.* 2014b). However, for this to work, an ASR system with a lexicon and language model needs to be trained, perhaps using a tool such as *Woefzela* (De Vries *et al.* 2011). Otherwise this need should be sidestepped by working directly with the speech signal or phoneme lattices. We now discuss an extension to this model using phoneme lattices without a predetermined lexicon.

5.4 Learning a Lexicon and Translation Model from Phoneme Lattices

In the previous section we described how translation model parameters can be learnt from lattices paired with translations and demonstrated its effectiveness. However, the model assumes that a lexicon is available and that there are no out-ofvocabulary words in the speech recognition. In this section, we generalize the method to work instead with phoneme lattices, jointly learning the lexicon and translation model in a Bayesian non-parametric framework, thereby harnessing translations to improve automatic phoneme recognition. The method assumes no prior lexicon or translation model, instead learning them from phoneme lattices paired with written translations of the speech being transcribed, assuming the target side is a major language that can be efficiently transcribed.

A Bayesian non-parametric model expressed with a weighted finite-state transducer (WFST) framework represents the joint distribution of source acoustic features, phonemes and latent source words given the target words. Sampling of alignments is used to learn source words and their target translations, which are then used to improve transcription of the source audio they were learnt from. Importantly, the model assumes no prior lexicon or translation model.

Experiments demonstrate that this method substantially reduces the phoneme error rate of transcriptions compared with a baseline recogniser and a similar model that harnesses only monolingual information, by up to 17% and 5% respectively. We also find that the model learns meaningful bilingual lexical items. The code is available online.⁷

Beyond the related work mentioned in §5.3, this method is related to various work discussed in Chapter 2, including work on phoneme translation modelling which has been done on 1-best transcriptions (Besacier *et al.* 2006; Stüker *et al.* 2009; Stahlberg *et al.* 2012; Stahlberg *et al.* 2014b), word segmentation in translation modelling (Chang *et al.* 2008; Dyer 2009; Nguyen *et al.* 2010; Chen and Xu 2015), and language model learning from lattices (Neubig *et al.* 2012a). Recent work that was done in parallel or after the contents of this chapter include translation modelling from speech directly, as described in Chapter 2.

5.4.1 Model Description

Our model extends the standard automatic speech recognition (ASR) problem and the word lattice approach of §5.3 by seeking the best phoneme transcription $\hat{\phi}$ of an utterance in a joint probability distribution $P(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{a} | \boldsymbol{e})$ that incorporates

⁷github.com/oadams/latticetm

acoustic signal x, phonemes ϕ , latent source words f and their alignments a to observed target transcriptions e:

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\phi}} = \operatorname*{argmax}_{\boldsymbol{\phi}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{a}} P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{\phi}) P(\boldsymbol{\phi}|\boldsymbol{f}) P(\boldsymbol{f},\boldsymbol{a}|\boldsymbol{e}), \qquad (5.8)$$

assuming a Markov chain of conditional independence relationships. Note that bold symbols denote utterances as opposed to tokens. Deviating from standard ASR, no lexicon is given in training. Additionally, we replace language model probabilities with those of a translation model, also not given in training, and search for the best phoneme transcription instead of words.

Similar to Equation 5.4, the maximum approximation is used for tractability instead of summing over latent source words f that correspond to the phonemes ϕ :

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\phi}} = \operatorname*{argmax}_{\boldsymbol{\phi}} \max_{\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{a}} P(\boldsymbol{x} | \boldsymbol{\phi}) P(\boldsymbol{\phi} | \boldsymbol{f}) P(\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{a} | \boldsymbol{e}) , \qquad (5.9)$$

Expression of the Distribution Using Finite-State Transducers

This model is distinct from the word-based model of the previous section since a prior lexicon is not assumed to be available. Instead, the lexicon must be learnt along with the translation model parameters.

We first describe how this model can be expressed in a WFST framework assuming we already have a lexicon and translation model, showing how this information can help find a more accurate phoneme transcription. We then describe how modifications can be used in order to jointly learn the lexicon and translation model.

We use a WFST framework to express the factors of Equation 5.9. The use of this framework is appealing for two key reasons. Firstly, it allows for computational tractability and simple inference via efficient methods FST composition and path sampling. Secondly, it allows for a modular, extendable framework, where components can be substituted with relative ease, facilitating simple future refinements to the model. Figure 5.9 uses a toy German–English error resolution example where an English translation guides the transcription of a German utterance to illustrate the components of the framework: a phoneme lattice representing phoneme uncertainty according to $P(\mathbf{x}|\boldsymbol{\phi})$; a lexicon that transduces phoneme substrings $\phi_{start}, \ldots, \phi_{end}$ of



Figure 5.9: Top to bottom: the phoneme lattice, the lexicon, the translation model, and the resulting composed WFST. Given an English translation 'yard,' the most likely transcription is corrected to /ho:f/ ('Hof') in the composed WFST, while in the original phoneme lattice it is /haus/ ('Haus'). Solid edges represent most likely paths.

 ϕ to source tokens f according to $P(\phi_{start}, \ldots, \phi_{end} | f)$; and a lexical translation model representing P(f|e) for each e in the written translation. This is similar to the WFST architecture shown in Figure 5.3, except a separate lexicon FST is required to convert phoneme lattices into word lattices, which must be learnt during inference. The composition of these components is shown, illustrating how would-be transcription errors can be resolved. This framework is also reminiscent of the WFST framework used by Neubig *et al.* (2012a) for lexicon and language model learning from monolingual data.

We now describe how the factors of Equation 5.9 can be expressed in a weighted finite-state transducer framework. We describe each of the constituent components in turn. Note that though the transducer framework transduces from source phonemes to the target words, the generative story proceeds in the opposite direction: the observed text words produce the noisy acoustic signal.

Phoneme lattice The phoneme lattice captures phoneme sequences given by the acoustic model to explain the observed acoustic signal according to $P(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{\phi})$.

Lexicon Each path represents one lexical entry and transduces from phonemes to a token that represents the sequence of those phonemes. The probability of each path is 1. This component captures $P(\phi_{start}, \ldots, \phi_{end} | f)$, where $\phi_{start}, \ldots, \phi_{end}$ represents a phoneme substring in the corpus that constitutes a word.

Translation model Each edge takes a foreign word token and yields an English word with probability P(f|e). Since language model probabilities are not given as they were in §5.3, inclusion of this factor gives rise to the joint probability distribution of Equation 5.8, rather than the factored model of the previous section.

Composed FST The bottom of Figure 5.9, illustrates the composition of the lattice, lexicon and translation model. This *alignment lattice* expresses the distribution of Equation 5.9. Given this WFST, the 1-best path can be found by simply using Dijkstra's algorithm. Notice how the 1-best path through this path is informed by

5.4.2 Learning the Lexicon and Translation Model

Because we do not have knowledge of the source language, we must learn the lexicon and translation model from the phoneme lattices and their written translations. In order to determine the translation model parameters as described above, we sample alignments A using the same approach described in §5.3.2. However, unlike that word lattice case, in this case the lexical entries need to be learnt. To do this, some adjustments must be made. The two most notable changes are that (a) the model must accommodate segmentation of phonemes into words not previously seen and (b) the translation model must become non-parametric, because the lexicon can be arbitrarily large. The lexicon needs to allow phonemes to pass through without conversion to known words, since they may constitute a word not yet in the lexicon. The extreme case of this is when the lexicon initially starts empty. For this we add an additional component (a word length model, described below) to the lexicon that serves as a prior distribution over sequences of phonemes.

We model lexical translation probabilities using a Dirichlet process. Let A be both the transcription of each source utterance **f** and its word alignments to the translation **e** that generated them. The conditional posterior can be expressed as:

$$P(f|e;A) = \frac{c_A(f,e) + \alpha P_{base}(f)}{c_A(e) + \alpha},$$
(5.10)

where $c_A(f, e)$ is a count of how many times f has aligned to e in A and $c_A(e)$ is a count of e in any alignment; P_{base} is a base distribution that influences how phonemes are penalized based on their length; and α determines the emphasis on the base distribution. The distinction between Equation 5.10 and Equation 5.6 of the previous section is that the base distribution now takes a non-uniform, non-parametric form with probabilities varying with respect to the length of the word.

In order to express the Dirichlet process using the WFST components, we take the union of the lexicon with a word length model base distribution that consumes



Figure 5.10: A translation model template. Each shown edge has a number of distinct instantiations for all $f \in V_f, e \in e$.

a subsequence of phonemes $\phi_{start} \dots \phi_{end}$ and produces a special $\langle \text{unk} \rangle$ token with probability $P_{base}(\phi_{start} \dots \phi_{end})$. This $\langle \text{unk} \rangle$ token is consumed by a designated arc in the translation model WFST (see Figure 5.10 with probability $\frac{\alpha}{c_A(e)+\alpha}$, yielding a composed probability of $\frac{\alpha P_{base}(f)}{c_A(e)+\alpha}$. Other arcs in the translation model express the probability $\frac{c_A(f,e)}{c_A(e)+\alpha}$ of entries already in the lexicon. The sum of these two probabilities equates to Equation 5.10. The $\langle \text{unk} \rangle$ token is used when a new (unknown) token, not in the lexicon, is drawn from the base distribution. However, it can also be drawn from the base distribution even when the corresponding word is already in the lexicon.

See the translation model transducer as shown in Figure 5.10. The top edge corresponds to aligning a learned source word f to an observed target word e by drawing according to cached alignment counts. The bottom edge corresponds to the probability of drawing from the base distribution. There is only one $\langle unk \rangle$ token and the probability is the same given each $e \in e$.

The word length model

The key distinction between the model in this section and that of §5.3 is this model's ability to segment the sequence of phonemes into words in order to perform unsupervised learning of a lexicon. Behind this segmentation is a base distribution —the word length model—which guides the segmentation. We experiment with three word length models, implementing WFSTs to represent them. These WFSTs can form part of the lexicon FST of Figure 5.9, by taking the union of the lexicon FST in that figure and the word length model WFST.


Figure 5.11: A word length model in the empty state that implements a Geometric prior, assigning probabilities to phoneme sequences not yet in the lexicon. Note that the arcs with phoneme ϕ on the input side can be considered templates, where in reality there is one such arc for each $\phi \in V_{\phi}$, where V_{ϕ} is the phoneme set.

These models can thus be considered simplified spelling models of (Mochihashi *et al.* 2009) and constitute the base distribution of the Dirichlet process.

Geometric distribution The most simple word length model is the geometric distribution, $Geometric(\gamma)$, shown in Figure 5.11. In this word length model prior (and the others discussed below in §5.4.2), all phoneme types are treated the same, with uniform probability. It is the length of the phoneme sequence that dictates its probability. In the case of the geometric distribution, longer sequences are always given less probability. This prior can most simply be implemented such that each phoneme type is given a uniform probability by this prior, with the probability of any length k phoneme sequence as:

$$P(k) = (1 - \gamma)^{k-1} \gamma.$$
(5.11)

Disregarding the effects of other lexical items being in the lexicon, and of the weights of the supplied phoneme lattice, the most probable path is actually the one that segments the sequence as one large word. This is because there is a γ cost associated with completing a word. However, there are exponentially more segmentations of smaller words, and thus when sampling a path through the alignment lattice, smaller words are much more likely. Ultimately, with more sampling, these effects are outweighed by that of the translation model rewarding segmentations/alignments that explain the data.

The geometric prior described above is small, efficient, and helps to deliver phoneme recognition improvements in its own right. However, modelling word segmentation with geometric decay faces a key limitation in that the most likely length of a word is 1 phoneme, departing from observations of natural language.

Poisson distribution While the geometric distribution has a simple and elegant WFST formulation, it encourages the most common word length to be 1 phoneme, which doesn't encourage clustering of common groups of phonemes as much as we would like. A better prior would ensure the most likely length of a word is somewhat longer, but still with exponential decay thereafter. The Poisson distribution appears a more natural fit for this as a parameter λ is can be used to specify the average length. For any length k phoneme sequence, the probability is:

$$P(k;\lambda) = \frac{\lambda^k e^{-\lambda}}{k!}.$$
(5.12)

While the geometric distribution can be easily expressed recursively, the Poisson distribution cannot. We limit the number of states in the Poisson WFST to 100. Furthermore, since the standard Poisson distribution would give non-zero probability to phoneme sequences of length 0, we also shift the Poisson distribution probabilities such that $P(k = 0; \lambda) = 0$ and the remaining probability mass takes the form:

$$P(k;\lambda) = \frac{\lambda^{k-1}e^{-\lambda}}{(k-1)!}.$$
(5.13)

Shifted geometric distribution The *shifted* geometric distribution, *Shifted*(α, γ), like the Poisson distribution, mitigates the shortcoming of the geometric distribution whereby words of length 1 have the highest probability. It does so by having another parameter α that specifies the probability of a word of length 1, allowing it to be penalized, with the remaining probability mass distributed geometrically. An advantage of the shifted geometric distribution over the Poisson is that it admits a simple recursive WFST formulation, as shown in Figure 5.12, as well as the possibility of stronger penalization against single-phoneme words.

Figure 5.13 shows a histogram of the Poisson, Shifted, and Geometric distributions with the parameterizations found most effective during tuning.



Figure 5.12: A shifted geometric distribution, with one probability specified, P(1), giving the probability of a word being of length 1. Arcs with input ϕ are templates for all arcs that take a phoneme on the input. These arcs must have a denominator of $|V_{\phi}|$ since we uniformly distribute the probability over all phonemes in the vocabulary V_{ϕ} .

5.4.3 Experimental Evaluation

We evaluate the learnt lexicon and translation model by their ability to improve phoneme recognition, measuring phoneme error rate (PER).

Experimental Setup

We used up to 9 hours of English–Japanese data from the BTEC corpus (Takezawa et al. 2002), comprised of spoken utterances paired with textual translations. This allows us to assess the approach assuming quality acoustic models. We used acoustic models similar to Heck et al. (2015) to obtain source phoneme lattices without the help of a lexicon or language model. "Gold" phoneme transcriptions were obtained by transforming the text with pronunciation lexicons and, in the Japanese case, first segmenting the text into tokens using KyTea (Neubig et al. 2011a). Note that these transcriptions are good but not perfect. There may be some minor degree of phonemic deviation in the speech relative to what the pronunciation lexicon suggests about the pronunciation of each word in the lexicon. However, it makes sense to treat this phonemic transcription as a gold reference.



Figure 5.13: Histogram illustrating the word length model priors: the *Shifted* geometric distribution, a Poisson distribution, and a *Vague* geometric distribution.

We run experiments in both directions: transcription of English using Japanese translations (en-ja) and transcription of Japanese using English translations (ja-en), while comparing against three settings: the ASR 1-best path uninformed by the model (ASR); a monolingual version of our model that is identical except without conditioning on the target side (Mono); and the model applied using the source language sentence as the target (Oracle).

We tuned on the first 1,000 utterances (about 1 hour) of speech and trained on up to 9 hours of the remaining data.⁸ Tuning was performed only using English in the monolingual configuration, using a grid search over α and the hyperparameters of the respective priors to find the best values. Only the oracle setup was used for tuning, with Geometric(0.01) (taking the form of a *vague* prior), Shifted(10⁻⁵, 0.25)

 $^{^{8}\}mathrm{A}$ 1 hour subset was used for PER evaluation.

	English (en)			Japanese (ja)		
	Mono	-ja	Oracle	Mono	-en	Oracle
ASR		22.1			24.3	
Vague	17.7	18.5	17.2	21.5	20.8	21.6
Shifted	17.4	16.9	16.6	21.2	20.1	20.2
Poisson	17.3	17.2	16.8	21.3	20.1	20.8

Table 5.12: Phoneme error rates (percent) when training on 9 hours of speech, averaged over 4 runs. As described in the text, *Mono* is a monolingual variation of the model that uses no translation, while *Oracle* uses a gold transcription in the same language as the phoneme recognition.

and Poisson(7) performing best.

We tuned α and γ . Changing α made little difference, though higher values began to reduce results, so we left it at 1. For γ , a value of 0.01 offered the largest PER reductions, with the PER appearing to monotonically decrease as γ decreased, from 0.213 to 0.196 against the baseline of 0.241.

Results

Table 5.12 shows en-ja and ja-en results for all methods with the full training data. Notably, English recognition gains less from using Japanese as the target side (en-ja) than the other way around, while the 'oracle' approach for Japanese recognition, which also uses Japanese as the target, actually underperforms ja-en. These observations suggest that using the Japanese target is less helpful, likely explained by the fine-grained morphological segmentation we used, making it harder for the model to relate source phonemes to target tokens.

While the Shifted and Poisson distributions were very close in performance, the vague geometric prior significantly underperforms the other priors. In the en-ja/vague case, the model actually underperforms its monolingual counterpart. The vague prior biases towards fine-grained English source segmentation, with words of length 1 most



Figure 5.14: Japanese phoneme error rates using the *shifted* geometric prior when training data is scaled up from 1–9 hours, averaged over 3 runs.



Figure 5.15: English phoneme error rates (expressed as percentages) of $Poisson(\lambda = 7)$ when training data is scaled up from 1 to 9 hours. A single run was used for each data point.



Figure 5.16: Japanese phoneme error rates (as percentages) using the Poisson prior when training data is scaled up from 1 hour to 9 hours. A single run was used for each data point.

common. In this case, fine-grained Japanese is also used as the target which results in most lexical entries arising from uninformative alignments between single English phonemes and Japanese syllables, such as $/t/\Leftrightarrow \mathbf{J}$. Perhaps the slight advantage Shifted gains over Poisson is because of its ability to even further penalize singlephoneme lexical items (see Figure 5.13), which regularly end up in all lexicons anyway due to their combinatorial advantage.

Figure 5.14 shows improvements of ja–en over both the ASR baseline and the Mono method as the training data increases, with translation modelling gaining an increasing advantage with more training data. To give a further sense of how performance generally scales with training data, Figures 5.15 and 5.16 present results of en–ja and ja–en respectively, using a Poisson prior. Since the method is unsupervised, the test set is a fixed 54 minute (1,000 utterances) subset of the training data.

While many bilingual lexical entries are correct, such as $/wAn/\Leftrightarrow -$ ('one'), most are not. Some have segmentation errors $/li:z/\Leftrightarrow < ださ$ ('please'); some are correctly segmented but misaligned to commonly co-occurring words $/wAt/\Leftrightarrow$ 時 ('what' aligned to 'time'); others do not constitute individual words, but morphemes aligned

Japanese:	この ブラウスは 思 ったより安かった
English:	this blouse was cheaper than i thought
Reference:	ð 1∫blau∫w czt∫ipæð∧natθct
1-best ASR:	1∫ р aʊ∫w 1 θ t∫ i р э ð a1 <mark>θ ⊃ d</mark>
Mono:	ɪzblaʊ∫wʌzt∫ipэðεnaɪθɔt
en–ja:	δι∫blau∫wʌzt∫ipэδεn aιθɔt
Oracle (en-en):	δı∫blæ∫izt∫ipэð∧natθ⊃t
Japanese:	そう ですか
Japanese: English	そう ですか is that right
Japanese: English Reference:	そうですか is that right Izð A t J al t
Japanese: English Reference: 1-best ASR:	そう ですか is that right Izð A t J aI t I z ð æ t J eI
Japanese: English Reference: 1-best ASR: Mono:	そう ですか is that right Izð A t J aI t I z ð & t J aI t I z ð & t J aI t
Japanese: English Reference: 1-best ASR: Mono: en-ja:	そう ですか is that right Izð A t J aI t I z ð & t J aI t I z ð & t J aI t I z ð & t J aI t

Japanese:	小切手に 署名 しなければなりませんのね
English:	i have to sign the check dont i
Reference:	aı h æ V t u∫aı n ŏ i t∫ε k d oʊ n t aı
1-best ASR:	hæftdɪ <mark>∫aɪd</mark> ɪdtʃεkdɑnʌ
Mono:	hæft∧∫aındt∫εktαn∧
en–ja:	hæft∧∫aındt∫εktαn∧
Oracle (en–en) :	aı hæft ∧∫aı n d t∫εktαn∧

Table 5.13: Examples of output from four model variations. Top to bottom: Japanese translation; orthographic English transcription; phonemic English reference; shortest path through the ASR lattice (1-best ASR); monolingual method learning only from patterns in the lattice, without the translation or transcription (Mono); bilingual method harnessing the Japanese translation (en-ja); Oracle method harnessing the orthographic English transcription. Orange highlights the reference; green highlights a corrections over the 1-best path; red highlights failures to correct; blue highlights a correction only the Oracle made on account of explicit information in the English transcription unavailable in the Japanese translation.

to common Japanese syllables $/i:\eta/\Leftrightarrow \langle ('-ing');$ others still align multi-word units correctly $/haomAtf/\Leftrightarrow \cup \langle \mathfrak{F} ('how much')$. Note though that entries such as those listed above capture information that may nevertheless help to reduce phoneme transcription errors.

Table 5.13 shows some sentences from the corpus: the original English and Japanese transcriptions; the reference English phonemic pronunciation; the 1-best ASR output; the monolingual version of the model; the bilingual version that harnesses Japanese translations; and the Oracle, which harnesses orthographic English transcriptions.

The gold reference is shown in orange. In the first example, information from Japanese $\subset \mathcal{O}$ is used to accurately transcribe $/\delta \int \int (this)$ in the en-ja method that harnesses the Japanese translations (shown in green). The Oracle similarly uses the orthographic English transcription *this* to the same end. In contrast, the 1-best ASR and Mono approaches fail to transcribe this word correctly (shown in red) since they do not have that information available. Similar instances are shown elsewhere in green, with the English and Japanese words for *though*, *right* and *sign* helping in their cases. Mono is often, but not always, able to learn monolingual word units for similar correction.

Blue text highlights a word only the Oracle method was able to correctly transcribe. This can be explained by the lack of explicit information on the Japanese side to learn that entry. A translation for I is not explicit in the Japanese text, thus en-ja fails to correctly transcribe /aɪ/. In contrast, the Oracle can resolve the error since it uses the orthographic English transcription, which has one-to-one correspondence with the speech.

5.5 Discussion

One of the appealing aspects of this final modular framework is that there is much room for extension and improvement. For example, by using adaptor grammars to encourage syllable segmentation (Johnson 2008), or incorporating language model probabilities in addition to our translation model probabilities (Neubig *et al.* 2012a).

The work presented in this chapter is consistent with the argument from the end

of Chapter 3 that bilingual lexical *coocurrences* can be useful for downstream tasks such as automatic speech recognition. This is true even when most entries from a simulated environment would not pass the litmus test of correctness based on whether they occur in a bilingual lexicon. However, bilingual context matters and can be very helpful. This holds true particularly for very different languages such as Japanese and English, where syntactic and morphological differences mean bilingual lexical items are even less likely to be correct in any strict sort of sense. However, despite this, significant reductions in phoneme error rate are found by harnessing the bilingual context, even when there is no prior information relating these languages available.

Despite drastic advances in acoustic modelling and speech recognition in the last decade, reducing phoneme error rates will remain important in low-resource contexts. In the case of the documentation of endangered languages, limited training data is available with which to train acoustic models and so making the most of available training data is key. Such data includes limited monolingual phonetic transcriptions, for which modelling must be effective. But importantly, such data may include other information, such as translations gathered in a language documentation setup based on Aikuma.

In this chapter we progressively removed simplifying assumptions until modelling speech and translations directly, assuming no prior lexicon, language model or translation model. However, the method did require an acoustic model with phoneme error rates between 20 and 25%. In a language documentation scenario, only limited supervised training data to train such acoustic models may be available. Future work might use a universal phoneme recognizer, making a step towards generalisability, or address acoustic modelling in the language with limited training data. The next chapter addresses the latter, exploring acoustic modelling for phonemic and tonal prediction in the context of language documentation for Yongning Na.

Chapter 6

Acoustic Modelling for Low-Resource Languages

Large portions of this chapter have appeared in the following papers:

Oliver Adams, Trevor Cohn, Graham Neubig, Alexis Michaud (2017) Phonemic transcription of low-resource tonal languages, in *Proceedings of* the Australasian Language Technology Association Workshop 2017 (ALTA), Brisbane, Australia. pp. 53–60.

Oliver Adams, Trevor Cohn, Graham Neubig, Hilaria Cruz, Steven Bird, Alexis Michaud (2018) Evaluating phonemic transcription of low-resource tonal languages for language documentation in *Proceedings of LREC* 2018: 11th edition of the Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, Miyazaki, Japan. (To appear).

The work so far in this thesis has assumed some sort of acoustic model is available with which to make initial hypotheses of phoneme transcriptions. In Chapters 3 and 4 the assumption was of an error-free single transcription hypothesis (possibly manually obtained). In chapter 5, this assumption was progressively relaxed, ultimately resulting in the use of probabilistic output from real acoustic models for Spanish, Japanese and English. Though this latter case is more realistic, it still assumed that ample data was available in these languages with which to train the acoustic models, which were subsequently used in simulated low-resource configurations. In the final experimentation in Chapter 5, the phoneme error rates of the assumed acoustic models were in the order of 25%.

We now proceed to an exploration of acoustic modelling in low-resource contexts so that such lattices may be obtained. Another motivation for monolingual acoustic modelling comes from considering the workflow of the linguist documenting Yongning Na (Alexis Michaud), which involves phonetic transcription and translation occurring in parallel. While there is promise in harnessing translations to improve speech recognition, it is important to address the problem when information is only available in one language, which is a more general problem with broader applicability. In this chapter, we demonstrate that similar acoustic model performance that was assumed in the previous chapter can be obtained for languages with as little as 40 minutes of spontaneous narratives in Na, and as little as 25 minutes of elicited speech of Eastern Chatino, by using neural sequence-to-sequence models in a single-speaker context. Importantly, these languages are both tonal. Since tonal transcription is an important part of the language documentation workflow, we address tonal modelling too.

There has been work on low-resource speech recognition (Besacier *et al.* 2014), with approaches using cross-lingual information for better acoustic modelling (Burget *et al.* 2010; Vu *et al.* 2014; Xu *et al.* 2016; Müller *et al.* 2017) and language modelling (Xu and Fung 2013). However, speech recognition technology has largely been ineffective for endangered languages since traditional training pipelines, which generate orthographic transcriptions, require a large pronunciation lexicon and a language model trained on text. These speech recognition systems are usually trained on a variety of speakers and hundreds of hours of data (Hinton *et al.* 2012:92), with the goal of generalisation to new speakers. Since large amounts of text are used for language model training, such systems can rely on contextual information for tonal disambiguation via the language model (Le and Besacier 2009; Feng *et al.* 2012), and as a result often do not incorporate pitch information for speech recognition of tonal languages (Metze *et al.* 2013).

In contrast, language documentation contexts often have just a few speakers for model training, and little text for language model training. However, there may be benefit even in a system that overfits to these speakers. If a *phonemic* recognition tool can provide a canvas transcription for manual correction and linguistic analysis, it may be possible to improve the leverage of linguists. The data collected in this semi-automated workflow can then be used as training data for further refinement of the acoustic model, leading to a snowball effect of better and faster transcription.

Note that in many language documentation scenarios there *will* be more information available than what we assume for the experimentation in this chapter, typically including a lexicon of some modest size as exploited in Chapter 4. In general, we advocate for the use of as much available information as possible (see Chapter 7), but in this chapter we use as training data only speech and phonemic transcriptions. Such experimentation establishes a lower bound on what can be achievable in these languages with the data available. A positive side-effect of not incorporating such information into the model is that it encourages the automatic transcription to be most faithful to the acoustic signal, since lexicons and language models bias towards prior information. This is desirable since the documentation work of Michaud has as a goal transcription of the speech with high phonetic accuracy, including fillers, fragments and deviations from canonical word forms.

In this chapter we investigate the application of neural speech recognition models to the task of phonemic and tonal transcription in a low-resource language documentation setting. We use the connectionist temporal classification (CTC) formulation (Graves *et al.* 2006) for the purposes of direct prediction of phonemes and tones given an acoustic signal, thus bypassing the need for a pronunciation lexicon, language model, and time alignments of phonemes in the training data. By sidestepping the requirement of a lexicon in this way, we make the use of automatic transcription technology more feasible in a language documentation setting. Moreover, by focusing on the single-speaker task, we set the models up to need less data.

We evaluate this approach on two tonal languages, Yongning Na and Eastern Chatino (Cruz and Woodbury 2006; Michaud 2017b). Na is a Sino-Tibetan language spoken in southwest China with three tonal levels, High (H), Mid (M) and Low (L) which can be combined for a total of seven tone labels. Eastern Chatino, spoken in Oaxaca, Mexico, has a richer tone set but both languages have extensive morphotonology. Overall estimates of numbers of speakers for Chatino and Na are similar, standing at about 40,000 for both (Simons and Fennig 2017), but there is a high degree of dialect differentiation within the languages. The data used in the present study are from the Alawa dialect of Yongning Na, and the San Juan Quiahije dialect of Eastern Chatino. As a rule-of-thumb estimate, it is likely that the Na materials would be intelligible to a population of less than 10,000.¹

Though a significant amount of Chatino speech has been transcribed (Chatino Language Documentation Project 2017), its rich tone system and opposing location on the globe make it a useful point of comparison for our explorations of Na, the language for which automatic transcription is our primary practical concern. Though Na has previously had speech recognition applied in a pilot study (Do *et al.* 2014a), phoneme error rates were not quantified and tone recognition was left as future work.

We perform experiments scaling the training data, comparing joint prediction of phonemes and tones with separate prediction, and assessing the influence of pitch information versus phonemic context on phonemic and tonal prediction in the CTC-based framework. Importantly, we qualitatively evaluate use of this automation in the linguist's transcription of Na. The effectiveness of the approach has resulted in its incorporation into the linguist's workflow. Our open-source implementation is available online.²

In summary we explore the effects of (a) scaling a training data to extremely low amounts; (b) exploring tonal prediction in the CTC framework; (c) analyzing errors on phoneme and tonal prediction with (d) a discussion of the outcomes of implementing this technology in a linguistic workflow.

6.1 Languages and Data

We now describe the Na and Chatino datasets in more detail.

 $^{^1 \}rm For$ details on the situation for Eastern Chatino, see Cruz (2011:18-23). $^2 \tt github.com/oadams/mam$



Figure 6.1: A sentence from the Na corpus. Top to bottom: spectrogram with F_0 in blue; waveform; phonemic transcription; English, French and Chinese translations; morpheme-level English gloss.

6.1.1 Yongning Na (Mosuo, Narua)

Na is spoken by about 40,000 speakers (Yang *et al.* 2009) and is a *threatened* language: status 6b on Ethnologue (Lewis *et al.* 2015). It's also a richly tonal language (Yang *et al.* 2009), which bears more challenges for speech recognition. In particular, the morphotonology (tone sandhi) of the language is rich: the surface forms of tones for words depend on the surrounding context and deviate from their canonical form one might find in a lexicon. Additionally, the pitch of two syllables with the same tone varies depending on the context. This feature of the language exemplifies more general issues of prosody and sandhi found in many languages.

We use the Na corpus that is part of the Pangloss collection (Michailovsky *et al.* 2014). This corpus consists of around 100 spoken narratives from one speaker in the form of traditional stories, and spontaneous narratives about life, family and customs (Michaud 2017b:33). Currently the Na data consists of 14 hours of speech, 5.5 hours of which are accompanied by phonemic transcriptions. 200 minutes of this subset are spoken narratives segmented at approximately the sentence level, while 130 minutes are elicited speech of short utterances (Michaud 2017a). An example sentence entry can be seen in Figure 6.1.

We used up to 149 minutes of the transcribed spontaneous speech for training, 24 minutes for validation and 23 minutes for testing. The total number of phoneme and tone labels used for automatic transcription was 78 and 7 respectively.

In the phonemic transcription of the audio, the transcriptions also provide some markup to denote corrections and mistakes. Some phoneme sequences occur within angle brackets (< and >). These denote literal phoneme sequences that occurred as a mistake on the part of the speaker, such as gap-fillers and sentence fragments that were started and then respoken.

As a complement to these mistakes, phonemes occurring within square brackets ([and]), were omitted by the narrator, but were added in the process of transcription and translation in order to make a smoother translation.

6.1.2 Eastern Chatino

As a point of comparison for our primary work on Na, we evaluate the approach on another richly tonal language (with 14 tone classes, and 31 phoneme labels) from the other side of the world. Similar to Na, overall estimates for the number of speakers of Chatino stand at about 40,000 (Simons and Fennig 2017), with a high degree of dialect differentiation within the languages. Though a significant amount of Chatino speech has been elicited with corresponding transcriptions (Chatino Language Documentation Project 2017), we used data of Eastern Chatino dialect of San Juan Quiahije, Oaxaca, Mexico (spoken by approximately 3,000 speakers and rarely written) from the GORILLA language archive (Cavar *et al.* 2016) for the purpose of comparing phoneme and tone prediction with Na when data restriction is in place.

This corpus was created with the idea of using speech recognition for more efficient language documentation in mind. Unlike the spontaneous speech of the Na corpus, this corpus is read speech of transcripts and texts. The recordings are free from background noise, variation in sound quality, and interaction between speakers mid recording (Cavar *et al.* 2016). These recordings were created with forced alignment in mind for their work.

6.2 Model

The underlying neural network used is a long short-term memory (LSTM) recurrent neural network (Hochreiter and Schmidhuber 1997) in a bidirectional configuration (Schuster and Paliwal 1997). The network is trained with the connectionist temporal classification (CTC) loss function (Graves *et al.* 2006). This is achieved through the use of a dynamic programming algorithm that efficiently sums over the probability of neural network output labels that correspond to the gold transcription sequence when repeated labels are collapsed and a special blank token is removed.

There have been advances in sequence-to-sequence modelling for speech recognition beyond the use of CTC, such as attentional neural architectures (Bahdanau *et al.* 2014; Chorowski *et al.* 2015; Bahdanau *et al.* 2016; Kim *et al.* 2016a), segmental conditional random fields and segmental neural networks (He and Fosler-Lussier 2012; O. Abdel-Hamid L. Deng and Jiang 2013; Lu *et al.* 2016). Though we acknowledge alternative models beyond CTC are applicable, we restrict the scope of this chapter to explore a comparison of varying training objectives and input features within the CTC paradigm.

The use of a recurrent neural network allows the model to implicitly model context via the parameters of the LSTM, despite the independent frame-wise label predictions of the CTC network. It is this feature of the architecture that makes it a promising tool for tonal prediction, since tonal information is suprasegmental, spanning many frames (Mortensen *et al.* 2016). Context beyond the immediate local signal is indispensable for tonal prediction, and long-ranging context is especially important in the case of morphotonologically rich languages such as Na and Chatino.

We compare several training objectives for the purposes of phoneme and tone prediction. This includes separate prediction of 1) phonemes and 2) tones, as well as 3) jointly predicting phonemes and tones using one label set. Figure 6.3 an example of these three objectives using the sentence from the Na corpus shown in Figure 6.1. Since there is one tone per syllable in Na, and syllables can be deterministically segmented given phonemes, merging such independent phoneme and tone predictions is not a problem.

One might expect joint modelling to lead to lower phoneme error rates (PERs) and tone error rates (TERs), since more contextual information is given to the model in a form of multi-task learning. We experiment with a range of configurations to explore the effect phonemic and tonal context has on error rates.

6.2.1 Connectionist Temporal Classification

The key merit of the CTC formulation (Graves *et al.* 2006) is that there do not need to be alignments between the speech features $\boldsymbol{x} = x_1, \ldots, x_T$ and the transcribed labels of the training set $\boldsymbol{z} = z_1, \ldots, z_U$, where $U \leq T$.

The neural network output at each timestep t is an unnormalized probability distribution over the output labels (e.g. phonemes or tones) and a blank symbol, \emptyset . This output distribution is denoted $\mathbf{y}_t = y_t^0, y_t^1 \dots, y_t^K$, where y_t^0 is the probability of \emptyset and y_t^k is the probability of the kth label in the list of available labels. In order to arrive at a labelling from these output distributions, one simple and fast approach is best path decoding, where the most probable label is taken at each time step to form a path $\boldsymbol{\pi} = \pi_1, \dots, \pi_T$. $\boldsymbol{\pi}$ can then be collapsed by first removing duplicate nonblank labels before removing blank labels. This is cheap, but is not guaranteed to find the most probable labelling. Finding the most probable labelling, which requires summing over values of \boldsymbol{y} corresponding to all possible labellings, is computationally intractable.

In training the neural network parameters, the maximum likelihood objective is to maximize the probability of the training labels given the speech input, $p(\boldsymbol{z}|\boldsymbol{x})$.



Figure 6.2: Neural network architecture with a CTC loss function. Dynamic programming allows for efficient computation of the probability of the relatively short label sequence given the input features \boldsymbol{y} , and for that probability to be expressed in a way differentiable with respect to any given timestep. Time alignment between the speech signal and phonemes is not required as prior knowledge. In the CTC graph, empty nodes represent blank symbols, while filled circles represent phonemes and tones. Note: only forward probabilities are illustrated, and we show one BiLSTM layer, though 3 are used in practice.

	Target label sequence
1. Phonemes	t ^h i g o m i dz o t ^h i a к o dz o t s ш m y
2. Tones	
3. Joint	t ^h i J] g o H m i H d ʑ o J t ^h i J] a J к o H dʑ o J t s ш J m ү J

Figure 6.3: Target label sequences: 1. phonemes only, 2. tones only, 3. phonemes and tones together (*joint*).

Determining this probability requires summation over all of the paths π that collapse to z when duplicates and blanks are removed. This can efficiently be accomplished using dynamic programming to compute α and β probabilities similar to those used in forward-backward training of HMMs (Rabiner 1989). $\alpha_t^{z_u}$ is the probability of all CTC paths ending with label z_u at frame t, while $\beta_t^{z_u}$ is the probability of all CTC paths starting with z_u at frame t. The probability of the labelling given the speech features can then be expressed for any t as

$$p(\boldsymbol{z}|\boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{u=1}^{2U+1} \alpha_t^{z_u} \beta_t^{z_u} \,,$$

where we sum up to 2U + 1 to account for blank labels being inserted between every non-blank label, allowing for blanks in output paths. This way of formulating $p(\boldsymbol{z}|\boldsymbol{x})$ allows it to be differentiated with respect to the neural network outputs at each timestep, facilitating updating of parameters via backpropagation.³ An illustration is shown in Figure 6.2, where the CTC network sits on top of the LSTM.

6.3 Experimental Setup

We designed the experiments to answer these primary questions:

1. How do the error rates scale with respect to training data? What amount might linguists expect to transcribe before this technology can be used to aid in further transcription?

³For a more detailed explanation see Graves *et al.* (2006) and Miao *et al.* (2015).

- 2. How effective is tonal modelling in a CTC framework?
- 3. To what extent does phoneme context play a role in tone prediction?
- 4. Does joint prediction of phonemes and tones help minimize error rates?

We assess the performance of the systems as training data scales from 10 minutes to 150 minutes of a single Na speaker, and between 12 and 50 minutes for a single speaker of Chatino. Experimenting with this extremely limited training data gives us a sense of how much a linguist needs to transcribe before this technology can be profitably incorporated into their workflow.

We evaluate both the phoneme error rate (PER) and tone error rate (TER) of models based on the same neural architecture, but with varying input features and output objectives. Input features include log Filterbank features⁴ (fbank), pitch features of Ghahremani *et al.* (2014) (pitch),⁵ and a combination of both (fbank+pitch). These input features vary in the amount of acoustic information relevant to tonal modelling that they include. The output objectives correspond to those discussed in §6.2: tones only (tone), phonemes only (phoneme), or jointly modelling both (joint). We denote combinations of input features and target labellings as (input) \Rightarrow (output).

In case of tonal prediction we explore similar configurations to that of phoneme prediction, but with two additional points of comparison. The first is predicting tones given one-hot phoneme vectors (phoneme) of the gold phoneme transcription phoneme \Rightarrow tone). The second is the task of predicting tones directly from pitch features (pitch \Rightarrow tone). These important points of comparison serve to give us some understanding as to how much tonal information is being extracted directly from the acoustic signal versus the phoneme context.

Hyperparameters and Training

We used the LSTM cells proposed by Sak *et al.* (2014) in a bidirectional configuration. For feature extraction from the recordings we used 41 log Filterbank features

 $^{^{4}41}$ log Filterbank features along with their first and second derivatives computed using the python_speech_features library on default settings

⁵As implemented in Kaldi

	N	Num. layers			
Hidden size	2	3	4		
100	22.8	18.7	17.2		
250	17.6	14.2	14.9		
400	14.6	14.4	OOM		

Table 6.1: Phoneme error rate (%) for fbank \Rightarrow phoneme on the Na validation set when trained on 2,048 utterances. *OOM* (out of memory) indicates that our system didn't have enough memory to complete experimentation with those hyperparameters.

along with their first and second derivatives. In some cases we also added pitch features of Ghahremani et al. (2014).

Our underlying model generally resembles that of Graves *et al.* (2013). For training, we used the Adam optimizer (Kingma and Ba 2015). We trained for a minimum of 40 epochs, thereafter stopping if no improvement was found for 10 consecutive epochs.

For tuning, we performed a small variety of grid searches to account for varying input⇒output configurations, in each case exploring 2,3 and 4 layers, and 100, 250 and 400 hidden units. We found 3 layers with 250 hidden units to be reasonably competitive in each input⇒output combination.

Training, Validation and Test sets

For both languages, preprocessing involved removing punctuation and any other symbols that are not phonemes or tones such as tone group delimiters and hyphens connecting syllables within words. We created training sets of varying sizes. For Na we used between 9.3 minutes and 149.8 minutes of transcribed speech, and for Chatino between 12 and 50 minutes. We also randomly created validation sets and test sets of sizes 24 and 23 minutes for Na, and 8 and 7 minutes for Chatino.

6.4 Quantitative Results

Figure 6.4 shows the phoneme and tone error rates for Na and Chatino.

Error rate scaling Error rates decrease logarithmically with training data. The best methods reliably have a lower than 30% PER with 30 minutes of training data. We believe it is reasonable to expect similar trends in other languages, with these results suggesting how much linguists might need to transcribe before semi-automation can become part of their workflow.

In the case of phoneme-only prediction, use of pitch information does help reduce the PER, which is consistent with previous work indication pitch information can aid in phoneme prediction (Metze *et al.* 2013).

Tonal modelling TER is always higher than PER for the same amount of training data, despite there being only 7 tone labels versus 78 phoneme labels in our Na experiment. This is true even when pitch features are present. However, it is unsurprising since the tones have overlapping pitch ranges, and can be realized with a different pitch over the course of a single sentence.

"A consonant is much more context-independent than a tone: to cite just 1 factor, declination, the same tone (say, L) is realized on vastly different pitch at the outset of a sentence than at its end due to declination of F0 in the course of an affirmative sentence." —Alexis Michaud

This suggests that long-ranging context is more important for predicting tones than phonemes.

fbank \Rightarrow tone and pitch \Rightarrow tone are vastly inferior to other methods, all of which are privy to phonemic information via training labels or input. However, combining the fbank and pitch input features (fbank+pitch \Rightarrow tone) makes for the equal best performing approach for tonal prediction in Na at maximum training data. This indicates both that these features are complementary and that the model has learnt a representation useful for tonal prediction that is on par with explicit phonemic information.



Figure 6.4: Phoneme error rate (PER) and tone error rate (TER) on test sets as training data is scaled for Na (left) and Chatino (right). The legend entries are formatted as $\langle input \rangle \Rightarrow \langle output \rangle$ to indicate model input features and output labels.

Though tonal prediction is more challenging than phoneme prediction, these results suggest automatic tone transcription is feasible using this architecture, even without inclusion of explicit linguistic information such as constraints on valid tone sequences which is a promising line of future work.

Phoneme context To assess the importance of context in tone prediction, the $phoneme \Rightarrow tone$ task gives us a point of comparison where no acoustic information is available at all. It performs reasonably well for Na, and competitively for Chatino. One likely reason for its solid performance is that long-range context is modelled more effectively by using phoneme input features, since there are vastly fewer phonemes per sentence than speech frames. The rich morphotonology of Na and Chatino means context is important in the realisation of tones, explaining why $phoneme \Rightarrow tone$ can perform almost as well as methods using acoustic features.

Joint prediction Interestingly, joint prediction of phonemes and tones does not help phoneme prediction. In light of the celebrated successes of multitask learning in various domains (Collobert *et al.* 2011; Deng *et al.* 2013; Girshick 2015; Ramsundar *et al.* 2015; Ruder 2017), one might expect training with joint prediction of phonemes and tones to help, since it gives more relevant contextual information to the model. However, joint prediction of phonemes and tones does help with the tonal prediction. This makes sense since there are more phoneme labels than tone labels. As a result phonemes can provide more information to help tonal disambiguation than the other way around.

Na versus Chatino The trends observed in the experimentation on Chatino were largely consistent with those of Na, but with higher error rates owing to less training data and a larger tone label set. There are two differences with the Na results worth noting. One is that phoneme \Rightarrow tone is more competitive in the case of Chatino, suggesting that phoneme context plays a more important role in tonal prediction in Chatino. The second is that fbank \Rightarrow tone outperforms pitch \Rightarrow tone, and that adding pitch features to Filterbank features offers less benefit than in Na, also explained by

		Hypothesis				
		М	L	Η	LH	MH
	М	0	69.8	18.6	7.4	4.2
Roforonco	L	77	0	14.6	6.1	2.3
Itelefence	Η	56.1	27.3	0	10.6	6.1
	LH	38.6	31.8	25	0	4.5
	MH	41.4	22.4	17.2	19	0

Figure 6.5: Confusion matrix showing the rates of substitution errors between tones (as a percentage, normalized per reference tone).

a greater influence of context.

Error Types

Figure 6.5 shows the most common tone substitution mistakes on the test set for the task of $fbank+pitch \Rightarrow joint$. Proportions were very similar for other methods. The most common tonal substitution errors were those between between M and L. Acoustically, M and L are neighbours; as mentioned above, in Na the same tone can be realised with a different pitch at different points in a sentence, leading to overlapping pitch ranges between these tones. Moreover, M and L tones were by far the most common tonal labels.

Table 6.2 shows an example automatically derived transcription and its reference from the test set.⁶ Across the test set, the most common errors were substitution of L and M tones, both ways. Since MH occurs infrequently, the corpus is effectively imbalanced and hypotheses bias towards the more common L and M tones. It is also reasonably common that tones fail to be automatically transcribed. Every syllable in Na has a tone, and because of this fact future work should incorporate linguistic constraints to ensure hypotheses satisfy this rule. By enforcing valid tone sequences, it's likely many of these common errors would be prevented.

The second example in the table is from a variation of the task where only

⁶To hear the audio, see Sentence 224 at http://lacito.vjf.cnrs.fr/pangloss/corpus/show_text_en.php?id=crdo-NRU_F4_FUNERAL_SOUND&idref=crdo-NRU_F4_FUNERAL

	Phoneme and tone prediction
Reference	n j ຯ ┥ ח ɯ ┥ tʰ i ┥ tsʰ ຯ ┥ ֿ n i 」 t̥sʰ ɯ ┥ n j ዯ ┥ k i 」 tʰ i ┥ tɕ ɯ ┥ tsʰ ɯ ┥
Hypothesis	n i ⊣ ղ ɯ pʰ i ⊣ tsʰ ∽ ⅃ n i ⅃ t̥sʰ ɯ ų n j ∽ ⊣ k i ⊣ tʰ i ⊣ tɕ ʉ ⅃ tsʰ ʉ ⅃

Phoneme-only prediction			
Reference	g v w u h ĩ tsʰ w dz u tʰ i tsʰ e h õ pʰ u ɲ i z e m æ		
Hypothesis	õgyihĩ tşʰ u dz u tʰ i tsʰ ɤ m õ h pʰ u ɲ i z e m æ		

Table 6.2: Erroneous automatic transcription exemplifying typical errors. The top example is from the joint phoneme and tone prediction task. The bottom example is from the is phoneme-only prediction task. The reference transcription has punctuation, syllable boundaries and tone group delimiters removed.

phonemes are predicted. The automatic transcription includes a vowel at the start, which can actually be heard in the audio.⁷ Exhaustive quantification of how frequent such phenomena are is costly and thus unknown, but some errors do stem from such fillers not part of the canonical word. A common error is the failure to transcribe voiced labial-velar approximants (/w/), which seem to be merged into the following (often erroneous) vowel predictions.

6.5 Qualitative Discussion

The phoneme error rates in the above quantitative analysis are promising, and are comparable to the performance of similar systems (Graves *et al.* 2013) on the TIMIT dataset (Garofolo *et al.* 1993). But is this system actually of practical use in a documentary linguistic workflow? We discuss here the experience of a linguist (Alexis Michaud) in applying this model to Na data to aid in transcription of 9 minutes and 30 seconds of speech. It is hard to quantify the ways in which incorporating automation

⁷To hear the audio, see Sentence 19 at http://lacito.vjf.cnrs.fr/pangloss/corpus/show_text_en.php?id=crdo-NRU_F4_MOUNTAINS_SOUND&idref=crdo-NRU_F4_MOUNTAINS

into the workflow affects the transcription process, but discussion of these effects is central to the present project.

We automatically transcribed recordings of two narratives for a total of nine minutes and 30 seconds of speech which had not previously been transcribed which were then used by the linguist as a starting point for manual correction and translation. Michaud subsequently published a blog post on his experience (Michaud 2017a), which was the basis for much subsequent discussion between us.

For the linguist, the process of revising the automatically generated transcription involves adding transcription elements not currently modelled by the system, such as punctuation and tone group breaks that delimit morphotonological processes (Michaud 2017a). In consultation with a native speaker, errors in the transcription are also corrected and comments are added, along with a sentence-level translation (initially in French, adding Chinese and English later as the need and opportunity arise).

Recognition Errors

The phonemic errors typically make linguistic sense: they are not random added noise. It was reported that they often bring to the linguist's attention phonetic facts that are easily overlooked because they are not phonemically contrastive.

One set of such errors is due to differences in articulation between different morphosyntactic classes:

"For example, the noun 'person' /hīl/ and the relativizer suffix /-hīl/ are segmentally identical, but the latter is articulated much more weakly than the former and it is often recognized as /ī/ in automatic transcription, without an initial /h/. Likewise, in the demonstrative /tsʰul/ the initial consonant /tsʰ/ is often strongly hypo-articulated, resulting in its recognition as a fricative /s/, /z/, or /z/ instead of an aspirated affricate. As a further example, the negation that is transcribed as /mõl/ in *Housebuilding2.290* instead of /mrl/. This highlights that the vowel in that syllable is probably nazalised, and acoustically unlike the average /r/ vowel for lexical words. This is useful insight, but at the same time such cases illustrate a technical limitation of purely phoneme-based recognition over word-based speech recognition. The extent to which a word's morphosyntactic category influences the way it is pronounced is known to be language-specific (Brunelle *et al.* 2015); the phonemic transcription tool indirectly reveals that this influence is considerable in Na. Recognition 'errors' bring out specific patterns, demonstrating phonetic evolution and suggesting how grammatical morphemes follow phonetic evolutionary paths that are different from the rest of the lexicon." —Alexis Michaud

A second set is due to loanwords containing combinations of phonemes that are unattested in the training set. For example /zuuJpeH/, from Mandarin $rib\check{e}n$ ($\Box \bigstar$, 'Japan'). /pe/ is otherwise unattested in Na, which only has /pi/; accordingly, the syllable was identified as /pi/. In documenting Na, Mandarin loanwords were initially transcribed with Chinese characters, and thus cast aside from analyses, instead of confronting the issue of how different phonological systems coexist and interact in language use (Michaud 2017a).

A third set of errors made by the system result in an output that is not phonologically well formed, such as syllables without tones and sequences with consonant clusters such as /kgy/. These cases are easy for the linguist to identify and amend (Michaud 2017a).

In this sense the effective error rate is lower than the quantified phoneme error rate might suggest. Also noted is that the system copes well with overlong vowels, which an earlier Na speech recognition system had trouble with (Do *et al.* 2014a).

Tonal recognition remains an issue.

"The recognition system currently makes tonal mistakes that are easy to correct on the basis of elementary phonological knowledge: it produces some impossible tone sequences such as M+L+M inside the same tone group." —Alexis Michaud

Very long-ranging tonal dependencies are not harnessed so well by the current model. This is consistent with quantitative indications in §6.4 and is a case for including a tonal language model or refining the neural architecture to better harness long-range contextual information.

Benefits for the Linguist

Using this automatic transcription as a starting point for manual correction was found to confer several benefits to the linguist.

Faithfulness to acoustic signal The model produces output that is faithful to the acoustic signal. In casual oral speech there are repetitions and hesitations that are sometimes overlooked by the transcribing linguist, who is engrossed in a holistic process involving interpretation, translation, annotation, and communication with the language consultant (Michaud 2017a). When using an automatically generated transcription as a canvas, there can be full confidence in the *linearity* of transcription, and more attention can be placed on linguistically meaningful dialogue with the language consultant.

Typographical errors and the transcriber's mindset Transcriptions are made during fieldwork with a language consultant and are difficult to correct down the line based only on auditory impression when the consultant is not available (Michaud 2017a). However, such typographic errors are common, with a large number of phoneme labels and significant use of combinations of keys (Shift, Alternative Graph, etc). By providing a high-accuracy first-pass automatic transcription, much of this manual data entry is entirely avoided. Enlisting the linguist solely for correction of errors also allows them to embrace a critical mindset, putting them in "proofreading mode", where focus can be entirely centred on assessing the correctness of the system output without the additional distracting burden of data entry.

Speed

"Use of automatic transcription in fieldwork is only beginning. Assessing automatic transcription's influence on the speed of the overall language documentation process is beyond the scope of this paper and is left to future work. Language documentation is a holistic process. Beyond phonemic transcription, documentation of Na involves other work that happens in parallel: translating, discussing with a native, copying out new words into the Na dictionary, and being constantly on the lookout for new and unexpected linguistic phenomena." —Alexis Michaud Further complicating this, the linguist's proficiency of the language and speed of transcription is dynamic, improving over time. This makes comparisons difficult (Michaud 2017a).

From this preliminary experiment, the efficiency of the linguist was perceived to be improved, but the benefits lie primarily in the advantages of providing a transcript faithful to the recording, and allowing the linguist to minimize manual entry, focusing on correction and enrichment of the transcribed document.

The snowball effect More data collection means more training data for better speech recognition performance. The process of improving the acoustic model by training on such semi-automatic transcriptions has begun, with the freshly transcribed *Housebuilding2* used in this investigation now available for subsequent Na acoustic modelling training. As a first example of output by incorporating automatic transcription into the Yongning Na documentation workflow, transcription of the recording *Housebuilding* was completed using automatic transcription as a canvas; this document is now available online (Michaud and Latami 2017) and is now being incorporated into further Na acoustic model training.

6.6 Summary

The experimentation and discussion of this Chapter addressed the task of phoneme and tone transcription in a resource-scarce context: that of a newly documented language. Beyond comparing the effects of various training inputs and objectives on the phoneme and tone error rates, we reported on the application of this method to linguistic documentation of Yongning Na. Its applicability as a first-pass transcription is very encouraging, and it has now been incorporated into the workflow.

These results give an idea of the amount of speech other linguists might aspire to transcribe in order to bootstrap this process: as little as 30 minutes in order to obtain a sub-30% phoneme error rate as a starting point, with further improvements to come as more data is transcribed in the semi-automated workflow. We now proceed to the conclusions of this thesis, discussing the main findings and identifying promising future directions of work.

Chapter 7

Conclusion

The aim of the research has been to identify effective ways of using available data to establish a semi-automatic documentary linguistic workflow. Language documentation is currently very slow and there are not enough linguists documenting the world's languages to capture and build a record of them while they are still spoken. Automation or semi-automation of some parts of this work such as phonemic transcription can help that. Initial chapters explored using bilingual information to model the relationship between a low-resource source language and a high-resource target language. This included bilingual modelling of phonemic transcriptions and their translations as part of bilingual lexicon induction. Later, we modelled translated speech directly without the need for transcriptions. We argue that this has better potential as such translations of endangered language speech can be easier and quicker to collect than phonemic transcriptions (translations must be gathered in the end anyway, but have the potential to aid in automatic transcription and lexicon induction). We also explored the use of pre-existing bilingual lexicons and monolingual corpora to transfer information from high-resource languages to low-resource ones for improved language modelling, since language models are an important component of speech recognition and machine translation systems. Finally, the pressing concern of improving the use of technology in existing language documentation workflows motivated quantitative exploration of automatic phoneme transcription for tonal languages, along with a qualitative assessment of the incorporation of such techniques

into a linguist's workflow for the Yongning Na language of Southwestern China.

What can we conclude from this? We now relate the conclusions from the experiments conducted to the research questions set out in §1.2.1.

7.1 Main Findings

Translation models can learn hundreds of word and phrasal relationships with high precision from parallel text consisting of unsegmented phonemes and orthographic translations with as little as 1,000 parallel sentences Chapter 3 addressed research questions A1 and A2 stated in §1.2.1. It began with a preliminary experiment assessing machine translation performance, which partially addresses question A1, *Is translation modelling of unsegmented phonemic transcriptions effective?* Results show that machine translation performance, while substantially lower than that of word–word models, can yield BLEU scores over 17 with 241k training sentences, indicating that phoneme–word bilingual relationships have been captured between the languages. Competitive results were found between two very different phrase alignment approaches: that of traditional token alignment with heuristic phrase extraction, and that of joint alignment and segmentation in a hierarchical Bayesian framework.

For deeper insight into A1, and to answer A2 (*How do different translation models for this task compare in bilingual lexicon induction?*), we explored human evaluation of learnt phrase table entries across four different translation models. This intrinsic evaluation highlighted differences between translation models in the context of a task of importance in documentary linguistics: bilingual lexicon induction. In this context, we reduced the training data available drastically, to 10k parallel sentences. Such small quantities of data mimic the situation for many language documentation efforts, where data is very limited. Importantly, it makes the assumption of accurate phonemic transcriptions more reasonable, since these small amounts of data are feasible for trained linguists to collect and transcribe in a field linguistics scenario.

Findings show that approaches that have a statistical basis for clustering phonemes into word-like units perform better than standard machine translation heuristics. A model that performs this statistical clustering jointly with alignment benefits more (PIALIGN) and is able to learn hundreds of bilingual lexicon entries with as few as 1,000 sentences of parallel phoneme-word data. PIALIGN along with unsupervised word segmentation and alignment had not been previously explored for this task, and outperformed other methods.

Bilingual lexicons can improve low-resource language modelling by enabling cross-lingual transfer of information from a large corpus in a highresource language Chapter 4 first addresses Question C1 (*How can other bilingual resources, such as lexicons, be used to transfer information from a high-resource language to a low-resource language?*). We conducted an experiment to assess how well the quality of word embeddings in a low-resource language remain resilient in the face of limited data by harnessing distributional information from high-resource languages. Results on the English WordSim353 task, which assesses correlation of embedding similarity scores with human judgements, show large improvement over monolingual word embeddings trained on the same small amount of low-resource data when harnessing information across a variety of high-resource target languages. This also holds true when the language is of very dissimilar syntax or morphology to English, such as Japanese or Finnish.

Answering Question C1 via a method of learning cross-lingual word embeddings can be considered a prerequisite step before answering Question C2 (*Can such approaches be used to improve language modelling, which is useful to speech recognition and machine translation?*). We then deployed cross-lingual word embeddings, using them to initialize the parameters of neural network language models. Language models are an important component in machine translation and speech recognition systems, and are thus useful for semi-automatic language documentation. The approach offered consistent performance benefits in language modelling across a number of languages in low-resource simulations. However, application of this method to Yongning Na, a low-resource language spoken in Southwestern China, highlighted challenges in porting this technique to a language documentation setting. While a variety of factors likely played into this, two key issues were that many of the English translations in the Na–English dictionary take non-standard forms and do not occur in the English Wikipedia corpus, and that there is a mismatch between the read and spoken speech (see §7.2). The morphotonology of Na presented another challenge, with canonical tones in the dictionary varying from the surface tones in the Na corpus. The findings suggest that these approaches may have more applicability in the low-resource languages for which more comprehensive dictionaries reflect the content of the monolingual documents in both source and target languages.

Translations of speech can help automatic phoneme transcription even when no prior information relating the languages is available. Chapter 5 addresses Questions B1 (*How can translation models be learnt from speech?*), and B2 (*Can these be used to improve speech recognition and automatic phonemic transcription?*), as well as addressing Question A1 in a context where the phoneme representation is errorful or uncertain, by using a lattice representation instead of the 1-best transcription.

Earlier experiments in the chapter highlighted fundamental issues with the notion of phoneme equivalence classes for modelling acoustic model errors. Most importantly, phonemes cannot be grouped neatly into classes that represent phonemes confusable with one another. Additionally, such an assumption is not easily amenable to the issue of errors in the form of insertion and deletion of phonemes, which are common in acoustic modelling.

These negative results and modelling failures prompted investigation into a more general and elegant model that takes as input phoneme lattices and their orthographic translations in order to jointly perform unsupervised word segmentation and alignment, learning a translation model and lexicon directly from phoneme lattices in order to improve phoneme transcription of those very lattices.

Empirical evidence suggested by a word-based variant demonstrated significant improvements in word-error rate, prompting further investigation of the full model, for which relative improvements of up to 17% over the original lattice were achieved. These results show sentence-level translations can be informative for phoneme recognition, even when no prior information relating the languages is available.
Phoneme and tonal transcription of a threatened language can produce transcripts of a high-enough quality to serve as a 'canvas,' aiding a linguist in their documentation workflow. Chapter 6 addresses Questions D1 and D2, which concern actual inclusion of such technology in a linguist's workflow. Such real-world evaluation is crucial: ultimately aiding language documentation is the aim of the technology, so evaluating it in that context is important. Equally important is that the concomitant dialogue with linguists that results from this evaluation is essential for guiding the future research direction, while granting insight into the language documentation process.

To this end, we address Question D1 (How well can we predict tones for richly tonal *languages?*), since transcription of transcription is important for many languages. We began with a quantitative experiment in phoneme and tone transcription by applying a neural speech recognition method in a low-resource context context: that of a newly documented language, Yongning Na. We compare the effects of various training inputs and objectives on the phoneme and tone error rate, which show that joint transcription of phonemes and tones allows for effective automatic tonal transcription in such a framework. Results on another language, Eastern Chatino, corroborate this finding. Beyond this quantitative evaluation, we address Question D2 (How does phoneme and tonal prediction fit into the linguistic workflow?), reporting on the application of this method to linguistic documentation of Yongning Na. Its applicability as a first-pass transcription is very encouraging, and it has now been incorporated into the workflow of Alexis Michaud, a linguist working on documenting and analyzing the language. Our results give an idea of the amount of speech other linguists might aspire to transcribe in order to bootstrap this process: as little as 30 minutes of clean recordings and transcriptions is needed in order to obtain a sub-30% phoneme error rate as a starting point, with further improvements to come as more data is transcribed in the semi-automated workflow.

7.2 Limitations and Future Work

7.2.1 Translation Modelling of Phonemes

Earlier work in Chapter 3 used phonemic transcriptions paired with translations. Such transcriptions can be considered a first approximation to the output of an automatic phoneme transcription tool with the generous assumption of no errors (created by converting orthographic text to phonemic representation, with accuracy limited to the capabilities of the text-to-speech system). Alternatively, when the amount of data is heavily restricted, as in §3.3, it becomes more reasonable to assume that a linguist has manually transcribed the speech with a high level of accuracy. However, throughout the course of the work it became clear that in such contexts the linguist will not blindly transcribe the phonemes, but will be conducting linguistic analysis of the language in conjunction with the transcription. Importantly, this will very likely involve creation of a lexicon and word segmentation of the transcription (along with glosses). These issues motivate the lattice-based approach of Chapter 5.

Furthermore, in the linguist's creation of a lexicon, much more than word token relationships are documented. While bilingual lexicon induction may be useful for highlighting such relationships a linguist has overlooked, the linguist's dictionary will include other content, such as explanations, examples, and part-of-speech tags.

7.2.2 Language Modelling

The cross-lingual language modelling work of Chapter 4 demonstrated reductions in perplexity for language models across a variety of languages in simulated lowresource settings. However, deploying the approach on Na yielded negative results, with no perplexity reductions. This reveals that the nature of the relationship between the dictionary entries and the content in the target monolingual corpora wasn't strong enough to harness cross-lingual distributional information, and suggests that in practice more preparation of the dictionary is required to reap the benefits that were seen when using the PanLex dictionary. This work is language-specific and has the potential to be very time consuming. Using source language corpora that are closer in style to the target domain, such as using spoken narratives in the source language or perhaps conversational speech, would be an important next step.

Another limitation of the work is that only the intrinsic measurement of perplexity was used to evaluate the language models. An extrinsic evaluation of the method when the language model is integrated into a full speech recognition or machine translation pipeline would be more insightful and revealing of the value of such an approach. However, in extremely low-resource scenarios (for example, that of Yongning Na), a language model trained on a corpus of 2,000 sentences will have a high out-ofvocabulary rate when applied to new speech. In order for such a language model to be useful in speech recognition, incorporating character (or phoneme) level language modelling into a word-level language model has the potential to provide more accurate probability estimates for out-of-vocabulary words. Incorporation of such sub-word information at the level of characters or morphemes into language modelling has been explored (Lankinen *et al.* 2016; Ling *et al.* 2015; Verwimp *et al.* 2017; Shaik *et al.* 2011; Hao Fang *et al.* 2015), and future work improving on our approach should incorporate such information into a full speech recognition pipeline.

7.2.3 Translation Modelling of Speech

Earlier experiments in Chapter 5 use artificial German–English data, while subsequent models involve application to real Spanish–English and Japanese–English speech. While Japanese and English are very different languages, with strong results suggesting the methods ability to generalize, a key limitation of this work is that it is not applied to low-resource languages to improve language documentation.

A further limitation is that the acoustic model is trained in a supervised manner. While in Chapter 6 we show that such supervised training can yield comparably low phoneme error rates with less than an hour of transcribed speech, our approach is not incompatible with unsupervised or minimally-supervised approaches (Bansal *et al.* 2017b) and this should be explored. Moreover, further exploration of richer word length model priors would be valuable.

One could argue that there is a case for bypassing phonemic transcriptions of

endangered languages entirely. Phonemic transcription is part of the traditional documentary linguistics workflow and is useful for analysis and discussion. However, for the purposes of many speakers of unwritten languages, such transcription using Latin symbols can be perceived as a (relatively benign) form of neocolonialism. Some contemporaneous work to that of this thesis, discussed in Chapter 2, addresses spoken term discovery from the acoustic signal using bilingual information but without transcription. Maintaining sound as the primary representation of the language is useful for its speakers (in, say, the form of an audio dictionary), as it retains the most information. In directly modelling speech and translations, slight allophonic variations are not collapsed into a single symbol, while at the same time such approaches are not inimical to joint phonemic transcription for the linguist's purposes. Such approaches dealing with the source-language acoustic signal directly, along with translations, were not addressed in this thesis but constitute a promising line of future work.

7.2.4 Acoustic Modelling

The automatic method of phoneme transcription addressed in Chapter 6 is effective as part of a semi-automatic language documentation workflow. The scope for future work in this area is broad and promising, from back-end modelling improvements to user interface improvements which may allow for applicability of the method in more language documentation work.

Incorporating linguistic constraints There is much linguistic knowledge about Na that, if incorporated into the model, has the potential to reduce error rates. For example, we know that every syllable has a corresponding tone, yet sometimes syllables were transcribed without a tone. We also know consonant clusters are impossible, and that many tonal sequences, such as mid-low-mid, are impossible. Incorporating such hard constraints in decoding would be a simple first step. Alternatively, adjusting the model objective function in training to reflect these constraints may also be valuable. Beyond hard constraints, softer guidance in the form of a tonal language model that

better harnesses long-range dependencies than the frame-level recurrent neural network in the model may be valuable. Including coarser-grained lexical information as in standard speech recognition would be helpful, even when a comprehensive lexicon is not available (Liu *et al.* 2017b).

However, in doing this, there is a tradeoff between the faithfulness of the transcription to the acoustic signal, and the coherence of the transcription that must be considered (analogous to the machine translation faithfulness/fluency tradeoff). Linguists' goals may influence the relative priorities. One of the advantages of the approach was its faithfulness to the acoustic signal. In Chapter 6 we found that the model helped unearth some phonetic facts that might otherwise have been overlooked by the linguist. While including prior information into the model in the form of a language model may make for more coherent canonical transcriptions, this could be at the expense of losing some information in a narrow phonemic transcription useful for linguistic analysis.

The user interface The potential tradeoff between faithfulness and coherence of the transcription may be balanced through an appropriate user interface for the linguist. There is the potential for two transcriptions to be provided: one with minimal prior language knowledge for phonetic faithfulness, and another with stronger sources of prior information such as a word-level language model for coherence. The user would be able to choose between the two options, phoneme-by-phoneme or for stretches of the transcription.

The user interface has the potential to be enhanced in other ways. Automatically transcribed phonemes may be colour-coded by the model's confidence in the transcription, or the linguist could be presented with a pruned lattice to display other likely transcription possibilities. The stage is set for an interesting human–computer interaction problem which will need to be addressed.

In our work, the interface was crude: We applied the model to recordings of Na speech, and sent them to Michaud to use as a starting point in transcription. Better would be a piece of software useable to a less technical audience. Though existing software for training speech recognition models requires substantial technical skills, this need not be the case. Linguists who are not computer scientists should be presented with an unintimidating graphical user interface where they can select audio files, phonemic transcriptions, supply a phoneme inventory and have a reasonable baseline model trained and tuned automatically. Such an interface could include the option to impose linguistic constraints, eg. the constraint that the consonant cluster /kg/ is not allowed.

Forced alignments Linguists are often interested in obtaining alignments at the phone-level between the speech and the transcription. A limitation of the CTC for this task is that it does not provide such alignment, since it sums over the many possible ways the speech signal might align to the phonemes. This is motivation for exploring other models, or exploring the use of secondary algorithms to extract time alignments from the CTC neural networks.

Language model incorporation While the recurrent neural network underlying the model implicitly learns a language model to capture context, a shortcoming of this CTC-based end-to-end modelling is that larger amounts of untranscribed texts cannot be leveraged in training. While not directly relevant to the Na dataset we use (all text has associated speech and is fed into the model), it is an open question of how to incorporate language model information into the CTC model, with language model information typically being incorporated separately to the end-to-end training (see Miao *et al.* (2015), for example).

Model architecture From the system architecture perspective, there is scope to explore various other neural architectures underlying the connectionist temporal classification (CTC) graph, such as convolutional neural networks (Zhang *et al.* 2016a; Wang *et al.* 2017b; Li and Wu 2016; Zhang *et al.* 2016a), their combination with recurrent neural networks (Li and Wu 2016), combining CTC with attention (Kim *et al.* 2016a) or segmental conditional random fields (Lu *et al.* 2017). We can also explore this task without CTC, using alternative models based on attention (Chorowski *et al.* 2015; Duong *et al.* 2016a; Bahdanau *et al.* 2016).

Transcribed speech is almost always accompanied by a much larger body of untranscribed speech. Semi-supervised speech recognition approaches that use untranscribed speech on top of transcribed speech can reach par performance with less training data (Dhaka and Salvi 2016). In light of the limited transcribed data, incorporating such semi-supervision into the model architecture is another obvious next step.

Broader deployment in other language documentation workflows for a richer understanding of limitations and necessary improvements Further exploration of such approaches in a diverse set of linguistic workflows is important to understanding how this technology can best be integrated into language documentation. Collaboration with Michaud revealed much information about how language documentation and analysis works in practice. This partnership between computer scientists and linguists is important, so that the practical needs of both parties can be met.

For many languages we won't have any transcribed speech at all for such supervised training. The experiments of Chapter 6 give an indication of how much transcribed audio needs to be acquired for meaningful performance. As it turns out, around an hour of speech from a single speaker yielded a 20% phoneme error rate, which is an acceptably low error rate for the purposes of post-editing.

This chapter exclusively modelled single-speaker speech recognition which is of value in language documentation settings. However, it is often desirable to create systems that generalize between speakers. In such a context, multilingual acoustic modelling, incorporating speech from diverse voices in other languages has the potential to aid in modelling speaker-dependent while capturing language-independent phonetic patterns.

7.3 Making the Most of What is Available

The best performing models for automatic phoneme transcription and bilingual lexicon induction would presumably make use of all the available information. Besides



Figure 7.1: The ideal framework harnesses all available information. Speech is essential while the other variables are either observed or latent. The more observed variables there are, the better the inference for the latent variables.

speech, this information may include limited transcriptions, orthographic translations, interlinear glosses, bilingual lexicons, and, in the case of systems that need to generalize to multiple speakers, multilingual acoustic models or acoustic models from similar languages. Combining acoustic modelling capabilities with such information will allow for significant improvements in automatic phoneme transcription. However, we do not expect that automatic phoneme recognition alone will be error-free. Rather, combining automatic transcription with human expertise, as explored in Chapter 6, is likely the most efficient solution to the pernicious transcription bottleneck.

There has been work on models that facilitate more sophisticated inference to improve phoneme transcription. This includes work on monolingual models that learn a lexicon from speech (Neubig *et al.* 2012a; Lee *et al.* 2015) and the work presented in Chapter 5 that uses translations to learn lexicons and translation models. Bilingual information is also used in related work on phoneme-to-word alignment and lexicon induction (Stahlberg *et al.* 2012; Stahlberg *et al.* 2014b; Stahlberg *et al.* 2014a; Bansal *et al.* 2017a; Godard *et al.* 2016) and the work presented in Chapter 3, as well as speech-to-text alignment (Duong *et al.* 2016a; Anastasopoulos *et al.* 2016). Speech-

to-text alignment and lexicon induction are distinct tasks but related since models that jointly perform them are likely to enable better phoneme transcription.

The data required for these models are often a subset of a sparse but broad collection of information acquired in language documentation. While existing models that perform unsupervised inference of lexicons or that use more input data such as translations tend to perform better, an ideal framework shown in Figure 7.1 incorporates a larger array of possible available information for better statistical inference of the unavailable information.

Prior lexicons In many cases, a linguist investigating a language will have some pre-existing lexicon available to them. In the process of transcribing collected speech, the lexicon will be expanded. The models and experimentation described in Chapters 3, 5 and 6 assumed that no prior lexicon was available, but taking advantage of a prior dictionary has the potential to make more information available to the model with minimal extensions.

In Chapter 3 lexical entries a linguist is confident in can be incorporated into the model by simply appending confident phoneme–word entries as short parallel sentences to the end of the training data. This is model-agnostic. Alternatively, model-specific alternatives include adding explicit PIALIGN biparse trees for entries from an existing lexicon, which can be seamlessly integrated into inference.

In Chapter 5 prior lexical knowledge can be included by adjusting the model's cache counts based on our confidence. This works to a key strength of Bayesian models such as the one described in the chapter: the ability to incorporate prior belief about translations.

For the CTC-based neural network acoustic model of Chapter 6, incorporating lexical information is less straightforward. If the lexicon is extensive, then word-based decoding can be performed by composing a phoneme lattice with a lexicon WFST. In the more realistic case of a sparser lexicon, it is more difficult. One possible option is to use a mixed word/sub-word model where the lexicon biases towards likely words or morphemes without precluding the transcription of phoneme sequences not in the lexicon. **Multilingual acoustic modelling** In the case where the language documentation requires acoustic model generalization across speakers, or where very limited supervised information is available, effective automatic phoneme transcription will likely depend on quality multilingual acoustic modelling. In such cases, the above frameworks would depend on using multilingual acoustic models, or acoustic models trained on phonetically similar languages, possibly adapted using a small amount of data from the target language. Though there is a history of work on cross-lingual and multilingual acoustic modelling (Köhler 1999; Schultz and Waibel 2001b; Vu *et al.* 2014; Imseng *et al.* 2014; Xu *et al.* 2016), there exist no widely available models for off-the-shelf application.

An ideal follow-on research project would simultaneously investigate multilingual acoustic modelling, models that can flexibly harness all information that may be available, as per Figure 7.1, and implementation of tools usable by linguists and speakers of the language that harness these models.

Data collection Another approach to best address the data sparsity issue consists in investigating approaches to guiding the data collection so that the process is most efficient. This may involve incorporating methods for inferring lexemes into the data collection process itself, offering hypotheses immediately to native speakers for their confirmation, rather than serving as a post-processing step. This sort of coupling of modelling and data collection may make more efficient use of the speakers' time while highlighting aspects of the lexicon that isn't well covered and allowing the models can guide the collection of data that is most informative in an active learning framework.

7.3.1 An Evaluation Suite for Methods on Bilingual Low-Resource Spoken Data

Automating language documentation tasks is difficult. Phoneme recognition is still out of reach for most languages, owing to the lack of transcribed data or a universal phone recogniser capable of generalizing to unseen languages. Although there has been research in the space of multilingual acoustic modelling (Köhler 1999; Byrne *et al.* 2000; Schultz and Waibel 2001b; Heigold *et al.* 2013; Vu *et al.* 2014), there exists no widely available model with which to perform language-independent phone recognition or to facilitate easy adaptation thereof on a smaller in-domain dataset. In most cases, it is also not clear what sort of performance can be expected of such models. While there are many sources of bilingual data for low-resource languages, they are often not easily attainable and is often quarantined behind legal agreements. When it is accessible, the data is formatted in different ways and may require significant preprocessing to make them consistently amenable to a given machine learning method. Due to the lack of a communal dataset of speech and corresponding translations, procuring and preprocessing data must be done by each group of researchers, which results in different methods being applied to different datasets preprocessed differently. This makes comparison of methods difficult and unreliable. While corpora from the IARPA Babel project¹ offers data for a variety of low-resource languages, an important feature of the proposed dataset would include translations for training speech translation models as explored in Chapter 5.

We therefore recommend the development of a multilingual dataset along with a model so that baseline performance can be established for a number of languages. The availability of such a model, or the tools to train such a model, would facilitate research on downstream tasks such as speech-to-text alignment that depend on acoustic models but are hindered by the difficulty of the requirement of a full pipeline.

7.4 Towards a Research Program in Computational Documentary Linguistics

These activities (completed and projected) sit within a broader program of research to secure and leverage the full diversity of the world's languages. Creating a record of the world's languages will require advances in a) the rate of data acquisition, b) the modelling of available data and c) the useability of such software to enable its deployment by linguists who are doing the language documentation work. In addi-

¹www.iarpa.gov/index.php/research-programs/babel

tion to helping documentation, improvements in data collection and the availability of language technology for threatened languages has the potential to aid communities of people speaking the languages who are interested in revitalization.

Most of this thesis constitutes exploration into modelling advances prompted by developments centering around the bilingual spoken data acquisition scenario of Aikuma (Hanke and Bird 2013; Bird *et al.* 2014b; Bird *et al.* 2014a; Hanke 2017). We have explored models designed to best make use of available data, and that can be connected with tools that enable the limited numbers of speakers to efficiently document their languages. Further refinement of these models, while creating user interfaces to make these methods broadly deployable in documentary linguistics is crucial. In light of rapid language extinction and language shift, this is a time-sensitive step that must be done while there is still time to capture and preserve the world's rich linguistic heritage.

Bibliography

- ABNEY, STEVEN, and STEVEN BIRD. 2010. The human language project: building a universal corpus of the world's languages. In *Proceedings of the 48th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 88–97.
- ADDA, GILLES, SEBASTIAN STÜKER, MARTINE ADDA-DECKER, ODETTE AMBOUROUE, LAURENT BESACIER, DAVID BLACHON, HÉLÈNE BONNEAU-MAYNARD, PIERRE GODARD, FATIMA HAMLAOUI, DMITRY IDIATOV, GUY-NOËL KOUARATA, LORI LAMEL, EMMANUEL-MOSELLY MAKASSO, ANNIE RI-ALLAND, MARK VAN DE VELDE, FRANÇOIS YVON, and SABINE ZERBIAN. 2016. Breaking the unwritten language barrier: the BULB project. Procedia Computer Science 81.8–14.
- AL-RFOU, RAMI, BRYAN PEROZZI, and STEVEN SKIENA. 2013. Polyglot: distributed word representations for multilingual NLP. ArXiv:1307.16621.
- ALABAU, VICENT, LUIS RODRÍGUEZ-RUIZ, ALBERTO SANCHIS, PASCUAL MARTÍNEZ-GÓMEZ, and FRANCISCO CASACUBERTA. 2011. On multimodal interactive machine translation using speech recognition. In *Proceedings of the* 13th International Conference on Multimodal Interfaces, 129–136.
- AMMAR, WALEED, GEORGE MULCAIRE, YULIA TSVETKOV, GUILLAUME LAMPLE, CHRIS DYER, and NOAH A. SMITH. 2016. Massively multilingual word embeddings. ArXiv:1602.01925.
- ANASTASOPOULOS, ANTONIOS, SAMEER BANSAL, DAVID CHIANG, SHARON GOLD-WATER, and ADAM LOPEZ. 2017. Spoken term discovery for language documentation using translations. In Proceedings of the Workshop on Speech-Centric Natural Language Processing, 53–58.
 - —, DAVID CHIANG, and LONG DUONG. 2016. An unsupervised probability model for speech-to-translation alignment of low-resource languages. In Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, 1255–1263.

- ATAMAN, DUYGU, MATTEO NEGRI, MARCO TURCHI, and MARCELLO FEDERICO. 2017. Linguistically motivated vocabulary reduction for neural machine translation from Turkish to English. *The Prague Bulletin of Mathematical Linguistics* 108.331–342.
- AUDHKHASI, KARTIK, BHUVANA RAMABHADRAN, GEORGE SAON, MICHAEL PICHENY, and DAVID NAHAMOO. 2017. Direct acoustics-to-word models for English conversational speech recognition. ArXiv:1703.07754.
- AUSTIN, PETER, and JULIA SALLABANK. 2011. The Cambridge Handbook of Endangered Languages. Cambridge Handbooks in Language and Linguistics. Cambridge University Press.
- BAHDANAU, DZMITRY, KYUNGHYUN CHO, and YOSHUA BENGIO. 2014. Neural machine translation by jointly learning to align and translate. ArXiv:1409.0473.
- —, JAN CHOROWSKI, DMITRIY SERDYUK, PHILEMON BRAKEL, and YOSHUA BENGIO. 2016. End-to-end attention-based large vocabulary speech recognition. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, 4945–4949.
- BANSAL, SAMEER, HERMAN KAMPER, SHARON GOLDWATER, and ADAM LOPEZ. 2017a. Weakly supervised spoken term discovery using cross-lingual side information. In ICASSP, IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing - Proceedings, 5760–5764.
- ——, HERMAN KAMPER, ADAM LOPEZ, and SHARON GOLDWATER. 2017b. Towards speech-to-text translation without speech recognition. *ArXiv:1702.03856*.
- BARONE, ANTONIO VALERIO MICELI. 2016. Towards cross-lingual distributed representations without parallel text trained with adversarial autoencoders. In *Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on Representation Learning for NLP*, 121–126.
- BASTAN, MOHADDESEH, SHAHRAM KHADIVI, and MOHAMMAD MEHDI HOMAY-OUNPOUR. 2017. Neural machine translation on scarce-resource condition: a case-study on Persian-English. *ArXiv:1701.01854*.
- BelleGARDA, JEROME R. 2004. Statistical language model adaptation: review and perspectives. *Speech Communication* 42.93–108.
- BENGIO, YOSHUA, RÉJEAN DUCHARME, PASCAL VINCENT, and CHRISTIAN JAN-VIN. 2003. A neural probabilistic language model. The Journal of Machine Learning Research 3.1137–1155.

- —, JÉRÔME LOURADOUR, RONAN COLLOBERT, and JASON WESTON. 2009. Curriculum learning. Proceedings of the 26th Annual International Conference on Machine Learning 41–48.
- BERARD, ALEXANDRE, OLIVIER PIETQUIN, CHRISTOPHE SERVAN, and LAURENT BESACIER. 2016. Listen and translate: a proof of concept for end-to-end speechto-text translation. ArXiv:1612.01744.
- BERGMANIS, TOMS, and SHARON GOLDWATER. 2017. From segmentation to analyses: a probabilistic model for unsupervised morphology induction. In *Proceedings* of the 15th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Volume 1, Long Papers, volume 1, 337–346.
- BESACIER, LAURENT, ETIENNE BARNARD, ALEXEY KARPOV, and TANJA SCHULTZ. 2014. Automatic speech recognition for under-resourced languages: a survey. *Speech Communication* 56.85–100.
- —, BOWEN ZHOU, and YUQING GAO. 2006. Towards speech translation of non written languages. In *Spoken Language Technology Workshop*, 222–225.
- BETTINSON, MAT, and STEVEN BIRD. 2016. Developing a suite of mobile applications for collaborative language documentation. In *Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on the Use of Computational Methods in the Study of Endangered Languages*, p. 156.
- BHATIA, PARMINDER, ROBERT GUTHRIE, and JACOB EISENSTEIN. 2016. Morphological priors for probabilistic neural word embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, 490– 500.
- BIRD, STEVEN. 1994. Automated tone transcription. In Proceedings of the first meeting of the ACL special interest group on computational phonology (SIGPHON), 1–12.
- -----. 2011. Bootstrapping the language archive: New prospects for natural language processing in preserving linguistic heritage. *Linguistic Issues in Language Technology* 6.1–16.
- 2017. (To appear) Designing mobile applications for documenting endangered languages. In *Oxford Handbook of Endangered Languages*, ed. by Ken Regh and Lyle Campbell. Oxford University Press.
- —, and DAVID CHIANG. 2012. Machine translation for language preservation. In 24th International Conference on Computational Linguistics, p. 125.

- —, LAUREN GAWNE, KATIE GELBART, and ISAAC MCALISTER. 2014a. Collecting bilingual audio in remote indigenous communities. In Proceedings of COLING 2014, the 25th International Conference on Computational Linguistics: Technical Papers, 1015–1024.
- —, FLORIAN R HANKE, OLIVER ADAMS, and HAEJOONG LEE. 2014b. Aikuma: a mobile app for collaborative language documentation. In *Proceedings of the* 2014 Workshop on the Use of Computational Methods in the Study of Endangered Languages, 1–5.
- BLACHON, DAVID, ELODIE GAUTHIER, LAURENT BESACIER, GUY-NOËL KOUARATA, MARTINE ADDA-DECKER, and ANNIE RIALLAND. 2016. Parallel speech collection for under-resourced language studies using the Lig-Aikuma mobile device app. *Procedia Computer Science* 81.61–66.
- BLUNSOM, PHIL, TREVOR COHN, CHRIS DYER, and MILES OSBORNE. 2009. A Gibbs sampler for phrasal synchronous grammar induction. In Proceedings of the Joint Conference of the 47th Annual Meeting of the ACL and the 4th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing of the AFNLP: Volume 2-Volume 2, 782–790.
- BOHAC, MAREK, MICHAELA KUCHAROVA, ZORAIDA CALLEJAS, JAN NOUZA, and PETR ČERVA. 2014. A cross-lingual adaptation approach for rapid development of speech recognizers for learning disabled users. *EURASIP Journal on Audio*, *Speech, and Music Processing* 2014.39.
- BOTHA, JAN A, and PHIL BLUNSOM. 2014. Compositional morphology for word representations and language modelling. In *International Conference on Machine Learning*, 1899–1907.
- BROWN, PETER E, STEPHEN A DELLA PIETRA, VINCENT J DELLA PIETRA, and ROBERT L MERCER. 1993. The mathematics of statistical machine translation: parameter estimation. *Computational Linguistics* 19.263–312.
- BROWN, PETER F, STANLEY F CHEN, STEPHEN A DELLA PIETRA, VINCENT J DELLA PIETRA, ANDREW S KEHLER, and ROBERT L MERCER. 1994. Automatic speech recognition in machine-aided translation. *Computer Speech & Language* 8.177–187.
- BRUNELLE, MARC, DARYL CHOW, and THUY NHÃ UYÊN NGUYÊN. 2015. Effects of lexical frequency and lexical category on the duration of Vietnamese syllables. In *Proceedings of 18th International Congress of Phonetic Sciences*, 1–5.
- Burget, Lukáš, Petr Schwarz, Mohit Agarwal, Pinar Akyazi, Kai Feng, Arnab Ghoshal, Ondřej Glembek, Nagendra Goel, Martin

KARAFIÁT, DANIEL POVEY, and OTHERS. 2010. Multilingual acoustic modeling for speech recognition based on subspace Gaussian mixture models. In *Acoustics Speech and Signal Processing*, 2010 IEEE International Conference on, 4334–4337.

- BYRNE, WILLIAM, PETER BEYERLEIN, JUAN M HUERTA, SANJEEV KHUDANPUR, BHASKARA MARTHI, JOHN MORGAN, NINO PETEREK, JOE PICONE, DIMITRA VERGYRI, and W WANG. 2000. Towards language independent acoustic modeling. In Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing. IEEE International Conference on, volume 2, 1029–1032.
- CAI, DENG, HAI ZHAO, ZHISONG ZHANG, YUAN XIN, YONGJIAN WU, and FEIYUE HUANG. 2017. Fast and accurate neural word segmentation for Chinese. ArXiv:1704.07047.
- CAMACHO-COLLADOS, JOSE, IGNACIO IACOBACCI, ROBERTO NAVIGLI, and MO-HAMMAD TAHER PILEHVAR. 2016. Semantic representations of word senses and concepts. *ArXiv:1608.00841v1*.
- CARL, MICHAEL, MAITE MELERO, TONI BADIA, VINCENT VANDEGHINSTE, PE-TER DIRIX, INEKE SCHUURMAN, STELLA MARKANTONATOU, SOKRATIS SOFI-ANOPOULOS, MARINA VASSILIOU, and OLGA YANNOUTSOU. 2008. METIS-II: low resource machine translation. *Machine Translation* 22.67–99.
- CASACUBERTA, F., H. NEY, F. J. OCH, E. VIDAL, J. M. VILAR, S. BARRACHINA, I. GARCÍA-VAREA, D. LLORENS, C. MARTÍNEZ, S. MOLAU, F. NEVADO, M. PASTOR, D. PICÓ, A. SANCHIS, and C. TILLMANN. 2004. Some approaches to statistical and finite-state speech-to-speech translation. *Computer Speech and Language* 18.25–47.
- CASELI, HELENA M, V NUNES DAS GRAÇAS, and MIKEL L FORCADA. 2006. Automatic induction of bilingual resources from aligned parallel corpora: application to shallow-transfer machine translation. *Machine Translation* 20.227–245.
- CAVAR, MALGORZATA E, DAMIR CAVAR, and HILARIA CRUZ. 2016. Endangered language documentation: bootstrapping a Chatino speech corpus. In *Proceedings* of *LREC 2016*, 4004–4011.
- CHAHUNEAU, VICTOR, EVA SCHLINGER, NOAH A. SMITH, and CHRIS DYER. 2013. Translating into morphologically rich languages with synthetic phrases. Proceedings of the 2013 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing 1677–1687.
- CHAN, WILLIAM, NAVDEEP JAITLY, QUOC V. LE, and ORIOL VINYALS. 2015. Listen, attend and spell. ArXiv:1508.01211.

- CHANDAR AP, SARATH, STANISLAS LAULY, HUGO LAROCHELLE, MITESH M. KHAPRA, BALARAMAN RAVINDRAN, VIKAS RAYKAR, and AMRITA SAHA. 2014. An autoencoder approach to learning bilingual word representations. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 27, 1853–1861.
- CHANG, PI-CHUAN, MICHEL GALLEY, and CHRISTOPHER D MANNING. 2008. Optimizing Chinese word segmentation for machine translation performance. In Proceedings of the Third Workshop on Statistical Machine Translation, 224–232.
- CHATINO LANGUAGE DOCUMENTATION PROJECT, 2017. Chatino Language Documentation Project Collection. The Archive of the Indigenous Languages of Latin America: www.ailla.utexas.org.
- CHEN, STANLEY F, and JOSHUA GOODMAN. 1999. An empirical study of smoothing techniques for language modeling. Computer Speech & Language 13.359–394.
- CHEN, WEI, and BO XU. 2015. Semi-supervised Chinese Word segmentation based on bilingual information. In *Proceedings of the 2015 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, 1207–1216.
- CHEN, WELIN, DAVID GRANGIER, and MICHAEL AULI. 2015. Strategies for training large vocabulary neural language models. *ArXiv:1512.04906*.
- CHEN, YANQING, BRYAN PEROZZI, RAMI AL-RFOU, and STEVEN SKIENA. 2013. The expressive power of word embeddings. *ArXiv:1301.3226*.
- CHERRY, COLIN, and DEKANG LIN. 2007. Inversion transduction grammar for joint phrasal translation modeling. In *Proceedings of the NAACL-HLT 2007/AMTA* Workshop on Syntax and Structure in Statistical Translation, 17–24.
- CHIANG, DAVID. 2005. A hierarchical phrase-based model for statistical machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 43rd Annual Meeting on Association for Computational Linguistics*, 263–270.
- ——. 2007. Hierarchical phrase-based translation. *Computational Linguistics* 33.201–228.
- CHO, KYUNGHYUN, BART VAN MERRIENBOER, DZMITRY BAHDANAU, and YOSHUA BENGIO. 2014. On the properties of neural machine translation: encoder-decoder approaches. *Proceedings of SSST-8, Eighth Workshop on Syntax, Semantics and Structure in Statistical Translation* 103–111.
- CHOROWSKI, JAN, and NAVDEEP JAITLY. 2016. Towards better decoding and language model integration in sequence to sequence models. ArXiv:1612.02695.

- CHOROWSKI, JAN K, DZMITRY BAHDANAU, DMITRIY SERDYUK, KYUNGHYUN CHO, and YOSHUA BENGIO. 2015. Attention-based models for speech recognition. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 28 577–585.
- CHUNG, JUNYOUNG, KYUNGHYUN CHO, and YOSHUA BENGIO. 2016. A characterlevel decoder without explicit segmentation for neural machine translation. *ArXiv:1603.06147*.
- CIERI, CHRISTOPHER, and MARK LIBERMAN. 2006. More data and tools for more languages and research areas: a progress report on LDC activities. In 5th International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation.
- CLIFTON, ANN, and ANOOP SARKAR. 2011. Combining morpheme-based machine translation with post-processing morpheme prediction. In Proceedings of the 49th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies - Volume 1, 32–42.
- COHN, TREVOR, and GHOLAMREZA HAFFARI. 2013. An infinite hierarchical Bayesian model of phrasal translation. In *Proceedings of the 51st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers)*, 780–790.
- COLLOBERT, RONAN, CHRISTIAN PUHRSCH, and GABRIEL SYNNAEVE. 2016. Wav2Letter: an end-to-end convnet-based speech recognition system. ArXiv:1609.03193.
- —, and JASON WESTON. 2008. A unified architecture for natural language processing. *Proceedings of the 25th international conference on Machine learning* 160–167.
- —, —, LÉON BOTTOU, MICHAEL KARLEN, KORAY KAVUKCUOGLU, and PAVEL KUKSA. 2011. Natural language processing (almost) from scratch. Journal of Machine Learning Research 12.2493–2537.
- CONNEAU, ALEXIS, GUILLAUME LAMPLE, MARC'AURELIO RANZATO, LUDOVIC DENOYER, and HERVÉ JÉGOU. 2017. Word translation without parallel data. ArXiv:1710.04087.
- COSTA-JUSSÀ, MARTA R, and JOSÉ A R FONOLLOSA. 2016. Character-based neural machine translation. In Proceedings of the 54th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers).
- COULMANCE, JOCELYN, JEAN-MARC MARTY, GUILLAUME WENZEK, and AMINE BENHALLOUM. 2015. Trans-gram, fast cross-lingual word-embeddings. In Proceedings of the 2015 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, 1109–1113.

- CROWLEY, TERRY. 2007. *Field linguistics: a beginner's guide*. Oxford University Press.
- CRUZ, EMILIANA, 2011. Phonology, tone and the functions of tone in San Juan Quiahije Chatino. University of Texas at Austin dissertation.
- —, and TONY WOODBURY. 2006. El sandhi de los tonos en el Chatino de Quiahije. In Las memorias del Congreso de Idiomas Indígenas de Latinoamérica-II.
- DE MULDER, WIM, STEVEN BETHARD, and MARIE-FRANCINE MOENS. 2015. A survey on the application of recurrent neural networks to statistical language modeling. *Computer Speech & Language* 30.61–98.
- DE VRIES, NIC J, JACO BADENHORST, MARELIE H DAVEL, ETIENNE BARNARD, and ALTA DE WAAL. 2011. Woefzela - an open-source platform for ASR data collection in the developing world. In *Proceedings of the Annual Conference of* the International Speech Communication Association, (INTERSPEECH).
- —, MARELIE H DAVEL, JACO BADENHORST, WILLEM D BASSON, FEBE DE WET, ETIENNE BARNARD, and ALTA DE WAAL. 2014. A smartphone-based ASR data collection tool for under-resourced languages. Speech communication 56.119–131.
- DENERO, JOHN, ALEXANDRE BOUCHARD-CÔTÉ, and DAN KLEIN. 2008. Sampling alignment structure under a Bayesian translation model. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, 314–323.
- DENG, LI, GEOFFREY HINTON, and BRIAN KINGSBURY. 2013. New types of deep neural network learning for speech recognition and related applications: an overview. In 2013 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, 8599–8603.
- DENG, YONGGANG, and WILLIAM BYRNE. 2005. HMM word and phrase alignment for statistical machine translation. In Proceedings of Human Language Technology Conference and Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing, 169–176.
- —, and —. 2008. HMM word and phrase alignment for statistical machine translation. Audio, Speech, and Language Processing, IEEE Transactions on 16.494–507.
- DHAKA, AKASH KUMAR, and GIAMPIERO SALVI. 2016. Semi-supervised learning with sparse autoencoders in phone classification. *ArXiv:1610.00520*.

- Do, THI-NGOC-DIEP, ALEXIS MICHAUD, and ERIC CASTELLI. 2014a. Towards the automatic processing of Yongning Na (Sino-Tibetan): developing a 'light' acoustic model of the target language and testing 'heavyweight' models from five national languages. In 4th International Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced Languages, 153–160.
- Do, VAN HAI, XIONG XIAO, ENG SIONG CHNG, and HAIZHOU LI. 2014b. Crosslingual phone mapping for large vocabulary speech recognition of under-resourced languages. *IEICE Transactions on Information and Systems* E97-D.285–295.
- DUONG, LONG, ANTONIOS ANASTASOPOULOS, DAVID CHIANG, STEVEN BIRD, and TREVOR COHN. 2016a. An attentional model for speech translation without transcription. In *Proceedings of NAACL-HLT 2016*, 949–959.
- —, TREVOR COHN, STEVEN BIRD, and PAUL COOK. 2015. Low resource dependency parsing: cross-lingual parameter sharing in a neural network parser. Proceedings of the 53rd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 7th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Short Papers) 845–850.
- —, HIROSHI KANAYAMA, TENGFEI MA, STEVEN BIRD, and TREVOR COHN. 2016b. Learning crosslingual word embeddings without bilingual corpora. Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing 1285–1295.
- —, —, —, , and —. 2017. Multilingual training of crosslingual word embeddings. In *Proceedings of the 15th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, volume 1, 894–904.
- DURRANI, NADIR, HELMUT SCHMID, ALEXANDER FRASER, and PHILIPP KOEHN. 2014. Investigating the usefulness of generalized word representations in SMT. In Proceedings of COLING 2014, the 25th International Conference on Computational Linguistics: Technical Papers, volume 14, 421–432.
- DYER, CHRIS. 2009. Using a maximum entropy model to build segmentation lattices for MT. In Proceedings of Human Language Technologies: The 2009 Annual Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, 406–414.
- —, VICTOR CHAHUNEAU, and NOAH A SMITH. 2013. A simple, fast, and effective reparameterization of IBM Model 2. Proceedings of the Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologieslogies 644–649.

- EL-DESOKY MOUSA, AMR, M. ALI BASHA SHAIK, RALF SCHLUTER, and HER-MANN NEY. 2010. Sub-lexical language models for German LVCSR. In 2010 IEEE Spoken Language Technology Workshop, 171–176.
- ELSNER, MICHA, NAOMI H FELDMAN, and FRANK WOOD. 2013. A joint learning model of word segmentation, lexical acquisition, and phonetic variability. In *Proceedings of the 2013 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, number October, 42–54.
- FANG, MENG, and TREVOR COHN. 2017. Model transfer for tagging low-resource languages using a bilingual dictionary. In Proceedings of the 55th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers), 587– 593.
- FARUQUI, MANAAL, and CHRIS DYER. 2014. Improving vector space word representations using multilingual correlation. In *Proceedings of the 14th Conference of* the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, 462–471.
- FENG, YAN-MEI, LI XU, NING ZHOU, GUANG YANG, and SHAN-KAI YIN. 2012. Sine-wave speech recognition in a tonal language. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 131.133–138.
- FINKELSTEIN, LEV, EVGENIY GABRILOVICH, YOSSI MATIAS, EHUD RIVLIN, ZACH SOLAN, GADI WOLFMAN, and EYTAN RUPPIN. 2002. Placing search in context: the concept revisited. In ACM Transactions on Information Systems, volume 20 of WWW '01, 116–131.
- FROME, ANDREA, GREG S CORRADO, JON SHLENS, SAMY BENGIO, JEFF DEAN, MARC'AURELIO RANZATO, and TOMAS MIKOLOV. 2013. DeViSE: a deep visual-semantic embedding model. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 26, 2121–2129.
- FUNG, PASCALE, and LO YUEN YEE. 1998. An IR approach for translating new words from nonparallel, comparable texts. In Proceedings of the 17th international conference on Computational linguistics-Volume 1, 414–420.
- GANDHE, A, F METZE, and I LANE. 2014. Neural network language models for low resource languages. *Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association, INTERSPEECH* 2615–2619.
- GAROFOLO, JOHN S, LORI F LAMEL, WILLIAM M FISHER, JONATHAN G FISCUS, DAVID S PALLETT, NANCY L DAHLGREN, and VICTOR ZUE. 1993. TIMIT acoustic-phonetic continuous speech corpus. *Linguistic data consortium* 10.0.

- GAUTHIER, ELODIE, LAURENT BESACIER, SYLVIE VOISIN, MICHAEL MELESE, and URIEL PASCAL ELINGUI. 2016. Collecting resources in Sub-Saharan African languages for automatic speech recognition: A case study of Wolof. In 10th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference, 3863–3867.
- GHAHREMANI, PEGAH, BAGHER BABAALI, DANIEL POVEY, KORBINIAN RIED-HAMMER, JAN TRMAL, and SANJEEV KHUDANPUR. 2014. A pitch extraction algorithm tuned for automatic speech recognition. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2014 IEEE International Conference on, 2494–2498.
- GHOSHAL, ARNAB, PAWEL SWIETOJANSKI, and STEVE RENALS. 2013. Multilingual training of deep neural networks. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2013 IEEE International Conference on, 7319–7323.
- GIRSHICK, ROSS. 2015. Fast R-CNN. In 2015 IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision (ICCV), 1440–1448.
- GODARD, P., G. ADDA, M. ADDA-DECKER, J. BENJUMEA, L. BESACIER,
 J. COOPER-LEAVITT, G-N. KOUARATA, L. LAMEL, H. MAYNARD,
 M. MUELLER, A. RIALLAND, S. STUEKER, F. YVON, and M. ZANON-BOITO.
 2017. A very low resource language speech corpus for computational language documentation experiments. ArXiv:1710.03501.
- GODARD, PIERRE, GILLES ADDA, MARTINE ADDA-DECKER, ALEXANDRE AL-LAUZEN, LAURENT BESACIER, HELENE BONNEAU-MAYNARD, GUY-NOËL KOURATA, KEVIN LÖSER, ANNIE RIALLAND, and FRANÇOIS YVON. 2016. Preliminary experiments on unsupervised word discovery in Mboshi. In Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association, (INTERSPEECH).
- GOLDWATER, SHARON, THOMAS L GRIFFITHS, and MARK JOHNSON. 2006. Contextual dependencies in unsupervised word segmentation. In Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on Computational Linguistics and the 44th annual meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, 673–680.
- —, DAN JURAFSKY, and CHRISTOPHER D MANNING. 2008. Which words are hard to recognize? lexical, prosodic, and disfluency factors that increase ASR error rates. In *Proceedings of the 46th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies (ACL/HLT)*, 380– 388.
- GOODMAN, JOSHUA. 2001. A bit of progress in language modeling. *Technical Report* p. 73.

- GOUWS, STEPHAN, and ANDERS SOGAARD. 2015. Simple task-specific bilingual word embeddings. In Human Language Technologies: The 2015 Annual Conference of the North American Chapter of the ACL, 1302–1306.
- GRAFF, DAVID, SHUDONG HUANG, INGRID CARTAGENA, KEVIN WALKER, and CHRISTOPHER CIERI, 2010. Fisher Spanish Transcripts LDC2010T04. Linguistic Data Consortium.
- GRAVES, A, A.-R. MOHAMED, and G HINTON. 2013. Speech recognition with deep recurrent neural networks. 2013 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP) 6645–6649.
- GRAVES, ALEX, SANTIAGO FERNANDEZ, FAUSTINO GOMEZ, and JURGEN SCHMID-HUBER. 2006. Connectionist temporal classification: labelling unsegmented sequence data with recurrent neural networks. *Proceedings of the 23rd international conference on Machine Learning* 369–376.
- —, and NAVDEEP JAITLY. 2014. Towards end-to-end speech recognition with recurrent neural networks. *JMLR Workshop and Conference Proceedings* 32.1764– 1772.
- GRÉZL, FRANTIŠEK, MARTIN KARAFIÁT, and MILOŠ JANDA. 2011. Study of probabilistic and bottle-neck features in multilingual environment. Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE Workshop on Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding 359–364.
- HADIAN, HOSSEIN, HOSSEIN SAMETI, DANIEL POVEY, and SANJEEV KHUDANPUR. 2018. Towards discriminatively trained HMM-based end-to-end models for automatic speech recognition. In Proc. IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP).
- HAGHIGHI, ARIA, PERCY LIANG, T BERG-KIRKPATRICK, and DAN KLEIN. 2008. Learning bilingual lexicons from monolingual corpora. In Proceedings of the 46th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, volume 2008, 771–779.
- HANKE, FLORIAN R., 2017. Computer supported collaborative language learning. The University of Melbourne dissertation.

—, and STEVEN BIRD. 2013. Large-scale text collection for unwritten languages. In International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing, 1134–1138.

HANNUN, AWNI, CARL CASE, JARED CASPER, BRYAN CATANZARO, GREG DI-AMOS, ERICH ELSEN, RYAN PRENGER, SANJEEV SATHEESH, SHUBHO SEN-GUPTA, ADAM COATES, and ANDREW Y. NG. 2014. Deep speech: scaling up end-to-end speech recognition. *ArXiv:1412.5567*.

- HAO FANG, MARI OSTENDORF, PETER BAUMANN, and JANET PIERREHUMBERT. 2015. Exponential language modeling using morphological features and multitask learning. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Audio, Speech, and Language Pro*cessing 23.2410–2421.
- HARRIS, ZELLIG S. 1954. Distributional structure. Word 10.146–162.
- HARRISON, K DAVID. 2008. When languages die: The extinction of the world's languages and the erosion of human knowledge. Oxford University Press.
- HE, YANZHANG, and ERIC FOSLER-LUSSIER. 2012. Efficient segmental conditional random fields for phone recognition. In *Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association*, 1898–1901.
- HEAFIELD, KENNETH. 2011. KenLM: faster and smaller language model queries. In Proceedings of the Sixth Workshop on Statistical Machine Translation, 187–197.
- HECK, M, Q T DO, S SAKTI, G NEUBIG, T TODA, and S NAKAMURA. 2015. The NAIST ASR system for IWSLT 2015. In *Proceedings of the International Workshop on Spoken Language Translation (IWSLT 2015).*
- HEIGOLD, GEORG, VINCENT VANHOUCKE, ALAN SENIOR, PATRICK NGUYEN, MARC'AURELIO RANZATO, MATTHIEU DEVIN, and JEFFREY DEAN. 2013. Multilingual acoustic models using distributed deep neural networks. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2013 IEEE International Conference on, 8619–8623.
- HERMANN, KARL MORITZ, and PHIL BLUNSOM. 2013. A simple model for learning multilingual compositional semantics. ArXiv:1312.6173.
- HERMANSKY, HYNEK. 1990. Perceptual linear predictive (PLP) analysis of speech. the Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 87.1738–1752.
- HEYMAN, GEERT, IVAN VULIĆ, and MARIE-FRANCINE MOENS. 2017. Bilingual lexicon induction by learning to combine word-level and character-Level representations. In Proceedings of the 15th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Volume 1, Long Papers, 1085–1095.
- HIMMELMANN, NIKOLAUS. 2006. Language documentation: what is it and what is it good for? In *Essentials of language documentation*, ed. by J Gippert, Nikolaus Himmelmann, and Ulrike Mosel, 1–30. Berlin/New York: de Gruyter.
- HINTON, GEOFFREY, LI DENG, DONG YU, GEORGE E DAHL, ABDEL-RAHMAN MOHAMED, NAVDEEP JAITLY, ANDREW SENIOR, VINCENT VANHOUCKE,

PATRICK NGUYEN, TARA N SAINATH, and OTHERS. 2012. Deep neural networks for acoustic modeling in speech recognition: The shared views of four research groups. *Signal Processing Magazine*, *IEEE* 29.82–97.

- HOCHREITER, SEPP, and JÜRGEN SCHMIDHUBER. 1997. Long short-term memory. Neural computation 9.1735–1780.
- HOFMANN, H, S SAKTI, C HORI, H KASHIOKA, S NAKAMURA, and W MINKER. 2012. Sequence-based pronunciation variation modeling for spontaneous ASR using a noisy channel approach. *IEICE Transactions on Information and Systems* 95.2084–2093.
- HU, W, Y QIAN, and F K SOONG. 2014. A DNN-based acoustic modeling of tonal language and its application to Mandarin pronunciation training. In 2014 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 3206–3210.
- HUANG, HANK CHANG HAN, and FRANK SEIDE. 2000. Pitch tracking and tone features for Mandarin speech recognition. *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing - Proceedings* 3.1523–1526.
- HUANG, JUI-TING, JINYU LI, DONG YU, LI DENG, and YIFAN GONG. 2013. Crosslanguage knowledge transfer using multilingual deep neural network with shared hidden layers. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2013 IEEE International Conference on, 7304–7308.
- HUGHES, THAD, KAISUKE NAKAJIMA, LINNE HA, ATUL VASU, PEDRO MORENO, and MIKE LEBEAU. 2010. Building transcribed speech corpora quickly and cheaply for many languages. In Interspeech 2010. Proceedings of the 11th Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association, number September, 1914–1917.
- IMSENG, DAVID, PETR MOTLICEK, HERVÉ BOURLARD, and PHILIP N GARNER. 2014. Using out-of-language data to improve an under-resourced speech recognizer. Speech Communication 56.142–151.
- IRVINE, ANN, and CHRIS CALLISON-BURCH. 2013. Combining bilingual and comparable corpora for low resource machine translation. In *Proceedings of the Eighth Workshop on Statistical Machine Translation*, 262–270.
- JANSEN, AREN, KENNETH CHURCH, and HYNEK HERMANSKY. 2010. Towards spoken term discovery at scale with zero resources. *Interspeech 2010* 1676–1679.
- JENSSON, ARNAR, KOJI IWANO, and SADAOKI FURUI. 2008. Development of a speech recognition system for Icelandic using machine translated text. In *The first*

International Workshop on Spoken Languages Technologies for Under-resourced Languages (SLTU-2008), 18–21.

- JENSSON, A.T. ARNAR, TASUKU OONISHI, KOJI IWANO, and SADAOKI FURUI. 2009. Development of a WFST based speech recognition system for a resource deficient language using machine translation. *Proceedings of Asia-Pacific Signal* and Information Processing Association 50–56.
- JIANG, JIE, ZEESHAN AHMED, JULIE CARSON-BERNDSEN, PETER CAHILL, and ANDY WAY. 2011. Phonetic representation-based speech translation. In 13th Machine Translation Summit.
- JOHNSON, MARK. 2008. Unsupervised word segmentation for Sesotho using adaptor grammars. In Proceedings of the Tenth Meeting of ACL Special Interest Group on Computational Morphology and Phonology, 20–27.
- —, and SHARON GOLDWATER. 2009. Improving nonparametric Bayesian inference: experiments on unsupervised word segmentation with adaptor grammars. In Proceedings of Human Language Technologies: The 2009 Annual Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics, 317–325.
- —, THOMAS GRIFFITHS, and SHARON GOLDWATER. 2007. Bayesian inference for PCFGs via Markov chain Monte Carlo. Proceedings of Human Language Technologies 2007: The Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics 139–146.
- JOHNSON, MELVIN, MIKE SCHUSTER, QUOC V LE, MAXIM KRIKUN, YONGHUI WU, ZHIFENG CHEN, NIKHIL THORAT, FERNANDA VIÉGAS, MARTIN WAT-TENBERG, GREG CORRADO, MACDUFF HUGHES, and JEFFREY DEAN. 2016. Google's multilingual neural machine translation system: enabling zero-shot translation. ArXiv:1611.04558.
- JOHNSON, SAMUEL. 1755. Preface to the English Dictionary.
- JURAFSKY, DANIEL, and JAMES H MARTIN. 2009. Speech and Language Processing (2nd Edition). Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- JYOTHI, PREETHI, and MARK HASEGAWA-JOHNSON. 2015. Acquiring speech transcriptions using mismatched crowdsourcing. In *Proceedings of the Twenty-Ninth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 1263–1269.
- KALCHBRENNER, NAL, and PHIL BLUNSOM. 2013. Recurrent continuous translation models. Proceedings of the 2013 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing 1700–1709.

- KAMHOLZ, DAVID, JONATHAN POOL, and SUSAN COLOWICK. 2014. PanLex: building a resource for panlingual lexical translation. In *Proceedings of the Ninth International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation*, 3145–3150.
- KAMPER, HERMAN, AREN JANSEN, and SHARON GOLDWATER. 2017. A segmental framework for fully-unsupervised large-vocabulary speech recognition. *Computer Speech and Language* 46.154–174.
- KEMPTON, TIMOTHY, and ROGER K. MOORE. 2014. Discovering the phoneme inventory of an unwritten language: a machine-assisted approach. *Speech Communication* 56.152–166.
- KHADIVI, SHAHRAM, and HERMANN NEY. 2008. Integration of speech recognition and machine translation in computer-assisted translation. *Audio, Speech, and Language Processing, IEEE Transactions on* 16.1551–1564.
- KIM, SUYOUN, TAKAAKI HORI, and SHINJI WATANABE. 2016a. Joint CTC-attention based end-to-end speech recognition using multi-task learning. ArXiv:1609.06773.
- KIM, YOON, YACINE JERNITE, DAVID SONTAG, and ALEXANDER M. RUSH. 2016b. Character-aware neural language models. In *Thirtieth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 2741–2749.
- KINGMA, DIEDERIK P., and JIMMY LEI BA. 2015. Adam: a method for stochastic optimization. International Conference on Learning Representations 2015 1–15.
- KIRCHHOFF, KATRIN, DIMITRA VERGYRI, JEFF BILMES, KEVIN DUH, and AN-DREAS STOLCKE. 2006. Morphology-based language modeling for conversational Arabic speech recognition. *Computer Speech and Language* 20.589–608.
- KLEMENTIEV, ALEXANDRE, IVAN TITOV, and BINOD BHATTARAI. 2012. Inducing crosslingual distributed representations of words. In 24th International Conference on Computational Linguistics - Proceedings of COLING 2012: Technical Papers, number December, 1459–1474.
- KNESER, REINHARD, and HERMANN NEY. 1995. Improved backing-off for m-gram language modeling. In 1995 International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, 181–184.
- Kočiský, Tomáš, Karl Moritz Hermann, and Phil Blunsom. 2014. Learning bilingual word representations by marginalizing alignments. ArXiv:1405.0947.
- KOEHN, PHILIPP. 2005. Europarl: A parallel corpus for statistical machine translation. In *MT Summit*, volume 5, 79–86.

- —. 2009. Statistical machine translation. Cambridge University Press.
- —, HIEU HOANG, ALEXANDRA BIRCH, CHRIS CALLISON-BURCH, MARCELLO FEDERICO, NICOLA BERTOLDI, BROOKE COWAN, WADE SHEN, CHRISTINE MORAN, RICHARD ZENS, and OTHERS. 2007. Moses: Open source toolkit for statistical machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 45th annual meeting of the ACL on interactive poster and demonstration sessions*, 177–180.
- —, and KEVIN KNIGHT. 2002. Learning a translation lexicon from monolingual corpora. In *Proceedings of the ACL-02 Workshop on Unsupervised Lexical Acquisition-Volume 9*, 9–16.
- —, FRANZ JOSEF OCH, and DANIEL MARCU. 2003. Statistical phrase-based translation. In Proceedings of the 2003 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics on Human Language Technology-Volume 1, 48–54.
- KÖHLER, JOACHIM. 1998. Language adaptation of multilingual phone models for vocabulary independent speech recognition tasks. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, 1998. Proceedings of the 1998 IEEE International Conference on, volume 1, 417–420.
- —. 1999. Comparing three methods to create multilingual phone models for vocabulary independent speech recognition tasks. In Workshop on Multi-Lingual Interoperability in Speech Technology (MIST).
- KRAUSS, MICHAEL. 1992. The world's languages in crisis. Language 68.4–10.
- KUNZE, JULIUS, LOUIS KIRSCH, ILIA KURENKOV, ANDREAS KRUG, JENS JO-HANNSMEIER, and SEBASTIAN STOBER. 2017. Transfer learning for speech recognition on a budget. ArXiv:1706.00290.
- KURIMO, MIKKO, SEPPO ENARVI, OTTOKAR TILK, MATTI VARJOKALLIO, ANDRÉ MANSIKKANIEMI, and TANEL ALUMÄE. 2016. Modeling under-resourced languages for speech recognition. Language Resources and Evaluation 1–27.
- LADEFOGED, PETER. 1992. Another view of endangered languages. Language 68.809–811.
- LALEYE, FRÉJUS, LAURENT BESACIER, EUGÈNE C. EZIN, and CINA MOTAMED. 2016. First automatic Fongbe continuous speech recognition system: development of acoustic models and language models. In *Computer Science and Information Systems (FedCSIS), 2016 Federated Conference on*, volume 8, 477–482.

- LAMEL, L, J L GAUVAIN, V B LE, I OPARIN, and S MENG. 2011. Improved models for Mandarin speech-to-text transcription. In 2011 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 4660–4663.
- LANDAUER, THOMAS K, and SUSAN T DUMAIS. 1997. A solution to Plato's problem: The latent semantic analysis theory of acquisition, induction, and representation of knowledge. *Psychological review* 104.211.
- LANKINEN, MATTI, HANNES HEIKINHEIMO, PYRY TAKALA, TAPANI RAIKO, and JUHA KARHUNEN. 2016. A character-word compositional neural language model for Finnish. ArXiv:1612.03266.
- LARDILLEUX, ADRIEN, JULIEN GOSME, and YVES LEPAGE. 2010. Bilingual lexicon induction: effortless evaluation of word alignment tools and production of resources for improbable language pairs. In *Proceedings of the Seventh International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC-2010)*, 252–256.
- LAU, JEY HAN, and TIMOTHY BALDWIN. 2016. An empirical evaluation of doc2vec with practical insights into document embedding generation. In 1st Workshop on Representation Learning for NLP, 78–86.
- LE, VIET BAC, and LAURENT BESACIER. 2005. First steps in fast acoustic modeling for a new target language: application to Vietnamese. In Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, 2005. Proceedings. (ICASSP '05). IEEE International Conference on, 821–824.
- LE, VIET-BAC, and LAURENT BESACIER. 2009. Automatic speech recognition for under-resourced languages: application to Vietnamese language. Audio, Speech, and Language Processing, IEEE Transactions on 17.1471–1482.
- LEE, CHIA-YING, and JAMES GLASS. 2012. A nonparametric Bayesian approach to acoustic model discovery. In *Proceedings of the 50th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers) (ACL)*, 40– 49.
- —, TIMOTHY J O'DONNELL, and JAMES GLASS. 2015. Unsupervised lexicon discovery from acoustic input. *Transactions of the Association for Computational Linguistics* 3.389–403.
- LEE, JASON, KYUNGHYUN CHO, and THOMAS HOFMANN. 2016. Fully character-level neural machine translation without explicit segmentation. ArXiv:1610.03017.

- LEE, KAI FU. 1990. Context-dependent phonetic hidden Markov models for speakerindependent continuous speech recognition. *IEEE Transactions on Acoustics*, *Speech, and Signal Processing* 38.599–609.
- LEE, TAN, WAI LAU, YIU WING WONG, and P C CHING. 2002. Using tone information in Cantonese continuous speech recognition. ACM Transactions on Asian Language Information Processing (TALIP) 1.83–102.
- LEE, YOUNG-SUK. 2004. Morphological analysis for statistical machine translation. In *HLT-NAACL 2004: Short Papers*, 57–60.
- LEI, XIN, MANHUNG SIU, MEI-YUH HWANG, MARI OSTENDORF, and TAN LEE. 2006. Improved tone modeling for Mandarin broadcast news speech recognition. Proceedings of the International Conference on Spoken Language Processing 1237–1240.
- LEVIN, KEITH, KATHARINE HENRY, AREN JANSEN, and KAREN LIVESCU. 2013. Fixed-dimensional acoustic embeddings of variable-length segments in lowresource settings. In Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding (ASRU), 2013 IEEE Workshop on, 410–415.
- LEVOW, GINA-ANNE, DOUGLAS W OARD, and PHILIP RESNIK. 2005. Dictionarybased techniques for cross-language information retrieval. *Information processing* & management 41.523–547.
- LEWIS, M PAUL, and GARY F SIMONS. 2010. Assessing endangerement: expanding Fishman's GIDS. *Revue roumaine de linguistique* 55.2.
 - -, —, and CHARLES D FENNIG (EDS.). 2015. *Ethnologue: Languages of the World, Eighteenth edition*. Dallas, Texas: SIL International.
- LI, XIANGANG, and XIHONG WU. 2016. Long short-term memory based convolutional recurrent neural networks for large vocabulary speech recognition. *ArXiv:1610.03165*.
- LI, ZEZHONG, HIDETO IKEDA, and JUNICHI FUKUMOTO. 2013. Bayesian word alignment and phrase table training for statistical machine translation. *IEICE TRANSACTIONS on Information and Systems* 96.1536–1543.
- LIDZ, LIBERTY A, 2010. A descriptive grammar of Yongning Na (Mosuo). University of Texas, Department of linguistics dissertation.
- LIN, HUI, LI DENG, DONG YU, YI-FAN GONG, ALEX ACERO, and CHIN-HUI LEE. 2009. A study on multilingual acoustic modeling for large vocabulary ASR. In *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing*, 2009, 4333–4336.

- LING, WANG, ISABEL TRANCOSO, CHRIS DYER, and ALAN W BLACK. 2015. Character-based neural machine translation. *ArXiv:1511.04586*.
- LIU, CHUNXI, PREETHI JYOTHI, HAO TANG, VIMAL MANOHAR, ROSE SLOAN, TYLER KEKONA, MARK HASEGAWA-JOHNSON, and SANJEEV KHUDANPUR. 2016. Adapting ASR for under-resourced languages using mismatched transcriptions. *ICASSP 2016* 5840–5844.
- —, JINYI YANG, MING SUN, SANTOSH KESIRAJU, ALENA ROTT, LUCAS ONDEL, PEGAH GHAHREMANI, NAJIM DEHAK, LUKAS BURGET, and SANJEEV KHU-DANPUR. 2017a. An empirical evaluation of zero resource acoustic unit discovery. *ArXiv:1702.01360*.
- LIU, HAIRONG, ZHENYAO ZHU, XIANGANG LI, and SANJEEV SATHEESH. 2017b. Gram-CTC: automatic unit selection and target decomposition for sequence labelling. ArXiv:1703.00096.
- LU, LIANG, LINGPENG KONG, CHRIS DYER, and NOAH A. SMITH. 2017. Multitask learning with CTC and segmental CRF for speech recognition. *ArXiv:1702.06378*.
- —, —, —, and STEVE RENALS. 2016. Segmental recurrent neural networks for end-to-end speech recognition. *ArXiv:1603.00223*.
- LUONG, MINH-THANG, and MIN-YEN KAN. 2010. Enhancing morphological alignment for translating highly inflected languages. In *Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Computational Linguistics*, COLING '10, 743–751.
- MA, GUOJIE, XINGSHAN LI, and KEITH RAYNER. 2014. Word segmentation of overlapping ambiguous strings during Chinese reading. 12 40.1046.
- MAAS, ANDREW L, ZIANG XIE, DAN JURAFSKY, and ANDREW Y NG. 2015. Q. In Proceedings of the 2015 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies.
- MARIÑO, JOSÉ B, RAFAEL E BANCHS, JOSEP M CREGO, ADRIÀ DE GISPERT, PATRICK LAMBERT, JOSÉ A R FONOLLOSA, and MARTA R COSTA-JUSSÀ. 2006. N-gram-based machine translation. *Computational Linguistics* 32.527– 549.
- MARTENS, JAMES. 2011. Generating text with recurrent neural networks. In *Neural Networks*, volume 131, 1017–1024.
- MATUSOV, EVGENY, STEPHAN KANTHAK, and HERMANN NEY. 2005. On the integration of speech recognition and statistical machine translation. In *INTER-SPEECH*, 3177–3180.

- MELAMED, I DAN. 1996. Automatic construction of clean broad-coverage translation lexicons. In Proceedings of the 2nd Conference of the Association for Machine Translation in the Americas (AMTA-1996), 125–134.
- MERMER, COŞKUN, and MURAT SARAÇLAR. 2011. Bayesian word alignment for statistical machine translation. In Proceedings of the 49th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies: short papers-Volume 2, 182–187.
- ——, MURAT SARAÇLAR, and RUHI SARIKAYA. 2013. Improving statistical machine translation using Bayesian word alignment and Gibbs sampling. *Audio, Speech,* and Language Processing, IEEE Transactions on 21.1090–1101.
- METZE, FLORIAN, ZAID A.W. W SHEIKH, ALEX WAIBEL, JONAS GEHRING, KEVIN KILGOUR, QUOC BAO NGUYEN, and VAN HUY NGUYEN. 2013. Models of tone for tonal and non-tonal languages. 2013 IEEE Workshop on Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding, ASRU 2013 - Proceedings 261–266.
- MIAO, YAJIE, MOHAMMAD GOWAYYED, and FLORIAN METZE. 2015. EESEN: endto-end speech recognition using deep RNN models and WFST-based decoding. *ArXiv:1507.08240*.
- —, and FLORIAN METZE. 2017. End-to-end architectures for speech recognition. In *New Era for Robust Speech Recognition: Exploiting Deep Learning*, ed. by Shinji Watanabe, Marc Delcroix, Florian Metze, and John R Hershey, 299–323. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- MICHAILOVSKY, BOYD, MARTINE MAZAUDON, ALEXIS MICHAUD, SÉVERINE GUILLAUME, ALEXANDRE FRANÇOIS, and EVANGELIA ADAMOU. 2014. Documenting and researching endangered languages: the Pangloss Collection. Language Documentation and Conservation 8.119–135.
- MICHAUD, ALEXIS. 2008. Phonemic and tonal analysis of Yongning Na^{*}. Cahiers de Linguistique Asie Orientale 37.159–196.
- —, 2016. Online Na-English-Chinese Dictionary. *Halshs-01204638*. https://halshs.archives-ouvertes.fr/halshs-01204638.
- —, 2017a. Speech recognition for newly documented languages: highly encouraging tests using automatically generated phonemic transcription of Yongning Na audio recordings. *Himalco.* https://himalco.hypotheses.org/285.
- ——. 2017b. *Tone in Yongning Na: lexical tones and morphotonology*. Number 13 in Studies in Diversity Linguistics. Berlin: Language Science Press.

- —, and DASHILAME LATAMI, 2017. Housebuilding 2. *Pangloss Collection*. http://lacito.vjf.cnrs.fr/pangloss/corpus/ show_text_en.php?id=crdo-NRU_F4_HOUSEBUIL DING2_SOUND&idref=crdo-NRU_F4_HOUSEBU ILDING2.
- MIKOLOV, TOMÁŠ, KAI CHEN, GREG CORRADO, and JEFFREY DEAN. 2013a. Efficient estimation of word representation in vector space. In *ICLR*.
- —, M KARAFIAT, L BURGET, J CERNOCKY, and S KHUDANPUR. 2010. Recurrent neural network based language model. In *Proceedings of the Annual Conference of* the International Speech Communication Association, (INTERSPEECH), 1045– 1048.
- —, QUOC V. LE, and ILYA SUTSKEVER. 2013b. Exploiting similarities among languages for machine translation. *ArXiv:1309.4168*.
- —, ILYA SUTSKEVER, KAI CHEN, GREG S CORRADO, and JEFF DEAN. 2013c. Distributed representations of words and phrases and their compositionality. In Advances in neural information processing systems, 3111–3119.
- —, ILYA SUTSKEVER, ANOOP DEORAS, HAI-SON LE, STEFAN KOMBRINK, and JAN CERNOCK. 2012. Subword language modeling with neural networks.
- MIRANDA, JOAO, JOAO P. NETO, and ALAN W. BLACK. 2012a. Parallel combination of speech streams for improved ASR. In *Interspeech-2012*, 2–5.
- —, JOAO PAULO NETO, and ALAN W BLACK. 2012b. Recovery of acronyms, outof-lattice words and pronunciations from parallel multilingual speech. In *Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT), 2012 IEEE*, 348–353.
- MIYAOKA, OSAHITO, OSAMU SAKIYAMA, and MICHAEL E KRAUSS. 2007. The vanishing languages of the Pacific Rim. Oxford University Press, USA.
- MNIH, ANDRIY, ZHANG YUECHENG, and GEOFFREY HINTON. 2009. Improving a statistical language model through non-linear prediction. *Neurocomputing* 72.1414–1418.
- MOCHIHASHI, DAICHI, TAKESHI YAMADA, and NAONORI UEDA. 2009. Bayesian unsupervised word segmentation with nested Pitman-Yor language modeling. In Proceedings of the Joint Conference of the 47th Annual Meeting of the ACL and the 4th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing of the AFNLP, 100–108.
- MORTENSEN, DAVID R, PATRICK LITTELL, AKASH BHARADWAJ, KARTIK GOYAL, CHRIS DYER, and LORI LEVIN. 2016. PanPhon: a resource for mapping IPA

segments to articulatory feature vectors. Proceedings of COLING 2016, the 26th International Conference on Computational Linguistics: Technical Papers 3475– 3484.

- MÜLLER, MARKUS, SEBASTIAN STÜKER, and ALEX WAIBEL. 2017. Language Adaptive Multilingual CTC Speech Recognition. In Speech and Computer: 19th International Conference, SPECOM 2017, Hatfield, UK, September 12-16, 2017, Proceedings, 473–482.
- NAGATA, MASAAKI. 1997. A self-organizing Japanese word segmenter using heuristic word identification and re-estimation. In *Proceedings of the 5th Workshop on Very Large Corpora*, 203–215.
- NAKOV, PRESLAV, and HWEE TOU NG. 2011. Translating from morphologically complex languages: a paraphrase-based approach. In *In Proceedings of the 49th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies-Volume 1*, volume 80, 1298–1307.
- —, and JÖRG TIEDEMANN. 2012. Combining word-level and character-level models for machine translation between closely-related languages. In *Proceedings of the* 50th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Short Papers - Volume 2, 301–305.
- NALLASAMY, UDHYAKUMAR, FLORIAN METZE, and TANJA SCHULTZ. 2012. Semisupervised learning for speech recognition in the context of accent adaptation. In Proceedings of Symposium on Machine Learning in Speech and Language Processing (MLSLP), 2–6.
- NEUBIG, GRAHAM, 2012. Unsupervised learning of lexical information for language processing systems. Kyoto University dissertation.
- —. 2013. Travatar: a forest-to-string machine translation engine based on tree transducers. In ACL (Conference System Demonstrations), 91–96.
- ——. 2014. Simple, correct parallelization for blocked Gibbs sampling. Technical report, Nara Institute of Science and Technology.
- —, and CHRIS DYER. 2016. Generalizing and hybridizing count-based and neural language models. In *Proceedings of the 2016 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*, 1163–1172.
- ——, MASATO MIMURA, and TATSUYA KAWAHARA. 2012a. Bayesian learning of a language model from continuous speech. *IEICE TRANSACTIONS on Information and Systems* 95.614–625.

- —, YOSUKE NAKATA, and SHINSUKE MORI. 2011a. Pointwise prediction for robust, adaptable Japanese morphological analysis. In *Proceedings of the 49th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies: short papers-Volume 2*, 529–533.
- —, TARO WATANABE, SHINSUKE MORI, and TATSUYA KAWAHARA. 2012b. Machine translation without words through substring alignment. In *Proceedings* of the 50th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), 165–174.
- TARO WATANABE, EIICHIRO SUMITA, SHINSUKE MORI, and TATSUYA KAWA-HARA. 2011b. An unsupervised model for joint phrase alignment and extraction. In Proceedings of the 49th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies-Volume 1, 632–641.
- NEY, HERMANN. 1999. Speech translation: Coupling of recognition and translation. In Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, 1999. Proceedings., 1999 IEEE International Conference on, volume 1, 517–520.
- NG, RAYMOND W M, THOMAS HAIN, and TREVOR COHN. 2013. Adaptation of lecture speech recognition system with machine translation output. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2013 IEEE International Conference on, 8401–8405.
- NGUYEN, THUYLINH, STEPHAN VOGEL, and NOAH A SMITH. 2010. Nonparametric word segmentation for machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Computational Linguistics*, 815–823.
- NGUYEN, TOAN Q., and DAVID CHIANG. 2017. Transfer learning across low-resource, related Languages for neural machine translation. ArXiv:1708.09803.
- O. ABDEL-HAMID L. DENG, D YU, and H JIANG. 2013. Deep segmental neural networks for automatic speech recognition. In *Proceedings of Interspeech*, p. 70.
- OCH, FRANZ JOSEF, and HERMANN NEY. 2003. A systematic comparison of various statistical alignment models. *Computational Linguistics* 29.19–51.
- OSBAND, IAN, CHARLES BLUNDELL, ALEXANDER PRITZEL, and BENJAMIN VAN ROY. 2016. Deep exploration via bootstrapped DQN. ArXiv:1602.04621.
- ÖSTLING, ROBERT, and JÖRG TIEDEMANN. 2017. Neural machine translation for low-resource languages. ArXiv:1708.05729.
- PARK, ALEX S, and JAMES R GLASS. 2008. Unsupervised pattern discovery in speech. Audio, Speech, and Language Processing, IEEE Transactions on 16.186– 197.
- PAULIK, MATTHIAS, SEBASTIAN STÜKER, C FUGEN, TANJA SCHULTZ, THOMAS SCHAAF, and ALEX WAIBEL. 2005. Speech translation enhanced automatic speech recognition. In Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding, 2005 IEEE Workshop on, 121–126.
- —, and ALEX WAIBEL. 2009. Automatic translation from parallel speech: Simultaneous interpretation as MT training data. In *Proceedings of the 2009 IEEE Workshop on Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding, ASRU 2009*, 496–501.
- —, and ——. 2010. Spoken language translation from parallel speech audio: simultaneous interpretation as SLT training data. In Acoustics Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2010 IEEE International Conference on, 5210–5213.
- —, and —. 2013. Training speech translation from audio recordings of interpretermediated communication. *Computer Speech & Language* 27.455–474.
- PELEMANS, JORIS, TOM VANALLEMEERSCH, KRIS DEMUYNCK, PATRICK WAMBACQ, and OTHERS. 2015. Efficient language model adaptation for automatic speech recognition of spoken translations. In Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association, (INTER-SPEECH), 2262–2266.
- PENNINGTON, JEFFREY, RICHARD SOCHER, and CHRISTOPHER D MANNING. 2014. Glove: global vectors for word representation. *Proceedings of the Empiricial Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP 2014)* 12.1532–1543.
- PLAHL, CHRISTIAN, RALF SCHLÜTER, and HERMANN NEY. 2011. Cross-lingual portability of Chinese and English neural network features for French and German LVCSR. In Automatic Speech Recognition and Understanding (ASRU), 2011 IEEE Workshop on, 371–376.
- POST, MATT, GAURAV KUMAR, ADAM LOPEZ, DAMIANOS KARAKOS, CHRIS CALLISON-BURCH, and SANJEEV KHUDANPUR. 2013. Improved speech-to-text translation with the Fisher and Callhome Spanish–English speech translation corpus. In *Proceedings of the International Workshop on Spoken Language Translation (IWSLT)*.
- RABINER, L.R. 1989. A tutorial on hidden Markov models and selected applications in speech recognition. *Proceedings of the IEEE* 77.257–286.
- RAMSUNDAR, BHARATH, STEVEN KEARNES, PATRICK RILEY, DALE WEBSTER, DAVID KONERDING, and VIJAY PANDE. 2015. Massively multitask networks for drug discovery. ArXiv:1502.02072.

- REDDY, AARTHI, and RICHARD C ROSE. 2010. Integration of statistical models for dictation of document translations in a machine-aided human translation task. *Audio, Speech, and Language Processing, IEEE Transactions on* 18.2015–2027.
- REDEKER, GISELA. 1984. On differences between spoken and written language. Discourse Processes 7.43–55.
- REIMAN, WILL D. 2010. Basic oral language documentation. Language Documentation & Conservation 254–268.
- RODRIGUEZ, LUIS, AARTHI REDDY, and RICHARD ROSE. 2012. Efficient integration of translation and speech models in dictation based machine aided human translation. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2012 IEEE International Conference on, 4949–4952.
- RUDER, SEBASTIAN. 2017. An overview of multi-task learning in deep neural networks. ArXiv:1706.05098.
- SAK, HASIM, MURAT SARACLAR, and TUNGA GUNGOR. 2010. Morphology-based and sub-word language modeling for Turkish speech recognition. In 2010 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, 5402–5405.
- SAK, HAŞIM, ANDREW SENIOR, and FRANÇOISE BEAUFAYS. 2014. Long short-term memory recurrent neural network architectures for large scale acoustic modeling. In Fifteenth Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association.
- SAKTI, SAKRIANI, ANDREW FINCH, CHIORI HORI, HIDEKI KASHIOKA, and SATOSHI NAKAMURA. 2011. Conditional random fields for modeling Korean pronunciation variation. In *Proceedings of the Paralinguistic Information and its Integration in Spoken Dialogue Systems Workshop*, 49–55.
- SAM, SETHSEREY, ERIC CASTELLI, and LAURENT BESACIER. 2012. Online unsupervised multilingual acoustic model adaptation for nonnative ASR. ASEAN Engineering Journal 1.76–86.
- SASSANO, MANABU. 2014. Deterministic word segmentation using maximum matching with fully lexicalized rules. Proceedings of the 14th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics 79–83.
- SCHARENBORG, ODETTE, FRANCESCO CIANNELLA, SHRUTI PALASKAR, ALAN BLACK, FLORIAN METZE, LUCAS ONDEL, and MARK HASEGAWA-JOHNSON. 2017. Building an ASR system for a low-research language through the adaptation of a high-resource language ASR system: preliminary results. In International Conference on Natural Language, Signal and Speech Processing.

- SCHRÖDER, MARC, and JÜRGEN TROUVAIN. 2003. The German text-to-speech synthesis system MARY: A tool for research, development and teaching. *International Journal of Speech Technology* 6.365–377.
- SCHULTZ, TANJA, and ALEX WAIBEL. 2001a. Experiments on cross-language acoustic Modeling. *Proc. EUROSPEECH'01* 2721–2724.
- —, and —. 2001b. Language-independent and language-adaptive acoustic modeling for speech recognition. *Speech Communication* 35.31–51.
- SCHUSTER, MIKE, and KULDIP K PALIWAL. 1997. Bidirectional recurrent neural networks. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing* 45.2673–2681.
- SCOTT, STEVEN L. 2002. Bayesian methods for hidden Markov models. Journal of the American Statistical Association 97.337–351.
- SENNRICH, RICO, BARRY HADDOW, and ALEXANDRA BIRCH. 2015. Neural machine translation of rare words with subword units. *ArXiv:1508.07909*.
- SERCU, TOM, CHRISTIAN PUHRSCH, BRIAN KINGSBURY, and YORKTOWN HEIGHTS. 2016. Very deep multilingual convolutional neural networks for LVCSR. In *ICASSP 2016*, 4955–4959.
- SHAIK, M ALI BASHA, EL-DESOKY MOUSA, RALF SCHLÜTER, and HERMANN NEY. 2011. Hybrid language models using mixed types of sub-lexical units for open vocabulary German LVCSR.
- SHAN, CHANGHAO, JUNBO ZHANG, YUJUN WANG, and LEI XIE. 2017. Attentionbased end-to-end speech recognition in Mandarin. ArXiv:1707.07167.
- SHAREGHI, EHSAN, MATTHIAS PETRI, GHOLAMREZA HAFFARI, and TREVOR COHN. 2016. Fast, small and exact: infinite-order language modelling with compressed suffix trees. ArXiv:1608.04465.
- SHAZEER, NOAM, RYAN DOHERTY, COLIN EVANS, and CHRIS WATERSON. 2016. Swivel: improving embeddings by noticing what's missing. *ArXiv:1602.02215*.
- SIMONS, GARY F, and CHARLES D FENNIG (eds.) 2017. *Ethnologue: languages of the world.* Dallas: SIL International, twentieth edition.
- SOLTAU, HAGEN, HANK LIAO, and HASIM SAK. 2016. Neural speech recognizer: acoustic-to-word LSTM model for large vocabulary speech recognition. *ArXiv:1610.09975*.
- SRIRAM, ANUROOP, HEEWOO JUN, YASHESH GAUR, and SANJEEV SATHEESH. 2017. Robust speech recognition using generative adversarial networks. ArXiv:1711.01567.

- STAHLBERG, F, T SCHLIPPE, S VOGEL, and T SCHULTZ. 2015. Cross-lingual lexical language discovery from audio data using multiple translations. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2015 IEEE International Conference on, 5823–5827.
- STAHLBERG, FELIX, TIM SCHLIPPE, STEPHAN VOGEL, and TANJA SCHULTZ. 2013. Pronunciation extraction from phoneme sequences through cross-lingual wordto-phoneme alignment. In *Statistical Language and Speech Processing*, 260–272. Springer.
- —, —, and —. 2014a. Towards automatic speech recognition without pronunciation dictionary, transcribed speech and text resources in the target language using cross-lingual word-to-phoneme alignment. In *The 4th Workshop* on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced Languages (SLTU), 73–80.
- ----, ----, and ----. 2014b. Word segmentation and pronunciation extraction from phoneme sequences through cross-lingual word-to-phoneme alignment. *Computer Speech & Language* 234–261.
- —, TIM SCHLIPPE, SUE VOGEL, and TANJA SCHULTZ. 2012. Word segmentation through cross-lingual word-to-phoneme alignment. In *Spoken Language Technology Workshop (SLT)*, 2012, 85–90.
- STOLCKE, A., F. GREZL, MEI-YUH HWANG, XIN LEI, N. MORGAN, and D. VER-GYRI. 2006. Cross-domain and cross-language portability of acoustic features estimated by multilayer perceptrons. In 2006 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics Speed and Signal Processing Proceedings, volume 1, I-321-I-324.
- STRASSEL, STEPHANIE, and JENNIFER TRACEY. 2016. LORELEI language packs: data, tools, and resources for technology development in low resource languages. LREC 10–11.
- STÜKER, SEBASTIAN, LAURENT BESACIER, and ALEX WAIBEL. 2009. Human translations guided language discovery for ASR systems. In *INTERSPEECH*, 3023–3026.
- ——, KEVIN KILGOUR, and FLORIAN KRAFT. 2012. Quaero 2010 speech-to-text evaluation systems. In *High Performance Computing in Science and Engineering* '11, 607–618.
- -----, and ALEX WAIBEL. 2008. Towards human translations guided language discovery for ASR systems. In *SLTU*, 76–79.
- SU, JINSONG, ZHIXING TAN, DEYI XIONG, RONGRONG JI, XIAODONG SHI, and YANG LIU. 2016. Lattice-based recurrent neural network encoders for neural machine translation. ArXiv:1609.07730.

- SUN, WEIWEI. 2011. A stacked sub-word model for joint Chinese word segmentation and part-of-speech tagging. In *Proceedings of the 49th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*, 1385–1394.
- SUTSKEVER, ILYA, ORIOL VINYALS, and QUOC V LE. 2014. Sequence to sequence learning with neural networks. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 27, 3104–3112.
- TAKEZAWA, TOSHIYUKI, EIICHIRO SUMITA, FUMIAKI SUGAYA, HIROFUMI YA-MAMOTO, and SEIICHI YAMAMOTO. 2002. Toward a broad-coverage bilingual corpus for speech translation of travel conversations in the real world. In *LREC*, 147–152.
- TANG, HAO, LIANG LU, LINGPENG KONG, KEVIN GIMPEL, KAREN LIVESCU, CHRIS DYER, NOAH A SMITH, and STEVE RENALS. 2017. End-to-end neural segmental models for speech recognition. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in* Signal Processing 11.8.1254–1264.
- TEH, YEE WHYE. 2006. A hierarchical Bayesian language model based on Pitman-Yor processes. In Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on Computational Linguistics and the 44th annual meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, 985–992.
- THIEBERGER, NICK. 2016. Documentary linguistics: methodological challenges and innovatory responses. *Applied Linguistics* 37.88–99.
- THOMAS, SAMUEL, SRIRAM GANAPATHY, HYNEK HERMANSKY, and SPEECH PRO-CESSING. 2012. Multilingual MLP features for low-resource LVCSR systems. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2012 IEEE International Conference on, 4269–4272.
- ——, MICHAEL L SELTZER, KENNETH CHURCH, and HYNEK HERMANSKY. 2017. Deep neural network features and semi-supervised training for low-resource speech recognition. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 2013 IEEE International Conference on.
- TIEDEMANN, JÖRG. 2009. Character-based PSMT for closely related languages. Proceedings of 13th Annual Conference of the European Association for Machine Translation 9.12–19.
- TIETZ, MARIAN, TAYFUN ALPAY, JOHANNES TWIEFEL, and STEFAN WERMTER. 2017. Semi-supervised phoneme recognition with recurrent ladder networks. *ArXiv:1706.02124*.

- TOSHNIWAL, SHUBHAM, TARA N. SAINATH, RON J. WEISS, BO LI, PEDRO MORENO, EUGENE WEINSTEIN, and KANISHKA RAO. 2017. Multilingual speech recognition with a single end-to-end model. *ArXiv:1711.01694*.
- TÓTH, LÁSZLÓ, JOE FRANKEL, GÁBOR GOSZTOLYA, and SIMON KING. 2008. Crosslingual portability of MLP-based tandem features - A case study for english and Hungarian. Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association, INTERSPEECH 2695–2698.
- VARADARAJAN, BALAKRISHNAN, SANJEEV KHUDANPUR, and EMMANUEL DUPOUX. 2008. Unsupervised learning of acoustic sub-word units. In Proceedings of ACL-08: HLT, Short Papers, 165–168.
- VERWIMP, LYAN, JORIS PELEMANS, HUGO VAN HAMME, and PATRICK WAMBACQ. 2017. Character-word LSTM language models. *ArXiv:1704.02813*.
- VIDAL, ENRIQUE, FRANCISCO CASACUBERTA, LUIS RODRIGUEZ, JORGE CIVERA, and CARLOS D MARTÍNEZ HINAREJOS. 2006. Computer-assisted translation using speech recognition. Audio, Speech, and Language Processing, IEEE Transactions on 14.941–951.
- VIDAL, EXIRIQUE. 1997. Finite-state speech-to-speech translation. In Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, 1997. ICASSP-97., 1997 IEEE International Conference on, volume 1, 111–114.
- VILAR, DAVID, JAN-T PETER, and HERMANN NEY. 2007. Can we translate letters? In Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Statistical Machine Translation, 33–39.
- VOGEL, STEPHAN, HERMANN NEY, and CHRISTOPH TILLMANN. 1996. HMM-based word alignment in statistical translation. In *Proceedings of the 16th conference* on Computational linguistics-Volume 2, 836–841.
- VU, NGOC THANG, DAVID IMSENG, DANIEL POVEY, PETR MOTLICEK, TANJA SCHULTZ, and HERVÉ BOURLARD. 2014. Multilingual deep neural network based acoustic modeling for rapid language adaptation. In Proceedings of the 39th IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), 7639–7643.
- ——, FLORIAN METZE, and TANJA SCHULTZ. 2012. Multilingual bottle-neck features and its application for under-resourced languages. In *The third International Workshop on Spoken Language Technologies for Under-resourced languages*.
- VULIC, IVAN, and MARIE-FRANCINE MOENS. 2015. Bilingual word embeddings from non-parallel document-aligned data applied to bilingual lexicon induction. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics 719–725.

- VULIĆ, IVAN, ROY SCHWARTZ, ARI RAPPOPORT, ROI REICHART, and ANNA KO-RHONEN. 2016. Automatic selection of context configurations for improved (and fast) class-specific word representations. *ArXiv:1608.05528*.
- WANG, RUI, HAI ZHAO, SABINE PLOUX, BAO-LIANG LU, MASAO UTIYAMA, and EIICHIRO SUMITA. 2016. A novel bilingual word embedding method for lexical translation using bilingual sense clique. *ArXiv:1607.08692*.
- WANG, YINING, LONG ZHOU, JIAJUN ZHANG, and CHENGQING ZONG. 2017a. Word, subword or character? An empirical study of granularity in Chinese-English NMT. ArXiv:1711.04457.
- WANG, YISEN, XUEJIAO DENG, SONGBAI PU, and ZHIHENG HUANG. 2017b. Residual convolutional CTC networks for automatic speech recognition. ArXiv:1702.07793.
- WEISS, RON J., JAN CHOROWSKI, NAVDEEP JAITLY, YONGHUI WU, and ZHIFENG CHEN. 2017. Sequence-to-sequence models can directly transcribe foreign speech. *ArXiv:1703.08581*.
- WHEATLEY, BARBARA, 1996. CALLHOME Spanish Transcripts LDC96T17. Linguistic Data Consortium.
- WU, DEKAI. 1997. Stochastic inversion transduction grammars and bilingual parsing of parallel corpora. *Computational linguistics* 23.377–403.
- —, and XUANYIN XIA. 1994. Learning an English-Chinese lexicon from a parallel corpus. In *Proceedings of the First Conference of the Association for Machine Translation in the Americas*, 206–213.
- XIAO, MIN, and YUHONG GUO. 2014. Distributed word representation learning for cross-lingual dependency parsing. In *CoNLL*, 119–129.
- XU, HAIHUA, VAN HAI DO, XIONG XIAO, and ENG SIONG CHNG. 2015. A comparative study of BNF and DNN multilingual training on cross-lingual low-resource speech recognition. In *Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (INTERSPEECH)*, 2132–2136.
- —, HANG SU, CHONGJIA NI, XIONG XIAO, HAO HUANG, ENG-SIONG CHNG, and HAIZHOU LI. 2016. Semi-supervised and cross-lingual knowledge transfer learnings for DNN hybrid acoustic models under low-resource conditions. In Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association, (INTERSPEECH), 1315–1319.

- XU, JIA, JIANFENG GAO, KRISTINA TOUTANOVA, and HERMANN NEY. 2008. Bayesian semi-supervised Chinese word segmentation for statistical machine translation. In *Proceedings of the 22nd International Conference on Computational Linguistics-Volume 1*, 1017–1024.
- ——, RICHARD ZENS, and HERMANN NEY. 2004. Do we need Chinese word segmentation for statistical machine translation. In *Proceedings of the Third SIGHAN Workshop on Chinese Language Processing*, 257–264.
- XU, PING, and PASCALE FUNG. 2013. Cross-lingual language modeling for lowresource speech recognition. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing* 21.1134–1144.
- YAMADA, KENJI, and KEVIN KNIGHT. 2001. A syntax-based statistical translation model. In Proceedings of the 39th Annual Meeting on Association for Computational Linguistics - ACL '01, 523–530.
- YANG, ZHENHONG, LIBERTY A LIDZ, and OTHERS. 2009. An overview of the Mosuo language. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 32.1.
- YU, SEUNGHAK, NILESH KULKARNI, HAEJUN LEE, and JIHIE KIM. 2017. Syllablelevel neural language model for agglutinative language. ArXiv:1708.05515.
- ZAREMBA, WOJCIECH, ILYA SUTSKEVER, and ORIOL VINYALS. 2014. Recurrent neural network regularization. ArXiv:1409.2329.
- ZENKEL, THOMAS, RAMON SANABRIA, FLORIAN METZE, JAN NIEHUES, MATTHIAS SPERBER, SEBASTIAN STÜKER, and ALEX WAIBEL. 2017. Comparison of decoding strategies for CTC acoustic models. *ArXiv:1708.04469*.
- ZHANG, HAO, CHRIS QUIRK, ROBERT C MOORE, and DANIEL GILDEA. 2008. Bayesian learning of non-compositional phrases with synchronous parsing. In *ACL*, 97–105.
- ZHANG, JIAJUN, SHUJIE LIU, MU LI, MING ZHOU, and CHENGQING ZONG. 2014. Bilingually-constrained phrase embeddings for machine translation. In Proceedings of the 52nd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers), 111–121.
- ZHANG, YING, MOHAMMAD PEZESHKI, YOSHUA BENGIO, AARON COURVILLE, and Q C Hc. 2016a. Towards End-to-End Speech Recognition with Deep Convolutional Neural Networks. *ArXiv:1701.02720*.
- —, MOHAMMAD PEZESHKI, PHILÉMON BRAKEL, SAIZHENG ZHANG, CÉSAR LAU-RENT, YOSHUA BENGIO, and AARON COURVILLE. 2016b. Towards end-to-end speech recognition with deep convolutional neural networks. *ArXiv:1701.02720*.

- ZHANG, ZEWANG, ZHENG SUN, JIAQI LIU, JINGWEN CHEN, ZHAO HUO, and XIAO ZHANG. 2016c. Deep recurrent convolutional neural network: improving performance for speech recognition. ArXiv:1611.07174.
- ZOPH, BARRET, DENIZ YURET, JONATHAN MAY, and KEVIN KNIGHT. 2016. Transfer learning for low-resource neural machine translation. ArXiv:1604.02201.
- ZOU, WILL Y, RICHARD SOCHER, DANIEL CER, and CHRISTOPHER D MANNING. 2013. Bilingual word embeddings for phrase-based machine translation. In Proceedings of the 2013 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP 2013), 1393–1398.
- ZWARTS, SIMON, and MARK DRAS. 2007. Statistical machine translation of australian aboriginal languages: morphological analysis with languages of differing morphological richness. In *Proceedings of the Australasian Language Technology Workshop*, 134–142.
- ZWEIG, G., C. YU, J. DROPPO, and A. STOLCKE. 2016. Advances in all-neural speech recognition. *ArXiv:1609.05935*.
- ŘEHŮŘEK, RADIM, and PETR SOJKA. 2010. Software framework for topic modelling with large corpora. In *Proceedings of the LREC 2010 Workshop on New Challenges for NLP Frameworks*, 45–50.